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Acquisitions, finalized. Distribution agreements, signed.
Development plans, adjusted. 2006 represented the culmmohon of
building|a more diversified, viable and sustainable busmess delivering
proprietary technologles products and services to the cordlcc surgery
market. PreC|se|y, we've established a truly outstanding porh‘ollo across
three distinct market segments — heart valve therapy, surglcal cardiac
ablation, autoiransfusion — representing $1.4 billion in market opportunity.
It's a feat that's not at all coincidental considering that m|55|on market

|
and message are in singular alignment.

Relmmduung |asge lipid
microemboli (fu!icells) during auto-
transfusion can Ieud to a stoke. That issue
;. may become much smuller with PARSUS fitration .
technology. Part of g S] 50 million potential
market, PARSUS s an schedule fo meet key
development mllest}mes for its anticipoted
intraduction in 2008.

The number of petients with
atril fibrillation (AF) is skyrocketing.
The $100 million surgical cardiac oblation
masket for the ireatment of cardiae arhythmias,
expected fo raach $400 million, is one of the
fastest grawing areas. The SurgiFrost®
(ryeablafion System is quickly becoming the
modality of choice in this segment.

The heurl valve therapy
market is a Sl .2 billion market that
includes mechu'nlcul heart valves, tissue heart
valves ond repuu pmduds ATS Medical is wel
- represented wnhlleudmg—edge offerings from.the
ATS Open P Pnfm9 Heart Valve to the ATS 3f®
Aortic B:opro‘rhess 1o the ATS Simulus™
Annu!rllplusty mwoduct Ilne




2006, THE FINER POINTS

Michael D. Dale
President, Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board

As the number of patients with structural heart disease continues to rise, the 2000 cardiac surgeons
worldwide who treat them play an increasingly vital role. Arming those surgeons with standard-
sefting technology has always been the basis of our deliberate objective to deliver exceptional
value to stakeholders. Towards that aim, 2006 represents a year of significant progress. Several
key developments in the past year, in fact, mark the successful completion of our strategic alignment
in three distinct operationally synergistic segments, which more than exceed our goal of building
a highly innovafive and diversified cardiac surgery franchise. What remains — a series of industry-
changing product introductions and extensions in heart valve therapy, surgical cardiac ablation
and autotransfusion. Highlights of 2006 are as follow.

Solid growth and diversification. Company revenues increased 16.8% in 2006 to $40.4
million. Gross profit also improved to 51.6%, up from 34.1% in 2005. Revenue from the
mechanical heart valve segment remained on the rise — up 6.4% to $33.1 million worldwide.
It is worthy to note that the ATS Open Pivot® Heart Valve remains the only mechanical valve
gaining share. lts worldwide procedure market share is now estimated at 15%. But what is truly
encouraging are the revenue and increased sales derived from products outside of our core
mechanical heart valve business, 18% of total revenue in 2006.

Acquisition of 3f Therapeutics® highlights genuinely innovative portfolio. During the year,
we met our objective to establish offerings in the rapidly growing tissue and valve repair segments
of the heart valve therapy market. The acquisition of 3f Therapeutics is of iremendous significance
as this revolutionary tissue valve plotform adds @ whole new dimension to the company and
allows us to envision far greater growth than previously possible. More succincetly, the addition
of the ATS 3f® Aortic Bioprosthesis increases our addressable market opportunity by nearly $700
million. The valve, which mimics the formation of the native aortic valve as it develops in uviero,
holds terrific potential as confirmed by intense anticipation for the product among cardiac
surgeons. Our introduction of the ATS Simulus™ Annuloplasty product line has more than met
surgeon expectations and positioned us well in the $130 million mitral and tricuspid valve repair
market segment. And the SurgiFrost® Cryoablation System continues its impressive adoption as
the safest, most effective surgical treatment for cardiac arrhythmias — one of the hottest areas
in cardiac surgery.

Milestones moving forward. 2007 will be a year when we assimilate all of our recent business
development activities into a well-defined business entity and continue to execute our longterm
growth sirategy. Look forward to the U.S. launch of the ATS 3f Aortic Biosprosthesis and the ATS
Open Pivof® AP360™ Heart Valve, the worldwide introduction of SurgiFrost® XL Probe and the
ATS Simulus™ Semi-rigid Ring/Band along with several key development milestones.

The ducks are in a row. It's time for the real excitement to begin.
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' PARTI 3 S RN

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

OVERVIEW 7
ATS Medical, Inc. (hereinafter the “Company * CATS,” “we,” “us,” or ”) is a anesota ‘corporanon
established in 1987. Our common shares are traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol ATSI

We develop, manufacture, and market medical devices primarily for use by cardiovascular or cardlothoraclc
surgeons durmg cardiac surgery Qur core mission is to create a company with a diversified product portfoho
focused e)rcluswely on the cardiac s surgeon. "Qur objectives are to establish ATS mechanical and tissue heart valves
as the standard of care for patients requmng heart valve replacement and to selectively add new products prlmanly
through acquisitions and strategic product development or distribution agreements.

Sales of our mechanical heart valves represented approximately 82% of our sales in 2006, 90% of our sales in 2005
and 100% of our.sales in 2004. Our mechanical bileaflet heart valve has‘a’unique open pivot 'deSIgn Our valve'is
used to 'treat heart valve disease caused by the niatural aging process, theumatic heart disease; prosthetlc valve
failure and congenital defects. ‘Mechanical heart valves have been in use since the early 1960s. According to
Millenium Research Group 2006, the worldw1de market for mechanical heart valves exceeds $347 million,
representing approximately 30% of the worldwide heart valve market. In thé United States, the mechanical heart
valve market approximates $95 million. The current total worldwide heart valve market approx1mates $1.2 billion;
including tissue heart valves and heart valve repair. i

On September 29, 2006, we acquired 3F Therapeutics, Inc. (“3F”), an early stage medwal dev1ce company with a
portfoho of tissue heart valves. 3F’s tissue technologles are at the forefront of the emerging field ‘of mlmmally
invasive beatmg heart tissue valve replacement. The acquisition of 3F is viewed as a major step in executlng our
longstanding vision of obtaining a leadership position in all segments of the cardlac surgery market We expect to
commence sales of the first generation of 3F products in selected international markets in 2007 B

The ATS Open Pivot® Heart Valve (*ATS Open P:vot”) was designed to be an evolutlonary lmprovement upon
other ‘available mechanical heart valves by incorporating a pivot cons1st1ng of protrudmg spheres upon which the
leaﬂets of the valve pivot to open and close. This unique open pivot was designed to eliminate the cavity created by
the p1vot of othet bileaflet valves and to improve blood flow through the valve while mln1m1z1ng the potential for
clot formatlon We began selling the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve in international markets i in 1992. In October
2000, we réceived FDA approval to sell the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve in the’ United States." "More than 140 000
of our ATS Open Pivot Heart Valves have been implanted in patients worldwide since its mtroductlon !

CarboMed1cs Inc., (“CarboMedics,” f/k/a Sulzer CarboMed1cs) developed the basic des1gn from which the ATS
Open Pivdt Heart Valve evolved. CarboMedics is a large and experienced manufacturer of pyrolytic carbon
components used in mechanical heart valves. CarboMedics has also designed and patented nimerous mechanical
valves. CdarboMedics offered to license a patentéd and pamally developed valve to us if we ‘would complete the
development of the valve and agree to_purchase carbon components from CarboMedics. * We hold an exclusive,
royalty- frée, worldwide license to an open pivot, bileaflet mechanical heart valve design from whlch the ATS Open
Pivot Heart Valve has evolved. In addition, we have an exclusive, worldwide right and license to use CarboMedics'
pyrolytic ¢arbon technology to manufacture components for the ATS Open Pivot Heart’ ‘Valve, and a non-exélusive
worldwide: right and license to use the technology to produce pyrolytic carbon components for other devices and
manufacturers, including, after 2008, other heart valve manufacturers. We are currently engaged in litigation with
CarboMedlcs regarding the disposition of a long standing carbon supply agreement with them. The litigation is
described in more ‘detail under Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.” The supply agreement is discussed in more detail
under “Our Markets and Products - Prosthetic Heart Valve Market - Relationship with CarboMedics” below.

In order to pursue our mission to create a diversified cardiac surgery-focused company, we have entered into several
agreements, commencing in 2004, for the development, marketing and distribution of additional cardiac surgery-
related medical devices and services. The marketing and sales of these products leverage both our sales and
marketing infrastructure and broaden our relationships with cardiac surgeons. Sales from these new products have
grown to [8% of our total revenue in 2006, up from 10% of our total revenue in 2005. We had no revenue from
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these new products in 2004. These new product .additions to our portfolio include products for the surgical
treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, allografi tissue for cardiovascular procedures, valve repair products and surgical
accessories. Our acquisition of 3F in 2006 provides us with access to its portfolio of tissue heart valves.

Surgical Atrial Fibrillation Cardiac Ablation market: In November 2004, we completed a global partnership
agreement with CryoCath Technologies, Inc. (“CryoCath”) to market CryoCath’s surgical cryotherapy products for
the ablation of cardiac arrhythmias, The agreement with CryoCath resulted in revenues for ATS commencing in the
first quarter ot' 2005. The ablation market within cardiac surgery is currently estimated to total approximately $100
million and is growmg at over 38% annually, according to Health Research International 2007.

Heart Valve Repair market: In June 2005, we entered into an exclusive development, supply and distribution
agreement with Genesee BloMedwal Inc (“GBI”) under which GBI develops, manufactures and supp]ies cardiac
surgical, products mcludmg valve repair products and accessories, and we have the exclusive worldwide rights to
market and sell these products Sales of these products commenced in the first quarter of 2006. The repair segment
of heart valve therapy totals $132 million and is growing at a rate of approxnmately 6% per year, according to
Millenium Research Group 2006.

Surgrcal Accessones During 2005 we entered into an agreement to market a new, proprletary line of mrmmally
invasive cardrac surgery tools for application in robotic heart valve surgery. In connection with thrs agreement we
introduced our ATS Medical® Thoracic Port System in the third quarter of 2005. During 2006, we entered into a
distribution agreement with Novare Surglcal Systems Inc. (“Novare”) under which we obtained the exclusive
dlstnbutlon rights to Novare’s Enclose ‘Anastomosis Assist device, a product designed to simplify the surgrcal
process of attaching a coronary bypass graft to the aorta during coronary ‘bypass surgery. We recognized our first
sales of the Enclose product in the fourth quarter of 2006, _ , N

Cardiac Surgery Blood Filtration market: We are also engaged in the development of a new patented technology,
Particle Separatron by Ultrasound (PARSUS) for auto-transfusion during cardiac surgery. In April 2004 we signed
an agreement wrth ErySave AB (“ErySave”), a Swedish research firm, for exclusive worldwide rights'to ErySaves .
PARSUS filtration technology for cardiac surgery procedures We have not recognized any revenues related to this
development project nor do we expect revenues from our PARSUS technology during 2007.

Tissue Heart Valve market: The first generation of 3F tissue valves, the ATS 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis™, has
received CE Mark and is avarlable for sale in certain international jurisdictions. We anticipate a commercial launch
of the, ATS 3F Aortic Bloprosthesrs in international markets in the. first half of 2007 and, subject to FDA approval
of our pre- market approval application, in the United States during the fourth quarter of 2007. Our next generatlon
tissue valves the Enable and Entrata Valves are intended to reduce (Enable) and eliminate (Entrata) the time a
patient undergomg heart valve replacement is on a heart and lung bypass machine. The Enable and Entrata valves
are currently undergomg cl1n1cal and prechmca] evaluanons respectively.

Cardiovascular Allogmﬁ Tissue Valve market: In June 2005, we entered into a marketing services agreement with
Regeneration Technolog1es Inc. - Cardlovascular (“RTI-CV,” a/k/a Alabama Tissue Center), a subsidiary of
Regeneration Technolog1es Inc. . Under the terms of this agreement, we are marketmg and servicing RTI——CV
processed cardiovascular allograﬁ tissue. First sales of this product commenced in the third quarter of 2005.
January 2007 our rnarketmg services agreement with RTI was amended as a result of RTD’s sale of their card1ac
tissue 'processing . business. "The amended agreement prowdes for ‘a reduction in the performance criteria, an
increase in commission rates, a minimum annual commission amount, and reduces the term of the agreement by 6
months to December 31 2007

BUSINESS STRATEGY =~ L
The key co_mponents of our business strategy to ;create a proﬁtahle,‘ditrersiﬁed, cardiac surgery—focusedicompany
include: - _ - ) L 4

e [Increase market share of our core product, the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve. '

e _.Broaden our relationships with cardiac surgeons by selectively adding new medical devices to our

product por{foho ‘ o
.+ &, Leverage our investments in our marketing and sales: mﬁastrucrure N \
s Lower our cost of goods sold. L R e . N




OUR MARKETS AND PRODUCTS L .
. R : W
Prosthetic Heart Valve Market -

Overview

: 1 . o
There are two types of replacement heart valves: tissue and mechamcal Tissue valves are made from animal or
cadaver tizsue or, in some cases, the patient's own tissue. While tissue valves have a lower le_vel of risk for blood
clotting around the valve compared with mechanical valves, they also have limited durability, due to calcification
and deterioration. If a tissue valve fails, a new valve must be implanted, requiring another open heart surgery.
A L.‘
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Mechamcal valves are made from durable materrals such as metals and carbon. , In-vitro testmg of current pyrolytic
carbon mechanical valves has yielded ‘estimated useful lives in excess of any patient's lifetime. Mechanical valves
currently require the use of anti-coagulants to prevent formation of blood clots; tissue valves generatly do not
require anti-coagulant treatment.

In gene'ral rtissue valves are prescribed for oatients who are less able to tolerate anti-coagulants due to conditions
such as gdstromtestmal ulcers or liver dysfunction, elderly patients, and women in their chrldbeanng years. The
choice of valve type is based on several factors such as life expectancy, medlcal conditions, and patlent preference.

Cardrac surgeons choose a pamcular type of mechanlcal valve based on a number of factors. A prlnmpal factor in
the choice of a valve i is the potential for formmg biood clots, or thrombus, resulting from areas in the valve where
the blood can stagnate. Blood clots can impair the performance of a valve and, if the clot detaches and moves
through the bloodstream (an embolism), result in an arterial blockage or stroke. Another principal factor in the
choice of a mechanical valve is the .blood flow efficiency, or hemodynamics, of the valve. A mechanical valve
should allow blood to flow easrly through the valve with minimal pressure required to open the valve and minimal
backflow of blood when the valve closes. The valve also should not exert force on the blood that could damage the
fragile blood cells. Other factors that are important in a surgeon's choice of a mechanical valve are the ease in
implanting and monitoring the valve's performance, the patient's quality of life and the physrclan s familiarity with
and confidence in the valve.

In addition to cardiac surgeons, administrators or business managers at hospitals and clinics have become
increasingly influential in the purchase decision-making process in recent years. The increasing emphasis on
medical cost containment in most world markets has elevated the decrslon-makmg power of the administrator. The
adm,m‘lstrator tends to focus on cost:effectlveness and, in some markets, primarily on the cost of the valve.

'

, . .
Our ATS Open Pivot Hearjf Valve Product,

Our produict was designed to irllbrove upon existing mechanical heart valves by combining a pr"oi)rietary open pivot
design and other innovative features with the widely accepted biocompatibility and durability of 'pyrolytic carbon.
The standard ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is available in seven sizes ranging from 19mm to 31mm in diameter,
with sewing cuffs for, either aortic valve, .or mitral vatve replacement. In 1994, we introduced the Advanced
Performance series of the ATS Open Pivot' Heart Valve in international markets. This valve is available in seven
sizes ranging from 16mm to 28mm in diameter. Our 16mm valve is currently the worlds smallest commercrally
avarlable mechanical valve, although not all valve sizes are available in all geographies. _

r
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The major design features of,thé ATS Qpen Plvot Heart Valve are: ' .

¢ Open Pivot Areas - The proprietary open pivot areas of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve feature
spherical protrusions from the orifice that match spherical notches in the leaflets. The pivot areas
protrude into the orifice and are exposed to the washing action of the blood flowing through the heart
valve. All'other currently marketed bileaflet valves contain prvot cavities in the orifice wall into which
protrusmns from the semi-circular leaflets extend to allow the leaflets to open and close. The open
pivot design also features angled inflow and outflow pivot stops.

¢« A Thin But Durable O'rlﬁee The orifice of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is manufactured using
a mandrel that is coated with pyrolytic carbon. The mandrel is then removed, leaving a solid pyrolytic
carbon orifice. Some competitive products use an orifice composed of a soft graphite substrate coated
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with pyrolytic carbon. By eliminating the graphite substrate, we have made the orifice wall thiriner,
resulting in a larger average inside diameter. The orifice is surrounded by a titanium strengthening
band that eliminates orifice distortion and potential leaflet escape or impingement and can'be rotated.

Low Profile Design - The ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve has a low profile design. The profile of a
mechanical heart valve refers to the extension of the orifice and leaflets above and below the natural
tissue annulus, or location of the natural heart valve. The inflow side of the orifice of the 'ATS Open
Pivot Heart Valve is flat, unlike the most widely used cavrty pivot valve that has upstream protrusmns
on the orifice to house the cavity.

An Advanced Sewing Cuff — The sewing cuff surrounding the orifice of the ATS Open Pivot Heart
Valve is made of double velour polyester and includes a surgical felt ring for ease of sewing. The
Advanced Performance series offers an alternative sewing cuff design that allows a valve with'a larger
inside diameter to be used, which is particularly helpful in the small aottic root.

Pyrolytic Carbon - Pyrolytic carbon has been used in mechanical heart valves for more than 25 years.
The orifice of our heart valve is fabricated entirely from pyrolytic carbon, while the leaflets are
fabricated by coating pyrolytic carbon on graphite substrates. Pyrolytic carbon used in' other
mechanical valves has been tesled to function longer than any patient's lifetime. Pyrolytic carbon is
believed to be superior to metal and plastics in terms of the human body's acceptance of the material,
thus resulting in lower rates of thrombosis and thromboembolism compa'red with other materials. Due
to its durability and biocompatibility, pyrolytic carbon 1s used in virtually every mecharucal heart
valve on the market. :

Two Leaflets - Bileaflet valve designs are found in substantially all mechanical heart valves bemg
marketed today. The leaflets in the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve have tungsten 1mpregnated in the
substrate to make them visible under X-ray.

The ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is designed to provide the following five, primary advahtages over other currently
available mechanical heart valves:

Low Rates of Thromboeembolic Complications - The pivot cavities found in other bileaflet heart
valves are areas of blood flow stagnation and possible blood clot formation. ‘By eliminating the
.CaVltleS in the orifice and placing the pivot areas within the normal blood flow, the improved washing
action in the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is intended to lower the likelihood of blood clot formation
and the resulting incidence of thromboembolism. The open pivot design as well as the angled inflow
and outflow pivot stops also result in low levels of hemolysis (damage to blood cells), which may
contribute to a low rate of thromboembolic comphcatlons and allow for modlﬁed anucoagulatron
regimens.

Improved Patient Quality of Life Through Lower Noise Leve!s - Patients lmplanted with other
mechanical heart valves complain of disturbances resulting from the clicking sound created as the
" valve closes. These disturbances range from irritability and insofmnia to paranoia and depression.
Spouses of patients with competitive mechanical heart valves also report disturbances resulting from
the noise of the valve. Based on peet reviewed publications and informal surveys, we believe that the
ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is quieter than other valves and below the threshold of hearing of many
patients. We believe that the reduced noise level of our product further i improves the quality of life of
the patlent

Improved Blood Flow Efficiencies - We have made the orifice of our product durable and thin,
resulting in a large inside diameter. The large inside diameter of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is
intended to produce lower pressure gradients. The term "gradlents" refers to the pressure difference
between the inflow and outflow side of the valve needed to support the required blood flow through
the valves. The ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is also designed to have low regurgitation, or backflow
of blood when the valve is closed, due to the geometry of its angled inflow and outflow pivot stops
that minimize the direct leakage paths. These design characteristics are mtended to result in superior
blood flow efficiencies that reduce the workload on the heart




s Ease of Implant - Our product was designed for ease of use by the cardiac surgeoti. The low profile

of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve is intended to minimize implant complications. Leaflets that

»  extend significantly below the natural tissue annulus in the mitral position may obstruct blood outflow

or interfere with the septum or other parts of the heart. Protrusions on the inflow side of the annulus in

the aortic position may snag sutures used to attach the mechanical valve to the heart. In addition,

because the orifice can be rotated, the surgeon can optimize valve orientation by adjusting the position

of the leaflets after the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve has been sutured in the natural anatomical

position in the patient's heart. Suturing the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve into the heart is made easier

by redicing the number of layers of polyester material in the aortic and mitral cuffs and by ‘adding the

surgical felt ring in the sewing cuff, thereby easing the passage of the suture needle through the sewing

: cuff. The packaging and accessories of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve also are designed to facilitate

s the implant procedure by including all of the required items pre-assembled ina stenllzed dual barrier
' container,

¢ Improved Follow-Up Diagnostic Capability - Our product facilitates the follow-up diagnostic

" precess by being more easily visible to x-rays. The titanium strengthening band provides a clear image
on x-rays when taken from any angle. The leaflets also have a high density of tungsten impregnated in
the substrate, making them more visible to x-rays.

Rg'latianskip with CarboMedics

CarboMedics developed the basic design from which the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve evolved. CarboMedics is a
large and experienced manufacturer of pyrolytic carbon components used in mechanical heart valves. CarboMedics
has also designed and patented numerous mechanical valves. We have entered into three agreements with
CarboMedics: a license agreement and a long-term carbon supply agreement entered into in September 1990, and a
carbon technology agreement entered into in December 1999,

Under the terms of the license agreement with CarboMedics, we hold an exclusive, royalty-free, worldwide license
to an open pivot, bileaflet mechanical heart valve design from which the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve has evolved.
The license agreement does not include the right to manufacture the pyrolytic carbon components of the ATS Open
Pivot Heart Valve, except if CarboMedics were unable to produce the compbnents. In that case, we would have the
right and license to make the components or have them made for us. There currently is not a third party that can
ptdduce the pyrolytic carbon components for the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve. Afier making certain design
changes in the valve, we finalized the désign of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve and filed and received our own
U'S. patent covering the ‘design of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve. The design modlﬁcauons and the resuliing
U S. pateni covering the new design are the exclusive property of ATS. : .

-In connection with the execution of the license agreement, we were also required to enter into a long-term supply
agreement with CarboMedics under which we acquired a large inventory of pyrolytic carbon components for the
ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve., In June 2002, the supply agreement was amended to suspend our purchase
obligations for the remainder of 2002 (with the exception of approximately eight weeks of work in process) along
with -100% of our purchase obligations for 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006. The 2002 through-2006 purchase
obligations were scheduled to resume, beginning in 2007. In January 2007, CarboMedics served a complaint on us,
seeking to enforce the contractual purchase obligations and monetary damages This litigation is described in detail
at Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.” . .

In’ December 1999, we entered into a carbon technology agreement with CarboMedics under which we obtained an
exclusive, worldwide right and license to use CarboMedics' pyrolytic carbon technology to manufacture
components for the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve, and a non-exclusive worldwide right and license to use the
technology to produce pyrolytic carbon components for other devices and manufacturers, including, after 2008, for
other heart valve manufacturers. Under-the agreement, CarboMedics also agreed to assist us in designing, building,
equipping, qualifying and commencing operations in a pyrolytic carbon component production facility in
Minneapolis, Minnesota. In return, we agreed to pay CarboMedics a license fee totaling $41 million. We were also .
obligated under the carbon technology agreement to pay all of the costs of establishing the new carbon-production
facility, including hourly fees and out-of-pocket expenses of the CarboMedics employées assigned to assist'us in
setting up the facility. In August 2003; we satisfied all of our payment obligations under the carbon technology
‘Agreement. ' : : I : '




Our Tissue Heart Valves

In September 2006, we acquired 3F, a medical device company based in. Lake Forest, California. 3F is an early
stage medical device company at the forefront of the emerging field of less invasive and minimally invasive beating
heart tissue valve replacement. We view the acquisition of 3F as a major step in executing our longstanding vision
of obtaining a leadership position in all segments of the cardiac surgery market. There are three principal products
in our tissue heart valve portfolio:

ATS 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis. We have completed the development of our first generation product, the ATS 3F
Aortic Bioprosthesis. The ATS 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis, a biological replacement aortic heart valve, has received a
CE Mark and is available for commercial'release in Europe and other foreign countries. This is the only replacement
heart valve that;has the ability to be collapsed for implantation without suffering damage while also maintaining
excellent dynamic flow characteristics after implant. Over 400 implantations of this device have been successfully
conducted in Europe and the United States under regulated protocols governing human use. The initial results have
shown properties that compare favorably with both mechanical and biological valves presently in the market. 3F
submitted the final clinical module of its premarket approval application to the FDA for the ATS 3F Aortic
Bioprosthesis during the third quarter of 2006.

Minimally Invasive and Off-Pump Aortic Heart Valve Replacement Technology. We believe that substantial
growth in the future within the heart valve industry will be the result of the introduction of minimally invasive and
off-pump products. To address this future demand, we are currently developing various minimally invasive and off-
pump aortic valve concepts. Our first product in this exciting arena is the Enable Aortic Heart Valve™, which is
intended to reduce surgical cross-clamp and cardio-pulmonary bypass time. The Enable Aortic Heart Valve is
presently in clinical studies outside the United States. We are also developing an off-pump aortic valve, the Entrata
Aortic Valve System™, using technology and intellectual property licensed from Edwards Lifesciences. .

Surgical Cardiac Ablation Market

Overview

Atrial fibrillation (“AF”) has become the mest common complication of cardiovascular surgery. AF is electrical
activity in the atrium that is uncoordinated and chaotic. During AF, the atrium begins to quiver in a rapid and

chaotic fashion as a result of the electrical impulses. This resulting chaotic quivering can lead to deterioration of the -

atrial mechanical activity whereby blood is not fully expelled from the atrium to the ventricle and begins to pool
The pooled blood can coagulate and form clots. These clots can move, become lodged in critical areas, restrict
blood flow, and potentially cause a stroke. In addition, if left untreated, AF can lead to atrial remodelmg,
contributing to congestive heart failure.

. L
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Cryotherapy involves the use of extremely cold temperatures to kill or ablate specific tissues whileJleaving

underlying connective tissues largely unaffected. In AF, this enables the surgeon to encircle the pulmonary veins
with lines of scar tissue to block transmission of erratic electrical signals that trigger AF. Cryotherapy also offers
two advantages when compared to the more prevalent heat-based therapies because freezing preserves tissue
integrity and minimizes the risk of endocardial thrombus associated with heat-based energy sources. . |

Our CryoCath Surgical Cryotherapy Products : ‘ .

We market and sell surgical cryotherapy products for the ablation of cardiac arrhythmias through our partnership
with CryoCath. We currently market and sell three CryoCath products, including SurgiFrost 6, SurgiFrost 10 and
FrostByte, which are single-use probes for freezing tissue in seconds. These probes are very malleable to conform
to an individual’s anatomy. To date, the cryotherapy products we have sold have been focused on open chest
surgical procedures performed concomitantly with other cardiac surgery procedures. ot

i e .. -

_ Pursuant, to this partnership, entered into in:November 2004, we have been granted co-promotion rights in the .

United States, earning an agency commission on sales to accounts as specified in the partnership agreement, and
distribution rights in the rest of the world. We started marketing and selling this technology in the United States in
the first quarter of 2005 and in markets outside of the United States in the second quarter of 2005. During 2007 .we
expect to launch a new product, the SurgiFrost XL, which will provide us with an entrance into the market for
stand-alone surgical treatment of AF.




Heart Valve Repair Market ‘ : s v
Overview:

Depending on the type and severity of somecne's heart valve- disease, it is sometimes-preferable to fepair their
damaged valve ‘as opposed to complete removal and replacement with either a mechanical or a tissue heart valve.
The worldwide market for heart valve repair is estimated at $125 million and growing approxlmately 6% per year,
according to Millénium Research Group 2006 :

H PRI S '

Our Heart Valve Repmr Produc!s 3 d

We commenced development and manufacturing of a line of cardiac surgical products in 2005 pursuant to our
exclusive worldwide development, supply and distribution agreement with GBI. In February 2006, we began to
market and sell these products, including annuloplasty repair rings, c-rings and accessories. Our partnership with
GBI prowdes us with access to a portfolio of patents, intellectual property and important manufacturmg and product
development experience specific to heart valve repair and the related tools and accessories for entry into this
segment of the heart valve therapy market.

R e -'u - . V- . 1z g

Cardiae Surgery Blood Filtration Market o oo :

B . . ' . .- T .

Overview P e ’ : : ¢

We are cwrrently developing bloed filtration technology for potential use by patients requiring cardiac surgery
procedures, including heart valve repair or replacement and coronary artery bypass. The objective of our PARSUS
filtration technology is to enable highly effective filtering by using ultrasound waves to suspend particles that
become: mixed in the blood during cardiac surgery: procedures. We believe that PARSUS, if successfully
developed, will enable.a surgeon to re-infuse/autotransfuse a patient’s lost blood in a safer and more efficient
manner ‘and avoid the complications commonly associated- with currently available autotransfusxon products or
thlrd-party blood transfusions. - :
b 1 " " I
Our Cardmc Surgery B!ood F dmmon Technologv *
In April 2004 we signed an agreement with ErySave for exclusive worldwide rights to ErySave s PARSUS filtration
technology for cardiac surgery procedures. - We are currently in the development phase with.this technology. To
date we have had no revenues from thlS technology and do-not expect to have any revenues from this technology in
2007" . . o
Cardmvasr.ular Allograft Market _
¥ B - - ' L 1 . ’ F
Overview
Co Cn I o ' "
When considering a surgical procedure for tissue repair, cardiovascular surgeons can choose from several different
treatment options including xenograft (animal) tissue, autograft (harvested from another site on the patient’s body}
tissue or allograft (from a deceased human donor) tissue. .

Our Cardiovascular Allograft Products o ’
- !n A : 4
Commencing in the third quarter of 2005, we began marketing and servicing cardlovascular allograft tissue,
including heart valve and vascular allograft tissue, to doctors, hospitals, and clinics throughout North America
through our, exclusive marketmg servrces agreement with RTI-CV. Our marketing services agreement with RTI cv

w1ll terminate at the end of 2007. -
il 1




MARKETING, SALES AND DISTRIBUTION . . .
Overview

A key component of our business strategy is.to leverage the investments we have made in our marketing, sales and
distribution resources through higher sales of our ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve, and through the sales of additional
products, which we began selling in 2005. We have been steadily building both our domestic and international
sales and marketing infrastructure. Because sales prices in the United States exceed selling prices in most other
markets, we believe that our future success will, in large measure, depend on achieving increased market share and
leveraging our sales force through the introduction of new products in the United States. Our U.S. sales have
grown to 39% of overall sales in 2006, up from 38% in 2005, and 33% in 2004. In 2000, U.S. sales represented 4%
of overall sales. Sales to one independent distributor represented more than 10% of our net sales in 2006. See Note
15 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Item 8 of this Report for more information regarding our
sales to customers. . K . '

“
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U.S. Marketing and Sales
Our sales organization in the United States consists of five area directors managing multiple sales territories. The
number of sales territories has steadily increased since early 2003 and currently totals 26 sales territories. Qur
representation within these territories consists of both direct sales representatives and independent agents. We focus
our sales and marketing efforts on increasing awareness of our products in the approximately 950 U.S. open-heart
centers.

International Marketing, Sales and Distribution . _ . Lo e,

N * '3
During 2006, we opened an administrative office in Austria, which we plan to use as the European support center
for our current and future direct selling operations in Europe. We have direct sales organizations in France (since
2003), Germany {since 2005), and the United Kingdom (since 2006) and a direct marketing organization in China
(since 2004). In France, Germany and the United Kingdom, we maintain consignment inventories at in-country
hospitals. In addition to our direct sales organizations in France, Germany, the United Kingdom and China, we sell
through an independent distribution network in other markets throughout the world. We believe that our distribution
partners have provided a rapid and cost efficient means of increasing market penetration and commercial acceptance
of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve in key international markets. We have been able to attract experienced
mechanica! valve sales organizations and people familiar with local markets and customs to serve as our
representatives. Each of our independent distributors has the exclusive right to sell the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve
within a defined territory. These distributors, in some instances, also market other medical products, although they
have agreed not to sell other mechanical heart valves. Under most of the distributor agreements, we may, at our
option, terminate the agreement upon the departure of certain key employees of the distributor, if we experience a
change in control or if key performance criteria, including sales quotas, are not met. We sell the ATS Open Pivot
Heart Valve to each distributor F.Q.B. Minneapolis, Minnesota. Sales to international distributors are denominated
in U.S. dollars. One independent distributor accounted for more than 10% of our gross sales in 2006. See Note 15
of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in Item 8 of this Report for information on our net sales by
geographic region. Net sales both inside and outside the United States are also discussed in ltem 7 of this Form 10+
K. :

Our sales, marketing and customer service personnel provide professional sales, marketing and promotional support

to our independent distributors.
\

COMPETIT[ON : _' -

The prosthetlc heart valve market is hlghly competitive with St. Jude Medical, Inc. as the mechanical valve market
share leader and Edwards Lifesciences as the tissue valve market leader. Other companies that sell mechanical
valves include Medtronic, Inc., CarboMedics, Sorin Biomedica sPa (only outside the United States), and Medical
Carbon Research, Inc. St. Jude Medical, Medtronic, Edwards Lifesciences, Sorin Biomedica and CryoLife sell
tissue valves.

We are aware of several companies that are developing new prosthetic heart valves. Several companies are
developing and testing new autologous (created from the patient's own tissue) valves, potentially more durable
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tissue valves and new bileaflet and trileaflet mechanical designs. Advancements also are being made in surgical
procedures such as mitral valve reconstruction, whereby the natural mitral valve is repaired, delaying the need for a
replacement valve. Other companies are pursuing biocompatible coatings to be applied to mechanical valves in an
effort to reduce the incidence of thromboembolic events and to treat tissue valves to forestall or eliminate calcific
degeneration in these valves. Competition within the prosthetic heart valve market is based on, among other things,

clinical performance record, minimizing complications, ease-of-use for the surgeon, patient comfort and quality of
life and cost effectiveness. ) iy . .

‘o - P , 1 . .

We believe that the most important factors in a heart surgeon's selection .of a particular prosthetic valve are the
perceived benefits of the valve and the heart surgeon's confidence in the valve design. As a result, valves that have
developed a favorable clinical performance record have a significant marketing advantage over new. valves. In
addition, negative publicity resulting from isolated incidents can have a significant negative effect on a valve's
overall acceptance. Our success is dependent upon-the surgeon's willingness to use a new prosthetic heart valve as
well as the future clinical performance of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve and the ATS 3F tissue heart valves
compared with the more established competition. ' . . ' .

"
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Competition in the medical device industry is intense and is characterized by extensive research efforts and rapid
technological progress. We believe that the primary competitive factors include quality, technical capability,
innovation, distribution capabilities, and price. Many of our competitors in the heart valve market have greater
resources, more widely accepted products, greater technical capabilities and.stronger name recognition than we do.
Our competitive capability is affected by our ability to support our products, ensure regulatory compliance for our
products, protect the proprietary technology of our products and their manufacturing processes, effectively market
our products, and maintain and establish distribution relationships. In order to maintain these capabilities ATS must
continuously attract and retain skilled and dedicated employees and develop and maintain excellent relationships
with physicians and suppliers..

We believe that mechanical heart valves are currently being marketed to hospitals at.prices that vary significantly
from! country to country due to market- conditions, currency. valuations, distributor mark-ups and government
regulations. In many markets, government agencies are imposing or proposing price controls or restrictions on
medical products. We work with our independent distributors to price the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve in each
market to meet these limitations. In addition, our primary competitors have the ability, due to economies of scale, to
manufacture their valves at a lower cost than we can currently manufacture the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve, The
* market leader has occasionally used price as a method to compete in several markets.

The surgical ablation of cardiac arrhythmias is highly competitive. Other companies that market products for the
treatment of cardiac arrhythmias are Medtronic, Guidant, and Atricure.

+
|

The cardigvascular allograft market is supply constrained dependent upon amount of donor tissue available. Other
companies marketing in the cardiovascular allograft market include CryoLife, Lifenet, and Northwest Tissue
Service Center. R Co .

MANUFACTURING AND SUPPLY

Our mechanical heart valves are manufactured in 1SO 13485 certified facilities. We have two mechanical heart
valve production facilities, in close proximity in Plymouth, a suburb of Minneapolis, Minnesota, for our
manufacturing activities. Qur pyrolytic carbon components are manufactured in one facility and we assemble the
ATS heart valve in a controlled clean room environment in the other facility. Most of the materials we purchase for
our products are supplied by a limited number of vendors. We are currently operating one manufacturing shift at
our valve assembly facility, At our pyrolytic carbon facility, most processes are operating one manufacturing shift
while some operate up to three manufacturing shifts. We have been ramping up our pyrolytic carbon manufacwring
facility over the past two years under an initiative to become a low-cost, self-supplier of the critical carbon
components necessary in the manufacture of our mechanical heart valves. While this initiative has resulted in ramp-
up ang start-up expenses, low initial production vields, and higher-than-normal scrap costs, our gross margins have
improved in both 2005 and 2006. We anticipate our manufacturing yields and efficiencies will continue to improve
over time as we gain experience and expertise manufacturing our own carbon components and as the scale of our
operation increases. .

.




Our ATS-3F tissue heart valves are manufactured in our ISO 9001 certified facility in Lake Forest, California. -Most
of the materials used to construct the valve leaflets are supplied by a limited number of vendors. We currently
operate one manufacturing shift at the Lake Forest facility. During the fourth quarter of 2006 we began ramping up
our tissue valve production in preparation for a 2007 market launch of the ATS 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis. In
addition, we also manufacture significant quantities of our next generation tissue valves for use in preclinical and
clinical testing. These initiatives have resulted in low production yields and inefficiencies. As our tissue valve
volume increases, we expect our yields. will rise and our process will become more efficient. We do not
manufacture or produce products we sell or service for the surgical treatment of cardiac arrhythmias, heart valve
repair, or cardiovascular allograft tissues. : . - ! “

We believe that our properties are adequate to serve our business operations for the foreseeable future. At our
Plymouth, Minnesota facility and our sales offices for our foreign subsidiaries in France and Germany, we
warehouse our mechanical valve inventories and products for cardiac arrhythmias and heart valve repair. )
We maintain a comprehensive quality assurance and quality control program, which includes documentation of all
material specifications, operating procedures, equipment maintenance, and quality control test methods. Our
documentation systems comply with appropriate Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and ISO 13485
requirements. ' . .

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our research and development activities include developing new products, improving our current products, and the
clinical and regulatory activities to support our preducts. These activities are carried out in our Plymouth facilities,
although we work with physicians, research hospitals, and universities around the world. None of this work is
funded by customers or other outside institutions. The development process for any new product can range from
several months to several years, primarily depending on the regulatory pathway required for approval. Research and
development expenses totaled $3.4 million, net of $14.4 million of in-process research’ and development related to
the 3F acquisition, in 2006, $1.7 million in 2005 and $1.0 million in 2004. " At the end of 2006 our research and
development headcount totaled 17 employees. : \ '

L

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ABOUT SEGMENTS T T IR
Since our inception, we have operated in the single industry segment of developing, manufacturing, and marketing
medical devices.

SEASONALITY

Our sales and operating results have varied and are expected to continue to vary significantly from quarter to'quarter
as a result of seasonal patterns. We expect that our business will be seasonal, with the third quarter of each year
typically having the lowest sales, due to vacation and time-off periods in our international markets, especially
Europe.

o
o

PATENTS AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY

.o | . 1 s

Our policy is to protect our proprietary position by obtaining U.S. and foreign patents to protect technology,
inventions and improvements important to the development of our business. The original patent obtained ‘by
CarboMedics under which our valve was developed expired in 2004. We subsequently made modifications to the
basic design. We were issued a U.S. patent covering our design improvements to the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve
in October 1994. This patent expires in 2011. We have also filed patent applications in Japan, Belgium, France,
Germany, Netherlands, Spain,.Switzerland and the United Kingdom relating to’ the design improvements. Patents
have been granted in all of these countries. We cannot be certain that any patents will not be ‘challenged or
circumvented by competitors. - -

We also rely on trade secrets and technical know-how in the manufacture-and marketing of the ATS Open Pivot
Heart Valve. We typically require our employees, consultants and contractors to execute confidentiality agreements
with respect to our proprietary information. : :
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We claim trademark protection on ATS Medical{TM) and ATS Open Pivot(R). U.S. trademark and service mark
registrations are generally for a term of 10 years, renewable every 10 years as long as the trademark is used in the
regular course of trade. We have also been granted rights by certain partners to use theu' trademark(s) in our sales
- and marketing activities of their products and services. - 'q"
14 e, ’ e
Our ATS 3F tissue valves are supponed by an extensive intellectual property portfolio. We own 35 lssucd U.s.
patents that protect our core technology in the tissue valve market. In addition,.we have filed: for. a number of
patents“and extended patent coverages for retevant geographies outside the United States. These patents expire on
various dates ranging from May 2009 to February 2024, with 12 of the patents expiring in"2013, and 12 in the
period from 2021 to 2024. The effect of these patents is to give us the right to preclude third parties from making,
- using, selling or offering to sell products which infringe upon the claims made in each of these patents within theé
jurisdiction of the country where the patent is issued. We believe that the claims covered by the issued patents are
broad, and cover.many unique attributes of the products we plan for commercialization and the processes we use to
fabncateﬂhese products. - RN e e '

: . . : . . . . .
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GOVERNMENT REGULATION

United States

Numerouv governmental authorities, prmcnpally the FDA and correspondmg state and forelgn regulatory. agenc:es*
strictly regulate our products and research and development activities; The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act,
the regulations promulgated under this act, and other federal and state statutes and regulations, govern, among other
things, the pre-clinical and clinical testing, design, manufacture, safety, efficacy, labeling, storage, record keeping,
advertising and promotion of medical devices. The FDA classifies our ATS Open Plvot Heart Valve as a Class 111

B ¢

device, which is subject to the highest level of controls. S SR AR

Generally; before we can market a new medical device, we must obtain marketing clearance through a+510(k)
premarket notification, approval of a premarket approval application (“PMA™) or approval of product development
protocol (“PDP”). A PMA.or PDP application must be submitted if a proposed device does not qualify for a 510(k)
premarket clearance procedure. It generally takes several months from the date of a 510(k):submissionto obtain
clearance, but it may take longer,. particularly if a clinicat trial is required. The PMA and PDP process can be
expensive, uncertain, requ1rc detailed and comprehensive data and generally take 51gmﬂcantly longer than the
5 lO(k) process. A T . :
: St

lf human clinical trials of a device are required, either for a 510(k) submission or a PMA application, the sponsor of
the trial, usual]y the manufacturer or the distributor of the device, must file an investigational device exemption
(“IDE”) application prior to commencing human clinical trials. The IDE application must be supported by data,
typically mcludmg the results of animal and/or laboratory testing. If the IDE application .is approved by the FDA
and one or more appropriate institutional review boards (“IRBs”), human clinical trials may* begin at a specific
number of investigational sites with a specific number of patients, as approved by the FDA. If the device presents a
non-significant risk to the patient, a sponsor may begin the clinical trial after obtaining approvalfor the study by the
IRBs without separate approval from the FDA. Submission of an IDE does not give assurance that the FDA will
approve thz IDE and, if it is approved, there can be no assurance the FDA will determine that the data derived from
the studies support the safety and efficacy of the device or warrant the continuation.of clifiical triats.-An' IDE
supplement must be submitted to and approved by the FDA before a sponsor or investigator may make a change to
the investigational plan that may affect its scientific soundness, study indication or the rlghts, safety or welfare of
human subjects. e o Coal 1 -

We arfe also sub_lect to FDA regulations concemmg manufacturmg processes_and reporting: obllgatlons These
regulations require that manufacturing steps be performed according to FDA standards and in accordance with
documentation, control and testing standards. The FDA monitors compliance with its good manufacturing practices
regulations by conducting .periodic inspections. We are required to provide information. to-the FDA on adverse
incidents as well as maintain a detailed record keeping system in accordance with F DA guidelines.
' . . . RN T

The advemsmg of our products is also subject to both FDA and Federal Trade Comm1551on regulations. In addmon
we will-be subject to the "fraud and abuse" laws and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Department.of Heaith and
Human Services and the U.S. Health Care Finance Administration if we sell-the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve to
Medicare or Medicaid patients. Under these regulations, it is a criminal offense {subject to certain exceptions) to
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knowingly or willfully offer, pay, solicit, or receive remuncration in order to induce business for which
reimbursement may be provided under a federal healthcare program. “. :

If the FDA believes we are not in compliance with law, it can institute proceedings to detain or seize products, issue -
a recall, enjoin future violations and assess civil and criminal penalties against us and our officers and employees. If
we fail to comply. with these regulatory requirements, our business, financial condition and operating results could
be harmed. In addition, regulations regarding the manufacture and sale of our products are subject to change. We
cannot predict the effect, if any, that these changes might have on our business, financial condition and operating
results. ' : -

International. ~ . - : - . T
In order to market our products in European and other foreign countries, we must obtain required regulatory
approvals and comply with extensive regulations governing product safety, quality and manufacturing processes.
These regulations vary significantly from country to country and with respect to the nature of the particular medical
device. The time required to obtain these foreign approvals to market our products may be longer or shorter than in

the United States, and requirements for licensing may differ from FDA requirements.

In order to market our products in the member countries of the European Union, we are required to comply with the
medical devices directive and obtain CE mark certification. The CE mark denotes conformity with European
standards for safety and allows certified devices to be sold in all European Union countries. Under the medical
devices directives, all medical devices, including active implants and in vitro diagnostic products, must qualify for
CE marking. - .o - : .

! : - + . +

THIRD-PARTY REIMBURSEMENT

In the United States, healthcare providers that purchase medical devices, including our products, generally rely on
third-party payors, including Medicare, Medicaid, private health insurance carriers and managed care organizations,
to reimburse all or part of the cost and fees associated with the procedures performed using-these devices. The
commercial success of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve will depend on the ability of healthcare providers to obtain
adequate reimbursement from third-party payors for the surgical procedures in which our products are used. Third-
party payors are increasingly challenging the pricing of medical products and procedures. Even if a procedure is
eligible for reimbursement, the level of reimbursement may not be adequate. In addition, third-party. payors may
deny reimbursement if they determine that the device used in the treatment was not cost-effective or was used for a
non-approved indication. :

In international markets, market acceptance of the ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve depends in part upon the
availability of reimbursement from healthcare payment systems. Reimbursement and healthcare payment systems in
international markets vary significantly by country. The main types of healthcare payment systems in international
markets are government-sponsored healthcare and private insurance. Countries with government-sponsored
healthcare, such as the United Kingdom, have a centralized, nationalized healthcare system. New devices are
brought into the system through negotiations between departments at individual hospitals at the time of budgeting.
In many of the countries where we market, the government sets an upper limit of reimbursement for various valve
types. In most foreign countries, there are also private insurance systems that may offer payments for alternative
devices. . ' ‘ : ‘o
: T - g

We have pursued reimbursement for our ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve internationally through our independent
distributors. While the healthcare financing issues in these countries are substantial, we have been able to sell the
ATS Open Pivot Heart Valve to private clinics and nationalized hospitals in each of the countries served by our

distributors.

. v

All third-party reimbursement programs, whether government-funded or insured commercially, inside the United
States or outside, are developing increasingly sophisticated methods of controlling health care costs through
prospective reimbursement and capitation programs, group purchasing, redesign of benefits, second opinions
required prior-to major surgery, careful review of bills, encouragement of healthier lifestyles and exploration of
more cost-effective methods of delivering healthcare. These types of programs can potentially limit the amount that
healthcare providers may be willing to pay for medical devices. o

. !
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PRODUCT LIABILITY AND lNSURANCE "
Cardlova=.cular dewce compames are sub_lect to an.inherent risk.of product liability and other liability claims in the
event that the use of their. products results in personal injury. Mechanical heart valves are life-sustaining devices,
and the failure of any heart valve usually results in the death of the patient. We have not received any reports of
mechanical failure of our valves implanted to date. Any product liability claim could subject us to costly litigation,
damages zmd adverse publicity. . . : , . . . _ ,
TR IR ' ¢ ' )
We currently maintain a produot hablhty insurance policy wnh an annual coverage hmit of $25 million in the
aggregate. We are ﬁnanc1a]ly respms:ble for any uninsured claims or claims which exceed the insurance policy
limits. Product liability insurance is expensive for mechanical-valves. If insurance becomes completely unavailable,
we must_either develop a. self-insurance program or sell without insurance. The development of a self-insurance
program would require significant capital.
EMPLOYEES
As of Dec_‘emb‘er 31, 2006, vve employed approximately 254 full-time and part-time employees. Our employees are
vital to our success. We believe we have been successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel. We believe
our employee relations are good.

EXECUT[VE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

-
+

Our execuuve officers are as follows : oo -
Name Age Position !
Michael D. Dale 47 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
Maria-Teresa Ajamil 39 Vice President, International Markets

. Richard A. Curtis .. . = . 42 Vice President, Corporale Development
W..Allen Putnam L S 59 Vice President, Regulatory, Clinical and Quality
Michael R. Kramer , + 5, =, - 30 Acting Chief Financial Officer. ] :

David R. Elizondo v+ .0y - . .+ 39, Vice President, Research and Development and
‘ : General Manager, Tissue. Operatxons

Michael D. Dale has served as our Chief Execunve Officer, President and Director since October 2002. . From 2000
to 2002, Mr. Dale was Vice-President of Worldwide Sales and Marketmg at Endocardial Solutions, Inc., a company
that develops, markets and distributes an advanced cardiac mapping system. Mr. Dale joined Endocardlal
Solutions, Inc. in DeCember 1998 as, Vice President Worldwide Sales. From 1996 to 1998, Mr. Dale was Vice
Pre51dent of Global Sales’ for Cyberomcs Inc., a medical dev1ce company, and was managmg director of
Cyberonics Europe S.A. From 1988 to 1996, Mr. Dale served in. several capacities at St. Jude Medical, Inc., a
cardiovascilar medical device company, and most recently served as the Business Unit Director for St. Jude
Europe., Mr. Dale is on.the Board; of Directors of Enpath Medical, Inc., a medical products company that designs,
develops manufactures ‘and markets percutaneous delivery solutions. . -
Marla-Teresa (Terrie} Ajamil was appointed an executive officer of ATS in September 2005.; Ms. Ajamil joined
ATS in January 2004 as General Manager of Asia Pacific Markets and has served as Vice PreSIdent International
Markets smce September 2004. Prior to joining ATS Ms. Ajamil was. Vice President of Emergmg Markets at St.
Jude Medn al, Inc., a cardlovascular médical device company, from September 1993 to December 2002. In 1992
and 1993, Ms. Ajamil served as/Vice President of Marketing for Pharmacia Deltec, a medical device company. Ms.
Ajamil also spent 16 years : at 3M, Inc., a multi-national diversified technology and consumer products company, in
numerous positions of lntemanonal operations, marketmg and sales in several of 3M 5 healthcare divisions.

1
Rlchard A Curtls _]01ned ATS as our Vice President of Marketmg and Business Development in December 2002
and was appointed Vice President of Corporate Development in December 2006. Prior to joining ATS, Mr. Curtis
was Vice President of Corporate Development at Cardinal Health, Inc., a provider of healthcare products and
services, from September 2001 to November 2002. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Curtis was Vice President of Business
Development for Hill-Rom, Inc., a provider of patient care environment and therapy solutions, and from 1997 to
1999, he was a Director of Corporate Development at Hillenbrand Industries, a health care and funeral services
provider.
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W. Allen Putnam has served as our Vice President of Regulatory, Clinical and Quality since March 2006. Prior to
joining ATS, Mr. Putnam was engaged by the Company as a consultant. Mr. Putnam founded RCQ Strategies, a
regulatory, clinical and quality consulting proprietorship in 2000, and consulted for numerous- companies prior to
his employment with the Company. For approximately eight months during 2004, Mr. Putnam was employed as the
Principle Investigator for Phygen, Inc., a privately-held medical product sterilization company. From 1993 to 2000,
Mr. Putnam was Vice President of Regulatory, Clinical and Quality for Urologix, Inc., a medical device’ company,
and from 1992 to-1993, he was President and Chief Operating Officer of Uroplasty; Inc., also a medjcal device
company. Mr. Putnam was Vice President of Regulatory and Quality for St. Jude Medical, Inc., a cardiovascular
medical device company, from 1989 to 1992, - S T
Michael R. Kramer has served as our Senior Director of Finance since September 2006 and was appointed Acting
Chief Financial Officer in February 2007. Prior to joining ATS, Mr. Kramer was engaged by the Company as an
independent financial consultant. From February 2005 to May 2006, Mr, Kramer was the Controller at CABG
Medical, Inc., a cardiovascular device manufacturer. During 2004, Mr. Kramer was a Corporate Finance Manager
at Ecolab, Inc., a developer and marketer of products and services to the hospital, foodservice, healthcare and
industrial markets. From December 1999 through July 2004, Mr. Kramer worked at Ernst & Young LLP, a global
professional services firm, where he served as ‘a manager in the assurance and advisory services practice from
September 2002 until his departure. ‘ S ' X - ' -

. N
David R. Elizondo has served as our Vice President of Research and Development and General Manager, Tissue.
Operations, since September 2006. From July 2000 to August 2006, Mr. Elizondo served in several capacities at
Boston Scientific. Corporation, a developer of technologies and products for interventional and surgical procedures,
and most recently served as the Director of New Business Development for Boston Scientific’s Cardiology
Division.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterty Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and
amendments to those reports filed ‘'or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section
13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitics Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Aét)_ are available free of charge through our
website (www.atsmedical.com) as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file the material: with, or
furnish it to, the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS T . N St

" ' R . . 1 . N " ' LS| : vt H .|"'L‘
Our business faces many risks. Any of the risks discussed below, or elsewhere’in this Form 10-K or our other
filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, could have a matérial impact on our ‘business, financial
condition or operating results. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently
beliéve to be immaterial may also impair our business operations. -

e [IF TR . 1

If our mechanical heart valve does not dchieve widespread market acceptince in the United States; our operating
results will be harmed and we may not achieve profitability. I '

Our success will depend, in large part, oh the medical community’s acceptance of the ATS mechanical heart valve
in the United States, which is the largest revenue market in the world for heart valves. The U.S. medical
community’s acceptance of the ATS heart valve Wwill depend upon our ability to'demonstrate the safety and efficacy,
advantages, long-term clinical performance and cost-effectiveness of the ATS ‘heart valve as compared to othet
prosthetic heart valves. We cannot predict whether the U.S. medical community will accept the ATS heart valve or,
if accepted, the extent of its use. Negative publicity resulting from isolated incidents involving the ATS héart valve
or other prosthetic heart valves could have a significant adverse effect on‘the overall acceptarice of our heart valve.
If we encounter difficulties developing a market for the ATS heart valve in the United States, we may not be able to
increase our revenue enough'to achieve profitability, and our business and operating results will be seriously
harmed. . - : ‘ .

T . o
F “
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We currently rely on'the ATS heart valve as our primary source of revenue. If we are not successful in selling
this product, our operating results will be harmed, : 3

While we commenced marketing additional products during 2005 that totaled 18% of net revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2006 there can be no assurance that these new products will: decrease our dependence on the
sales of mechanical heart valves. Increasing revenués from new products cannot be guaranteed Even if we were to
develop additional products, regulatory approval would likely be required to sell them. Clinical testing and the
approval'process itself are very expensive and can take many years. Therefore, we do not expect to be in a position
to sell additional. products in the foreseeable future. Adverse rulings by regulatory authorities; product liability
lawsuits, the failure’ to achieve widesptead U.S. market acceptance, the loss ‘of market acceptance outside of the
United Stdtes, or other ‘adverse publicity may significantly and adversely affect our sales of the ATS heart valve,
and as a result, would adversely affect our busmess financial condition and operating results. | v

l L . i \ , A . Ai

" The anttcwated benef its of acqmrmg 3F may nat be realtzea' o AT

Lo IR NI P [ g :f|t

We completed the acquisition of 3F on September 29, 2006 and expect that the merger will result in various,
benefits, including, among othérs, an expanded heart valve product line, enhanced revenues, a strengthened market
position for ATS in the heart valve indusiry, cross-selling opportunities, technology, cost savings and operating
efficiencies. However, achieving the anticipated benefits of the merger is subject to a number of uncertainties,
mcludmg whether 3F’s development-stage products are ultimately marketable, whether we are able to integrate 3F
in an efficient and effective manner, and general competitive factors in.the marketplace. Fa1lure to achieve these
anticipated benefits could result in increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of
management’s time and energy, and could materlally lmpact our business, fmancral condition and operatmg results:

v W n . . i

- We may have diffi cult): integrating 3F and may incur substannal costs in connection with the mregranon.

Integrating 3F’s operations into ‘ouir business will‘be a complex time-consuming and expensive process Before the
merger, ATS and 3F operated indepéndently, each with its own business, products customers,’employees, culture
and systems. We may experience material unanticipated difficulties or expenses in connection Wwith the 1ntegrat10n

of 3F due to various factors, including: o 3

‘e . retaining and imegrating management and other key ernployees of the combined company;
i A EEERERN DT . I thi
: L costs and delays in implementing common systems and procedures and mtegratmg 3F’s products
' and operations into our business; - : X :

* !

. difficulty comparing ﬁnancial reports due to differing financial and accounting systems;
e . : : . ‘ ]
b - . diversion of management resources from the business of the combmed company;
' L , . . LI ¢ *j
e reduction or loss of customer sales due to the potentlal for market confuswn hesnatlon and delay,
and .
1.
. ) ' difficulty in combining distribution arrangements for the comblned company s products and
services.

s

We do not have experience in integrating operations on the scale represented by the merger with 3F, and it is not
certain that we can successfully integrate 3F in a timely or efficient manner, or at all, or that any of the anticipated
benefits of the merger will be realized. Failure to do so could have a matenal adverse effect on the business,
financial condition and operating résults of thé combined company. : o

e A ST
In addmon many of the factors listed above are outside the control of either company. Thet time and expense
associated with converting the businesses into a smgle combined company may exceed management’s expectations
and limit or delay the intended benefits of the transaction. To the extent any of these events occur, the benefits of
the transaction may be reduced, at least for a period of time. In addition, it is possible that unexpected transaction
costs, such'as taxes, fees or professional expenses, or unexpected future operating expenses, such as increased
personnel c'osts as well as other types of unanticipated adverse developments, could have a materlal adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and operating results,

15




+

In 2002, we began using a combination of direct sales persons and independent manufacturing representatives to
sell our valves in the United States. If our U.S. sales strategy is not successful, we will not be able fo continue
our operations as planned.

Our sales approach for the sale of the ATS heart.valve in the United States consists primarily of direct salespersons
with a few independent manufacturers’ representatives. We will need to continue to expend significant funds and
management resources to develop and maintain this hybrid sales force. We believe that-there s significant
competition for sales personnel and independent manufacturing representatives with the advanced sales skills and
technical .knowledge wewneed. If we .are unable to recruit, retain and motivate qualified. personnel and
representatives, U.S.isales of the ATS heart valve could be adversely affected. The loss of key salespersons or
independent manufacturer’s representatives could have a material adverse effect on our sales or potential sales to
current customers and prospects serviced by such salespersons or representatives. Further, we cannot assure the
successful expansion of our network of independent manufacturer’s representatives on terms acceptable to ATS, if
at all, or the successful marketing of our products by our hybrid sales force. To the extent we rely on sales through
independent manufacturer’s representatives, any revenues we receive wilt depend primarily on the efforts of these
parties. We do not control the amount and timing of marketing resources that these third parties devote to our
product. If our'U.S. sales strategy is not successful, we may be forced to change our U.S. sales strategy again. Any
such change could disrupt sales in the United States. Further, any change in our U.S. sales strategy could be
expensive and would likely have a material-adverse 1mpact on our operatmg results.. : N

. .
R e, R o : e ‘ g

We curremiy depend on the marketmg and saies eﬂ'orts of international mdependem drstrrbutars A A
The ATS mechamcal and tissue heart valves are sold mtemattonal]y through mdependent dlsmbutors The. loss of
an international distributor could seriously harm our business and operating results if a new distributor could not be
found on a timely basis in the relevant geographic market. .We do not control the amount and timing of marketing ..
resources that these third parties devote to our product. Furthermore, to the extent we rely on sales through
mdependent distributors, any revenues we receive will depend pnmarlly on the efforts of these pames - '
5 ) N L ‘ " ot . . -d..' B LELL i o ’

We. are dependem upon sales autsrde the Umted States, wlnch are sabject to a number of risks mcludmg a drop
in sales due to currency fluctuations. P A

For the year ended Decémber 31, 2006, 61% of our net sales were derived from international operations. We expect
that international sales will account for a substantial majority of our revenue until the ATS mechanical heart valve
receives wider market acceptance from U,S. customers and until 3F obtains pre-market approval to sell its 3F Aortic
Bioprosthesis or other products in the United States. Accordingly, any material decrease in foreign sales may
materially and adversely affect our operating results. '
P . P .

We sell in U.S. dollars to most of our customers abroad. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar in relation to
other currencies can and has adversely affected our sales outside of the United States.. In prior years, the decrease in
sales was due primarily to the change in the value of the U.S. dollar against the Euro as well as competitor price
pressure. Our dependence on sales outside of the United States will continue to expose us to U. S. dollar.currency
fluctuations for the foreseeable future. ’

Our future operating results could also be harmed by risks inherent in doing business in mtematrona] markets,
including:

+ unforeseen changes in regulatory requirements and,government health programs;

weaker mte]lectual property rights proteetton in some countnes

-

new export hcense requirements, changes in tariffs or trade restrtctlons

. political and economic instability in our target markets;

T . . Paoa t. e
. . greater difficulty in collecting payments from product sales; and

- lengthy/extended credit terms




We have a history of net losses.. If we do not have net income in the future, we may be unable to continue our
operations. '

We are not currently profitable and have a very limited history of profitability. We had net losses of approximately
$16.6 million for the 2004 fiscal year, $14.4 million for the 2005 fiscal year and $27.7 million -for the 2006 fisca)
year. As of December 31, 2006, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately $109.6 million. We expect to
incur significant expenses over the next several.years as we continue to: devote substantial resources to the
commercialization and marketing of the ATS heart valve in the, United States. We will not generate net income
unless we are able to significantly increase revenue from U.S. sales. If we continue to sustain losses, we may not be
able to continue our business as planned : " .

In addmon if the, beneﬁts of the merger w1th 3F do not exceed the associated costs, the combined company could
be adversely affected by incurring additional or even increased losses from its operations. Qur ability to succeed
after the merger depends on making our combined operations profitable through increased revenue and reduced
expenses for the combined company. If we fail to make our combined operations profitable through increased
revenue and decreased expenses, it would harm’our business, financial condition and operating results.

Purchase accounting treatment of the merger with 3F could resull in net losses Jfor the foreseéabte Sfuture.

- [
4 . ' I

We have accounted for the merger with 3F using the purchase method of accounting. Under purchase accounting,
the estimated market value of shares of our common stock issued:in the'merger and the amount of the merger
transaction costs will be recorded as the cost of acquiring 3F. That cost has been allocated to the individual assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, including various identifiable intangible assets such as acquired technology,
acquired trademarks and tradenames, based on their.estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. The excess of
the purchase price over the fair market value of the net assets has been allocated as goodwill. The amount of initial
purchase price currently allocated to goodwill and the other intangible assets in connection with the acquisition of
3F is approximately $12.2 million. Our estimates are based upon currently available information and assumptions
that we believe are reasonable. We continue the process of gathering information to finalize the valuation of certain
assets, primarily the valuation of acquired intangible assets. However, theré can be no assurance that the actual
useful lives will not differ significantly from the current estimates. The amortization of other intangible assets could
result in net losses for ATS for the foreseeable future, which could have a matenal adverse effect on the market
value of our common stock: . o § .

]

' Lo oy, [

We have a history of regularly raising funds and incurring debt to fund net losses. If our current cash and
investment balances are inadequate to carry us-to profi mb:hty, we may need to raise equtty or incur debt in the
Sfuture, . . s .

During thé last three years, we have completed financings to fund our operations. [f our future operations require
greater cash than our current balances, we would again be required to raise equity or issue debt. Furthermore, there
may be delays in obtaining necessary governmental approvals of our products or introducing products to market or
other events that may cause actual cash requirements to exceed those for which we have budgeted. In such event,
we would need additional financing. If we were unable to raise these funds, we may not be able to continue our
business as planned. :
. . .

The market for prosthetic heart valves is highly competitive, and a number of our competitors are larger and
have more financial resources. If we do not compere effectively, our business will be harmed.

The market for prosthettc heart vaives is highly competitive. We expect that competition will 1nten51fy as additional
companies enter the market or modify their existing products to compete directly with us. Qur primary competitor in
mechanical heart valves, St. Jude Medical, Inc., currently controls approximately 50% of the worldwide market.
Edwards Lifesciences PVT, Inc., our primary competitor in the tissue heart valve market, currently controls
approximately 60% of the worldwide market. Many of our competitors have long-standing FDA approval for their
valves and extensive clinical data demonstrating the performance of their valves. In addition, they have greater
financial, manufacturing, marketing and research and development capabilities than we have. For example, many of
our competitors have the ability, due to their internal carbon manufacturing facilities and economies of scale, to
manufacture their heart valves at a lower cost than we can manufacture our ATS heart valve. Our primary
competitor has recently used price as a method to compete in several international markets. If heart valve prices
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decline significantly, we might not. be able to'compete successfully, which would harm our business, ﬁnanc1a1
condition and operating results. :

Our future results will .be harmed :f the use af meckamcal ‘heart valves declmes ‘orif our tissue heart valvés

cannot he successfully marketed. : - VT g

P L Lo . Voo ) g [ 5‘ e

Our business could suffer if the use of mechanical heart valves declrnes Historically; mechamcal heart valves have
accounted for over two-thirds of all heart.valve replacements. Recently, there has beén an increase: in the use of
tissue valves. We estimate that mechanical heart valves are currently being used in 40% to 65% of all heart valve
replacements, depending on the geographic market, down from 65% to 75%-roughly ten years ago.”We believe the
tissue manufacturers’ claims of improvements in tissue valve longevity and an increase in the average age of valve
patients have contributed to the recent increase in the use of tissue valves: In addition; there can be no guarantee
that we will be able to successfully market and sell.our tissue heart valves or: that -our- tissue heart valves will be
approved or gam market acceptance T - R z o
* R P I

4 o ! o

Qur business may be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain our strategic distribution arrangements.

In 2006, revenues from non-mechanical heart vatve products increased to:18% of total revénue from 0% in"2004.
Some of our distributed products contain performance criteria which we must obtain to retain our rights under these
arrangements. Addmonally, these arrangements provide certain circumstances under which our- rights may be
terminated (i.e. change-in-control). - If we are unable to mamtam these arrangements our busmess f'mancnal
condition and operatmg results may be adversely affected at RN R .
We ultimately may experience a delay in introducing, or may not successfully complete developmem af; products
that are currem{y under developmem resulting in harm to our business.. . - . . : - L

+ - ' * e »

T

We are in the process of developmg certain products including but not llmlted to,:the Enable and Entrata products
The Enable product is currently in the early phases of clinical trials, ‘and the Entrata product is still under
development. Successfully completing the .development- of these products and technologies presents substantial
technical, medical and engineering challenges, as well as regulatory hurdles.. In 2006, ongoing clinical trial results
in Europe resulted in our undertaking a review of the Enable valve cuff design. - We may not successfully complete
the development of these products, or these products may fail to work in the manner intended. If we are unable to
successfully develop the products that are currently under development, we may suffer financial difficulties, which
may have a material adverse effect on our busmess ﬁnancml condition and operatmg results CoL
vy o v . AR

New products or technologies developed by others could render our pmduct obsalete

The medical device industry is characterized by significant .technological advances. Several companies are _
developing new prosthettc heart valves based on new or potentially improved technologies. Significant advances are
also being made in surgical procedures; which may delay the need for replacement heart valves. A new-product or
technology may'emerge that renders the ATS heart valve noncompetitive or obsolete. -This could materlally harm

our operating results or force us to cease doing business-altogether. . O *
N t L

The merger wuh 3F may result in a loss of customers and suppliers.

Some customers may seek alternative sources of products and/or services after the effectlveness of the 3F merger

due to, among other reasons, a desire not to do business with the combined company or perceived concerns that the

combined company may not continue to ‘support and-develop certain product lines. The combined company could

experience some customer attrition after the merger. Difficulties in combining operations also could result in the

loss of providers and potentlal disputes or htlgatlon with customers, prov1ders or others 1 oo
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We license patented technology and other proprietary rights from CarboMedics. If thesé agreements are
breached or terminated, our right to manufacture the ATS mechanical heart valve could be terminated.

Under our carbon technology agreement with CarboMedics, we have obtained a license to usé CarboMedics’
pyrolytic carbon technology to manufacture components for the ATS heart valve. If this agreement is breached or
terminated, we would be unable to manufacture our own product. If our inventory is exhaustcd and we do not have
any other sources of carbon components, we would be forced to cease doing business. voeow .
B ' '

A delay or interruption in our manufacturing of pyrolytic carbon camponenrs could delay product delivery or
Jforce us to cease operations. . . L

Although we anticipate that our manufacturing capacity will be sufficient to meet our current and'foreseeable
carbon component needs, if our inventory is exhausted and we are unable to manufacture carbon components,-it is
unlikely that we will be able to obtain the necessary carbon components from any other source. If we are unable to
obtain these carbon components from other sources, we could be forced to reduce or cease operations.

Because we lack mandfacturing experience, we niay not realize expected savings from manufacturmg our own
product. In addmon, we could experience productran delays and srgny" fcant addmonal costs. ' P :
) NP K 'i‘ o . )

Under our agreement with CatboMedics! we' have been granted an exc]uswe worldwrde hcense 10 manufacture

pyrolytic ¢arbon components for the ATS-heart valve. We cannot be certain that our strategylto establish internal
manufacturing capabllmes will result in a cost-effective means for manufacturing the ATS heart valve. We have
limited experience in manufacturmg pyrolytic carbon. Although we have an FDA-approved carbon-manufacturing
facility, we have oniy started increasing our production. In the future, as we continue to increase production, we
miay encounter difficulties in ‘maintaining and expanding our manufacturing operations, mc]udmg problems
mvolvmg

. '

‘e production yields;

. quality control,

. per it manufacturmg COsts; 7

. shurtages of qualified personnel and : . o , . .'.

. * ‘compliance with FDA and international regulations and requirements rtegarding good

manufacturing practices. = . !

Difficulties encountered.by us in establishing or maintaining a commercial-scale manufacturing facility may limit
our ability to manufacture our heart valve and therefore could seriously harm our business, financial condition and
operating results,

Our business could be seriously harmed if third-party payers do not reimburse the costs for our heart valve.

Our ability to successfully commercialize the ATS mechanical heart valve depends on the extent to which
re1mbursement for the cost of our product and the related surgical procedure is available from third- -party payers,
such as govemmenta] programs, private insurance plans and managed care organizations. Th1rd-party payers are
increasingly challenging the pricing of medical products and procedures that they consider not' to be cost-effective
or are used for a non-approved indication. The failure by physicians, hospitals and other users of our products to
obtain sufficient relmbursement from thlrd-party payers would serlously harm our busmess f'manCIal condmon and
operating results,

In recent years, there have been numerous proposals to change the health care system in the United States. Some of
these proposals have mcluded measures that would limit or eliminate payment for medical procedures or treat{nents
In addition, governmeént and private third-party payers are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by
limiting both the coverage and the level of reimbursement. In international markets, reimbursement and health care
payment systems ‘vary' s:gmﬁcantly ‘by country. Furthermore, we have encountered price resistance from
government-administered health programs. Significant changes in the health care system in tHe Umted States or
elsewhere, including changes resulting from adverse trends in third-party reimbursement programs, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.
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We may face product liability claims, which could result in losses in excess of our insurance coverage and whtch
could negatively affect our ability to atiract and retain customers.

The manufacture and sale of mechanical heart valves and tissue heart valves entails significant risk of product
liability claims and product recalls. Both mechanical heart valves and tissue heart valves are life-sustaining devices,
and -the failure of any mechanica! heart valve usually results in the patient’s death or need for re-operation.. A
product liability claim or product recall, regardless of the ultimate outcome, could require us to spend significant
time and money in litigation or to pay significant damages and could seriously harm our business. We currently
maintain product liability insurance coverage in an aggregate amount of $25 million. However, we cannot be
assured that our current insurance coverage is adequate to cover the costs of any product liability claims made
against us. Product liability insurance is expensive and does not cover the costs of a product recall. In the future,
product liability insurance may not be available at satisfactory rates or in adequate amounts. A product liability
claim or product recall could also matetially and adversely affect our ability to attract and retain customers. ..

Our business would be adver.sely affected if we are not able to protect our intellectual property rights.

Our success depends in part on our ability to maintain and enforce our patents and other proprietary rights. We rely
on a combination of patents, trade secrets, know-how and confidentiality agreements to protect the proprietary
aspects of our technology. These measures afford only limited protection, and competitors may gain access to our
intellectual property- and .proprietary information. The patent positions of medical device companies are. generally
uncertain and involve-complex legal and technical issues. Litigation may be necessary.to enforce our intellectual
property rights, to protect our trade secrets and to determine the validity and scope of our proprietary rights. Any
litigation could be costly and divert our attention from.the growth of the business. We cannot assure you that our
patents and other proprietary, rights will not be successfully challenged, or that others will not independently
develop substantially equivalent information and technology or otherwise gain access to our proprietary technology.

We may be sued by third parties claiming that our products infringe on their intellectual property rights. Any
such suits could result in significant litigation or licensing expenses or we might.-be prevented from selling our
product,

We may be exposed to future litigation by third parties based on intellectual. property, infringement claims. Any
claims or litigation against us, regardiess of the merits, could result in substantial costs and could harm our business.
In addition, intellectual property litigation or claims could force us to: S

i = SR
. cease manufacturing and sellmg our product Wthl’l woulid serlously harm-us;
i . e " obtain a license from the-holder of the infringed intellectual property rlght which license may not
. be.available on reasonable terms, if at all; or-. R

) redesign our product, which could be costly and time-consuming.
We may encounter Iitigarian that could have a material impact on our business.

In addition to product liability claims, potential litigation over intellectual property mfrmgement claims and the
CarboMedics litigation described in Item 3. “Legal Proceedings,” we also may be subJect to other lawsmts
proceedings and'claims arising in the ordmary course of business or otherwise. Although we do not belleve that any
lawsuits, claims or proceedmgs arising in the ordmary course of business will have afmatenal adve':rse impact on our
business, operating results or financial condition, it is possible that unfavorable resolutions’ of any | lawsuits, claims
or proceedings could have an adverse effect on our business, resulis of operation or financial condmon because of
the uncertainty inherent in litigation. -

We are subject to extensive govemmemal regulation, which is costly, time cansummg and can ‘subject us to
unant:c:pated delays or could ultimately preclude us from marketing and sellmg our products. ‘

Qur heaﬁ valve and our manufacrurmg activities are subject to extenswe regulatlon by a number of governmental
agencies, mcludmg the FDA and comparable international agencies, as well as other federal state, local and
international authorities. We are required to:

r otk -
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o obtain the approval.of the FDA or international regulatory authorities where our heart valves are
not yet marketed ,

0 laﬂer obtaining approval or clearance of the FDA or international regulatory authorities, maintain
the" approval of the FDA and mtematronal regulatory authormes to ‘continue selllng and

' " manufacturing our heart valves; R

o satisfy content requirements for all of our labeling, sales and promotional,mat‘erials;
' , » - comply withmanufacturing and reporting requirements; and | Lo

o undergo rigorous inspections by these agencies.

Compliance with thé regulations ‘of these governméntal authorities may delay or prevent us from introducing any
new or improved products 'The governmental authoritiés in charge of making and implementing these laws or
related regulations may change the laws, impose additional restrictions, or adopt interpretations of existing laws or
regulations that could have a matenal ‘adverse effect on us. Violations of these laws or regulatory requirements may
result in fines, marketing restrictions, product recall; withdrawal of approvals and civil and criinihal penalties, We
also may incur substantial costs associated with complying and overseeing compliance with the laws and regulations
of these governmental authorities. S L

= T

We ultimately may not be able to obtain the necessary governmental approvals or clearances in the United States or
other jurisdictions, including FDA and CE approvals and clearances, for products that are now under development,
including our 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis, Enable and Entrata products. Obtaining these governmental approvals or
clearances is uncertain, and the reguiatory approval process is likely to be time-consuming and éxpensive. If we are
unable to obtain such governmental approvals or clearances, then our ability to market and sell products currently
under development may be delayed or may never occur. Our potential inability to market and sell our products
currently ,under development, together with the potential expenses associated with obtaining the necessary
governmental approvals or clearances, may cause us to suffer financial drfﬁcultles which could have a material
adverse effect on our busmess ﬁnancral condition and prospects. * y U ‘ .

YT T ' ' S . e
The price of our common stock has been volatile, which may result in Iossesrto investors. "
e 1 *r
Historically, the market price of our common stock has fluctuated over a wide range and it is likely that the price of
our common stock will fluctuate in the future. The market price of our common stock could be impacted by the
following: '

*

the success of our management in operating ATS effectively;

* the farlure of ¢ our heart valves to gain market acceptance’ m the United States;’
b W - . .

.« . announcements of techmcal innovations or new products by our competttors,I _ -
© e the status ‘of.component supply arrangements; oo : L
K ‘f changes in relmbursement pohcres ' ' o ' N
. ""govemme_nt regulation; 4 :
., develo'p'm_ents'in patent or other proprietary rightsi e ‘ . ;' : ’
e public'concern as to the safety and efficacy of products developed by us or others; and
. : general market condmons to g

' DX A N T '

In addrtron due to one or more of the foregorng factors in future years our operatmg results may fall below the
expectatrons of securrtles analysts and investors. In that event, the market prlce of our common stock could be
materrally and adversely affected Fmally, in recent years the stock market has experlenced extreme price and
volume fluctuations. This volattlrty has had a significant effect on the market prices of securrttes issued by many
compantes for [reasons unrelated to, therr [operating performance These broad market fluctuatlons may matertally
adversely affect our stock price, regardless of our operating results.
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Our charter documents and Minnesota law may ‘discourage and could delay or prevent a takeover of our
company. o

Provisions of our articles of incorporation, bylaws and Minnesota law could make it more difficult for a third party
to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders. These provisions include the following:

s No cumulative voting by shareholders for directors;

. The ability of our Board of Ditectors to control its size, to create new directorships and to fill
vacancies, ) v

. The ability of our Board of Directors, without shareholder approval, to issue preferred stock,
which may have rights and preferences that are superior to our common stock;

. “The ability of our Board of Directors to amend the bylaws; and

. Restrictions under Minnesota law regarding mergers or other business combmatlons between us

and any holder of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not Applicable.

ITEM2.  PROPERTIES

We lease approximately. 56,000 square feet of space in two buildings in Plymouth, Minnesota. One lease, covering
appr0x1mately 33,000 square feet, expires on March 31, 2009 and is used -for administrative, production and
engineering  purposes. The lease on the other 23,000 square feet expires July, 2008 and 'is used for carbon
manufacturing. We also lease approximately 16,000 square feet of space in Lake Forest, California. This lease
expires on September 30, 2009 and is used for research and development and manufacturing purposes. Outside the
United States, we lease four sales and marketing offices in China, France, Germany, and Austria. 'We believe that
our facilities are adequate for our current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Abbey Litigation

On January 23, 2006, following execution of the Merger Agreement between the Company and 3F, 3F was
informed of a summons and complaint dated January 19, 2006, which was filed in the U.S. District Court in the
Southern District of New York by Arthur N. Abbey (“Abbey”) against 3F Partners Limited Partnership Il (a major
stockholder of 3F, “3F Partners 1I"), Theodore C. Skokos (the then chairman of the board and a stockholder of 3F),
3F Management II, LLC (the general partner of 3F Partners I1), and 3F (collectively, the “Defendants™) {the “Abbey
I Litigation”). The summons and complaint alleges that the Defendants committed fraud under federal securities
laws, common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation in connection with the purchase by Abbey of certain
securities of 3F Partners I In particular, Abbey claims that the Defendants induced Abbey to invest $4 million in
3F Partners 11, which, in turn, invested $6 million in certain preferred stock of 3F, by allegedly causing Abbey to
believe, among other things, that such investment would be short-term.-Pursuant to the complaint, Abbey is seeking
rescission of his purchase of his limited partnership interest in 3F Partners Il and return of the amount paid therefore
(together with pre-and post-judgment interest), compensatory damages for the alleged lost principal of his
investment (together with interest thereon and additional general, consequentlal and incidental damages), general
damages for all alleged injuries resulting from the alteged fraud in an amount to be determined at trial and such
other legal and equltable relief as the court may deem just and proper. Abbey did not purchase any securities
directly from 3F and is not a stockholder of 3F. On March 23, 2006, 3F filéd a motion to dismiss the complaint.
Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, no discovery will be permntted until the judge rules upon the
motion to dismiss. On May 15, 2006, 3F filed and served a reply memorandum of law m further suppart of its
motion to dismiss Abbey’s complaint with prejudice.

On or about June 14, 2006, Abbey commenced a second civil action in the Court of Chancery in the State of

Delaware by serving 3F with a complaint naming both 3F and Mr. Skokos as defendants (the “Abbey 11

Litigation”). The complaint alleges among other things, fraud and breach of fiduciary duties in connection with the
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purchase by Abbey of his partnership interest in 3F Partners II. The Delaware action seeks: (1) a declaration that
(a) for purposes of the merger, Abbey was a record stockholder of 3F and was thus entitled to withhold his consent
to the merger and seek appraisal rights after the merger was consummated and (b) the irrevocable stockholder
consent submitted by 3F Partners 1 to approve the merger be voided as unenforceable; and (2) damages based upon
allegations that 3F aided and abetted Mr. Skokos in breaching Mr. Skokos’s fiduciary duties of loyalty and faith to
Abbey. On July 17, 2006, 3F filed a motion to dismiss the complaint in the Abbey 11 Litigation, or, alternatively, to
stay the action pending adjudication of the Abbey I Litigation. On October 10, 2006, the Delaware Chancery Court
entered an order staying the Delaware action pending the outcome of the Abbey I litigation.

3F has been notified by its director and officer insurance carrier that such carrier will defend and cover all defense
costs as to 3F and Mr. Skokos in the Abbey I'Litigation and Abbey II Litigation, subject to policy terms and full
reservation of rights. In addition, under-the mergér agreement, 3F and the 3F stockholder representative have
agreed that the Abbey I Litigation and Abbey Il Litigation are matters for which express indemnification is
provided. As a result, the escrow shares and milestone shares, if any, may be used by ATS to satisfy, in part, ATS’s
set-off rights and indemnification claims for damages and losses incurred by 3F or ATS, and their directors, officers
and affiliates, that are not otherwise covered by applicable insurance arising from the Abbey [ Litigation and Abbey
I nganon See Note 2 of “Notes to Censolidated Financial Statements” in this Report foi’ a description of the
escrow and milestone shares. We believe that the Abbey | Litigation and.Abbey It ngatmn will not result in a
material 1mpact on our financial posmon or operating results. )

t

CarboMedics Litigation

4

On January 26, 2007, we were served with a complaint filed by CarboMedics against ATS in United States District
Court in the District of Minnesota on November 22, 2006. The complaint alleges that we have breached certain
contractual obligations, including an alléged obligation to purchase $22 miltion of MHV carbon components under
a long-term supply agreement with CarboMedics which obligation CarboMedlcs contends had been scheduled to re-
commence in 2007. See “ltem 1. Business — Our Markets and Products — Prosthetic Heart Valve Market —

Re]atmnvhlp ‘with CarboMedics” in this Form 10-K for more information regarding our relationship with
CarboMedics. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Contractual Obligations” in this Form 10-K for moré information regarding the purchase obligation.

The complaint seeks specific enforcement of the supply agreement, revocation of certain intellectual property rights
purchased by ATS from CarboMedics, and monetary damages in excess of $75,000. We believe that the complaint
filed by CarboMedics is without merit, that CarboMedics has repudiated and breached the: long-term supply
agreement, and that we have affirmative claims against CarboMedics. On February 16, 2007, we filed our answer
and counterclaim to the complaint, including counterclaims for breach of contract, anticipatory repudiation,
deceptive; trade practice and business disparagement, and a request for monetary damages. On March 14, 2007 we
also filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings regarding CarboMedics request for specific performance of the
supply agreement. . :

ITEM 4. SUiiMISSlON OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Not Applicable.
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: PART II - Lo . N .
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY RELATED
- STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER' PURCHASES OF EQUI_TY !
SECUR]TIES . : | -

s ' L

.
Market Information D ‘. ' C - p | . e o
Qur common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “ATSL.” The following table sets
forth, for the periods mdlcated the high and low closing sales prices, per share of, our common stock as reported on
the NASDAQ Global Market. ~These prices do not mclude adjustments for retail mark-ups, mark-downs, or

commissions. . ‘ . B
. ;. . Pyt . 1
oo : : RSN A SURRPORE R P "
Fiscal Year 2005: Cr ‘High . . | Low t
First Quarter C 7L 8488 - 8353 o : ,
Second Quarter - . , | .$3.78 L 299 L.
Third Quarter 5384 ., 8335 - N -
Fourth Quarter '$3.79 - 2T ’
Fiscal Year 2006: High Low N
First Quarter : Co e B35 .- $2.46 e et
.- Second Quarter ey - o $3 00 , $2.27. ., .. . .
.»Third Quarter ., , $2 80 . %206 ) . .
_Fourth Quarter | .+ .., $263 - .7 205 T
) . . P B [ : Y L L N vy
Holders ., R R S A o T e

As of‘Mérﬂeh‘2,'200.7,‘ we had épproximlately 520 holders of record of éljr common stocks ; ; - "

Dividends . O "y T LA A

T S
We. have never declared or paid cash d1v1dends We 1ntend to retam all future earnings for the operatlon and
expansion of our business. We.do not ant1c1pate declaring or paying cash dividends on our common stock in the
foreseeable future. , . .. ‘ v L !

' 1

Repurchases of Common Stock

We did not repurchase any of our securities during the fourth quarter of 2006.

o+ . L
v . . S 2

Sales of Un reglstered Securities

We had no sales of unregistered securities during 2006 that have not been previously disclosed in a Current Rebort
on Form 8-K or Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common stock since December 31, 2001
with the cumulative return of the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index and the NASDAQ Medical Devices,
Instruments and Supplies Index over the same period (asswming the investment of $100 in each vehicle on
December 31, 2001 and reinvestment of all dividends).

- .

$200 4 v - : “
b —s— NASDAQ Med Dewins/Sup
on —a— Standard & Poor's 500

—a— ATS Medical Inc. $162.34

$153.92

$140.20 ‘
s, $123.54

$io.m/-.

$105.56

$100 @

$0 . ) ' - — - I —! ‘:.- N - I v
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 ' . 2095_
- Name ! 2001 2002 " 2003 2004 2005 2006
NASDAQ Medical Dev/Ens/Sup $100.00 $80.89. £119.67 $140.20 $‘153:92' $162.34
Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Index 100.00 76.63 96.85 105,56 108.73 123.54
ATS Mgdical', Inc.___ * 100.00 8.49 ) 7642 §7.92 52.08 39.06

25




PART 11 EPRLE S

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA foo e Tt "'"-“5.* 1o
, b \ I p . ‘ . ; . IR RINTY: PRI
: Year Ended December 31, * ¢ ' ' )
(in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004 2003 7 " 2002
Statement of Operations Data: : ) ‘
Net sales $40,449 $34,636  $28,015  $18484  $13,301"
Cost of sales | 19,568 22828 . 21,227 . 17,632 - 12,307
Gross profit 20,881 11,808 26,788 - - 852- . 994
Operating expenses: . o PR
Sales and marketing - 21,008 18,948 16,520 10,180 2,425
Research and development -+ .3,381 . 1,733 1,011 1,764 3,312
In-process research and T :
development o 14,400 - - - -
General and administrative . 8,892 7,314 | 5,954 4,350 3,114
Impairment of technology T . . oL
license - L - L :8;100
Reorganization expense < - - - T 1,130
Distributor termination expense - 733 - - - 821
Gain on extinguishment of debt - - - (2,575) -
Total operating expenses - 48414 27,995 23,485 13,719 18,902
Operating loss , (27,533) . (16,187)  (16,697) '(12,867)  (17,908)
Interest income '(expense) ; (1,669) (338) 54 425 (304)
Change in value of derivative - '
liability
bifurcated from convertible senior
notes ' " 1,528 2,131 - - -
Loss before income taxes . , (27,674) . (14,394) (16,643) (13,292) (18,212)
Income tax expénse . - - - T -
Net loss - _ . ($27,674) ©  ($14,394)  ($16,643)  ($13,292) ($18,212)
Net loss per share:
Basic {$0.83) ($0.46) ~ (30.58) ($0.55) ($0.82)
Diluted | . (30.83) ($0.46) (%0.58) ($0.55) ($0.82)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic . 33,537 31,009 28,856 24,076 22,259
Diluted 33,537 31,009 28,856 24,076 22,259
As of December 31,
(in thousands) 2006 - 2005 2004 - 2003 2002
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-
term :
investments - - $10,704 $21,709 $15,994 $8.475 - $9.974
Working capital 32,976 46,417 41,459 31,275 21,674
Totai assets ' ’ ‘ " 85,840 85,443 79,051 76,134 91,756
" Long-term liabilities, excluding
current maturities - .~ - 18,588 19,679 1,826 307 9,514
Shareholders’ equity -+ 57,890 57,529 69,441 72,803 74,127
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS'

Executive Overview

We develop, manufacture, and market medical devices. Qur primary interest lies with devices used by
cardiovascular surgeons in the cardiac surgery operating theater Currently, we' participate in the miarkets for
mechanical bileaflet teplacemem heart valves, tissue heart valves, allograft tissues, the surgical treatment of atrial
fibrillation, and valve repair products, surgical tocls and aeeessortes We also are engaged in a development pro_lect
for autotransfusion products.

CarboMedics developed the basic desngn from which the ATS mechanical heart valve evolved ‘CarboMedics is a
large and experienced manufacturer of pyrolytic carbon components used in mechanical heart valves. CarboMedics
has also designed and’ patented numerous mechanical valves. In 1990, CarboMedics offered to license a patented
and partially developed valve to us if we would complete the development of the valve and agrée’to ‘purchase
carbon components from CarboMedics. As a result, we now hold an exclusive, royalty-free, worldwide license to
an open pivot, bileaflet mechanical heart valve design owned by CarboMedics from which the ATS heart valve has
evolved. In addition, we have an exclusive, worldwide right and license to use CarboMedics’ pyrolytic carbon
technology to manufacture components for the ATS heart valve. : "

We commenced selling the ATS mechanical heart valve in international markets in 1992, In October 2000, we
received FDA approval to sell the ATS Open Pivot® MHV and commenced sales and marketing of our valve'in the
‘United States. The original sales forecasts as well as the prlcmg models that were used when our original supply
agreement was signed with CarboMedics proved to be too opttm:sttc Accordmg]y, to keep the supply agreement
active and the license to sell the valve exclusive, we purchased quantities of inventory far in excess of demand.
Because our inventory purchases exceeded our sales through the years, we built up our inventory levels. Since
2002, we have sold these paid-for inventories and used the cash it generated to fund operations. During 2004 and
2003, we developed and implemented a plan to ramp-up our own manufacmrmg facility for pyrolytic carbon. By
the end of 2005, this process was substantially complete.

From 1990 through 2003, we paid CarboMedics approximately '$125 miltion for the development of our valve, the
technology to manufacture pyrolytic carbon components, and for pyrolytic valve components manufactured by
CarboMedics.’ By the end of 2002, we had remaining payments due under the technology agreement that totaled
$28 million. n 2003, we negotiated an accelerated but reduced payment for all outstandmg debts to CarboMedics
related to the technology agreement and we pald $12 mlll1on to satisfy all futdre obltgatlons under thxs agreement

Durmg 2002, we reorganized the Company, laying off more than half of our work force, including all executive
management. With the hiring of a new president late in 2002, we started the process of 'rebliilding our sales and
marketing teams, especially in the United States. This rebutldmg is the most significant factor in our operating
expense’ levels durtng the tast four fiscal years. Because salés prlces in the United States exceed selting prices in
most other markets, we believe that our future success will depénd on achieving increased market share in' the
Umted States Our U.S. sales as a percentage of our overall sales have grown from 4% in 2000 to 39% in 2006.
During 2004, wé made our first investments outside the mechamcal heart valve market by completing two business
development agreements. The first, signed in April, was ‘with ErySave AB, for exclusive worldwide rights to
ErySave’s PARSUS filtration technology for cardiac surgery procedures. We had no revenues in 2005 and 2006
from th:s technology, nor do we expect to generate any revenue from this technology in 2007, In November 2004,
we completed a global partnership agreement with CryoCath Technologies, Inc. to market' CryoCath’s surgical
cryotherapy products for the ablation of cardiac arrhythmias. The agreement with CryoCath has resulted in
revenues for our Company since 2005.

During 2005 we continued to develop our business outside the mechanical heart valve market. In June 2005, we
entered infto an exclusive deve]opment supply and distribution agreement with Genesee BioMedical, Inc., under
which GBI will develop, supply,'and manufacture cardiac surgical products to include annuloplasty repair rings, c-
rings and accessories,’ and we will have exclusive worldwide rights to market and sell such preducts. Our
agreement with GBI produced revenues for us in 2006. In June 2005, we entered into a marketmg services
'agreement with Regeneration Technologies, Inc. — Cardiovascular. Under the terms ‘of the agreement, RTI-CV
appointed us as'its exclusive marketing services representative to promote, inarket and solicit orders for RTI-CV's
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processed cardiovascular allograft tissue from doctors;, hospitals, clinics and patients throughout North’ America.
The agreement with RTI-CV resulted in revenues for our Company in both 2005 and 2006. However, the
cardiovascular tissue processing business of RTI-CV was sold during 2006 and as such RTI-CV is discontinuing its
cardiovascular tissue processing operations. Our distribution agreement with RTI-CV will terminate at the end of
2007. ' '

In September 2006, we completed the acq'uisitio'n of all the voting and non-voting stock of 3F, a privately-held
medical device company specializing in manufacturing tissue heart valves. We view the acquisition of 3F as a
significant step in executing our vision of obtaining a leadership position in all segments of the cardiac surgery
market. The acquisition was consummated pursuant to an agreement and plan of merg'er'gated January 23, 2006, as
amended (the “Merger Agreement”). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, upon closing, we paid each 3F
stockholder its prb-rata portion of an initial payment of 9 million shares of our common stock, subject to certain
adjustments. In addition to the initial closing payment, we are qbligated to make additional contingent payments 1o
3F stockholders of up to 10 million shares of our common stock with shares issuable upon obtaining each of the CE
mark and FDA approval of certain key products on or prior to December 31, 2013. Milestone share payments may
be accelerated upon completion of certain transactions involving these key products. The first generation tissue
valve, the ATS 3F Aortic Bioprosthesis, has réceived CE mark and is available for sale in Europe and certain other
international geographies. We expect FDA approval of this product in the second half of 2007. .
Also in September 2006, we entered into an exclusive distribution agreement with Novare Surgical Sy"ste‘m'S; Inc.
Novare is the owner of the Enclose II® cardiac anastomosis assist device (the “Product”), which is a device used by
cardiac surgeons to attach a bypass vessel to the aorta during coronary artery bypass graft surgery. Under the terms
of the agreement, we hold the exclusive right to ‘market, sell and distribute the Product in the United States,
Germany, France and the United Kingdom. We agreed to pay to Novare a transfer price for each box of Pfodtict we
i)urchase,_ Starting in 2007, we are required to purchase an annual minimum amount of the Product, which increases
15% each year. ' L . ‘ ,

\" - . . L oL '-" K N LI - L b
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates . ‘ .

We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be :'::asonablc
under the circumstances. This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based
upon our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
.generally accepted in the United States. The p(eparéfion of these ﬁnancial'_st_atemeﬁts requires us to make estimates
and judgments that affect (1) the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and (2) the related
disclosure of contingent liabilities. At each ba]airipe sheet date, we evaluate our estimates, including but not limited
to, those related to accounts receivable, inventories, long-lived assets, and income taxes. The critical accounting
policies that are most important in fully understanding and evaluating the financial condition and results of
operations are discussed below. o ’ oo o : ’ T

v =

(RN O | bl B . . LT

Revenue Recagnition Policy. ‘A’significant portion of our revenue in the United States, Canada, France, Germany
and the UK. is ggflerated from consigned inventory maintained at hospitals or with field representatives. In these
situations, revenue is-recognized at the time that the, product has been implanted or used. In all other instances,
revenue is recognized at the time product is shipped. Certain independent distributors in select international markets
receive rebates against invoiced sales amounts, In these situations, we accrue for these rebates at the time of the
original sale. The total_ of these accrued reI‘Jatqsl wa$ $0.05 million‘and,,$0. 10 million as of December 31, 2006 Aand
2005, respectively. These rebates are treated as a reduction of revenue. - _ L e
The Company in;:Iudes shipping and handling costs, net of shipping charges invoiced to customers, in cdst{df goods
sold. o ' _ P

. . * . . 1 . b

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts that is -calculated using
subjective judgments and estimates to establish this valuation account. Our distribution in international markets
through independent distributors concentrates Telatively large amounts of receivables in relatively few cqstd;ncr
accounts. We have successfully done business with most of these distributors for many years. We monitor amounts
that are not paid according to ‘terms. We attempt to accrue for potential losses due to non-payment. Financial
conditions in international markets can change very quickly and our aliowance for doubtful accounts cannot
anticipate all potential'chahgf;s.'. Our. a_llowancfe for doubtful accounts was“a'pp'roxi'mat'ely $0.5 million and $O,{4
million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As a percentage of total accounts receivable, the allowance
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was 4.3%at December 31, 2006 and 3.3% at Decémber 31, 2005. The increase in allowance as a percent of total
accounts receivable is due- primarily to'increasing collecnon exposures connected w1th international distributors,
pnman]y in Europe and the Mlddle East. - '

o

Inventory Valuatien. ‘Inventories are recorded at the lower of manufacturmg cost or net'realizable value. - We have
historically had manufacturing costs exceéding net realizable values in certdin international markets requmng us to
record write-downs t0 our inventories due to future selling prices being lower than manufacturing costs in select
international markets. - These write-downs resulted-in lower-of-cost-or-market (“LCM”) inventory reserves,' which
were used as high-cost pyrolytic carbon components purchased froiit CarboMedics were sold into low selling-price
international markets: LCM write-downs were $0.7 million and $0.8 million during 2005 and 2004, respectively.
During thé first quarter of 20062 thé remaining'LCM reserves were fully utilized in connection with the depletion of
our high-priced, but paid-for, inventories of carbon components discussed ‘'above. Consequently, noe LCM write-
downs were recorded in 2006 and future LCM inventory write-downs are not anticipated.
+ . N

We maintain an obsolescence allowance agamst certain finished goods inventories to cover resterilization costs for
expired or néar-éxpired items. ' This allowance totaled $0.2 million at Decémber 3] 2006 and 2005. In addition, we
maintain a reserve against work-in-process (“WIP") inventories to cover scrap costs associated with the completion
of this WIP inventory. This reserve totaled $0.2 million and $0.3 million at December 31, 2006 and 2003,
respectiv ely We also maintain a finished goods obsolescence reserve against 3F tissue inventories with less than

. one year shelf- llfe remammg Thls reserve totaled $0 4 million at December 31, 2006.

Imang:bie Assets ~ We assess the carrymg value of our goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets
annually in accordance with the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS") No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assers. The assessment of potential impairment requires certain Judgments and
estimates, including the determination of an.event indicating impairment, the future cash tlows to be generated by
the asset, risks associated with those cash flows, and the discount rate to be utilized. As of December 31, 2006, we
believe that the carrying value of our intangible assets, including indefinite-lived intangibles, specifically the
CarboMedics carbon technology license, the CryoCath agency ,and distribution agreements and the goodwill
recorded in connection with our acqulsmon of 3F, are recoverable and no impairment charge is currently necessary.
Based on our year-end review of our indefinite-lived intangibles, we have determined that our carbon technology
license has a finite life and, pending a final analysis in the first quarter of 2007, we will begin amomzmg this asset.

Deferred Tax Assets. We have incurred tax losses of approximately $13S million. The losses are carried forward,
for U.S. and state corporate income taxes and can be used to reduce future taxable income, As: a result, at December
31, 2006 we had net deferred tax assets totaling approximately $47.1 million. We have recorded a full valuation
-allowance against these assets because of the limited lives of the carryforwards and our lack of earnings history,
which has resulted‘in our conclusion that it is not more than likely we will be able to utilize our loss carryforwards.
Convertible Debt and Derivative Instruments. We account for embedded derivatives related to our Convertible
Senior Notes under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and related
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Interpretations and Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules,
which require certain embedded derivative financial instruments to be bifurcated from the debt agreement and
accounted for as a liability. Our Convertible Senior Notes contain several embedded derivatives. The valuation of
derivatives requires management to make certain judgments and estimates, including the potential future fair value
of our common stock, the probability of a change in control of the Company and the probability that the debt may
be put back to or called by us.

Stock-Based Compensation. We account for our stock-based employee compensation plans under the recognition
and measurement principles of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“Statement 123(R)”), which
revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in
Statement- 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123. However, Statement 123(R)} requires all
share-based payments to be recogmzed in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is
no longer an alternative,




We adopted Statement 123(R) on January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective transition method. In accordance
with the modified prospective transition method, we have not restated our consolidated financial statements for prior
periods.  Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for 2006 includes stock-based
compensation expense related to our stock-based compensation awards granted in 2006 and those awards granted
prior to, but not yét vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance,with
the provision of SFAS No. 123. Stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based compensation awards
granted, on or after January 1, 2006 will be based on the grant-date fair value estimated in.accordance with the
provisions of Statement 123(R). Prior to the adoption of Statement 123(R), we accounted for our stock-based
employee compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board
(“APB”) Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations. During 2006, we recognized $1.1. million of stock-based
compensation expense and we have $2.0 million of unrecognized ‘compensation expense that will be recognized
over a weighted average period of approximately two years. ; . P ,

v

Results of Operations

The following table provides the dollar and percentage change in our Statements of Operations for 2006 compared
to 2005 and 2005 compared to 2004, -

' P Il

' f i et .l_‘ '

) ) ) Increase .+ L R l_rgcl:ease -
(in thousands) 2006 2005 (Decrease) % 2005 . 2004 (Decrease) %Yo
Net sales ' $40,449  $34,636 $5813 °  168%  $34636 - $28015 ' $6621 ' 23.6%
Cost of sales ‘ 19,568 22,828 (3.260) -14.3% 22 828 21,227 1,601 7.5%
Grossprofit ' - o 20,881 - 11,808 9073 ' 763% 108 C 6788 US020' T 74.0%
Operating expenses: . : - Gt n I
Sales and marketing 21,008 18,948 2060  109% 18948 16,520 © 2428 147%
Research and development - 13,381 1,733 1,648 95.1% 1,733 L0 72 TL.4%
tn-process R&D ‘ 14,400 - 14,400 S ' . e -
Distributor termination expensé 733. - 733 e AT 't . - -
Gerleral and administrative ' 85892 ' 7314 1,578 216% - 7314 - 75954 7 1360 22.8%
“Total operating expenses - 48,414 27995 20419 729% - . 27,995 23,485 4,510 19.2%
B B ' v . . T L "t
Operating loss ) (27.533) (16,187 (11,346) 70.1%: 0 .. {16,187) (16,697) . 510 3.1%
Interest income (expense) {1,669) (338) (1331) 3938% (338) 54 (392) " -725.9%
Change in value of derivative . '
lisbility bifurcated from : ’ R A !
convertible senior notes 1,528 2,131 (603) ,283% o 2131 - 2,131 . -
Net loss : ($27,674) _ ($14,394)  ($13.280) 92.3% ($14,394) - ($16,643) $2,249 13.5%
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The following table presents the statement of operations as a percentage of sales for 2006, 2005, and 2004.

; 2006 2008 2004

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of sales 48.4% 65.9% - 75.8% -
Gross profit 51.6% 34.1% 24.2%
Operating expenses: ) .

Sales and marketing 51.9% 54.7% 59.0% .

Research and development 8.4% 5.0% 3.6%

In-process R&D 35.6% 0.0% 0.0%

Distributor tcrrriination eXpense 18% 00% . 00% ) ! e
., General and administrative 22.0% 21.1% 21.3%
. Total operating expenses 119.7% 80.8% 83.8% . ’
Operating loss -67.0% -46.7% -39.6%
Interest income {expense) -4,1% -1.0% ' 0.2%
Change in value of derivative ’ ' . 2
.. liability bifurcated from

convertible senior notes 31.8% 6.2% 0.0% .

Net loss 684%  41.6%  -59.4% '

-

Net Sales The followmg table provides the dollar and percentage change in net sales inside and outside the United
States and Canada for 2006 compared to 2005 and 2005 compared to 2004.

(iﬁ thousands) 2006 2005 " Increase % 2005 2004 Increase %%

United States ’ $15704  $13,194 $2,510 19.0% $13,194 $6,330 T $3,864  41.4%
Outside United States 24,745 21,442 3,303 15.4% 21,442° 18,685 2757  14.8%
Total $40.449  $34,636 $5.813 16.8% ©  $34,636 $28,015 $6621  23.6%

The following table provides net sales inside and outside the United States and Canada as a percentage of total net
sales for 2006, 2005, and 2004.

20060+ 2005 2004 E ' -
Share of net sales: S . )
- United Stites ) 38.8% 38.1% 33.3%
"Qutside United States - 6l2% 619% . 66.7%
Total . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

12N . .

Our pfiméry product line continues to be the mechanical heart valve (“MHV™), which comprised approximately
82% of our worldwide sales base in 2006 and 90% in 2005. Worldwide MHV sales increased 6.6% in 2006 and
10.9% in 2005 compared to the prior vear.

Since late 2002, we have been building a new sales organization in the United States whlch has grown to five area
directors managing more than 25 sales territories. .Our representation within these territories conmsts of both direct
sales representallves and independent agents U.S. and Canadian MHYV sales dollars were relatively flat i in 2006 and
increased 13.4% in 2005 as compared to the prior year. U.S. and Canadian MHV unit sales increased 3.4% in 2006
and 10.2% in 2005 compared to the prior year, The overall mechanical valve market in the Umted States continues
to decline on an annual basis as eencroachment of tissue valves persist.

i Lo

.~

. - " v i ’ .
During the last four years we aggressively entered several international markets that represent opportunities for
greater mechanical heart valve sales unit growth, but at prices lower than our other direct markets. We believed this
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strategy was appropriate because it allowed us to increase our market share*while-réducing our high priced, but
paid-for, inventories. We also believe that our current lower product costs, related to carbon components
manufactured internally, allows us to now achieve incremental profit margins in these international markets. MHV._
sales dollars in international markets increased 12.0% in 2006 and increased 9.7% in 2005, compared to the prior
year. International MHV unit sales increased 16.4% in.2006 and increased 17.3% in 2005 compared to the prior
year. International ASP was approximately 5% lower for 2006 compared to 2005 due to a shift in sales mix from
higher-margin industrialized countries to lower-margin lesser-developed countries. This mix shift was due in part to
negotiations in 2006 on a new distribution arrangement with one of our larget industrialized-country distributors.

. o s
Both domestic and international net sales in 2006 have been favorably impacted by revenue from the newbusiness
initiatives and partnerships discussed above, mainly revenue derived from surgical” cryotherapy products,
annuloplasty repair rings, c-rings and accessories and processed cardiovascular -allograft tissue. Approximately
18% of our worldwide revenue in 2006 was derived from non-mechanical heart valve products  commetcialized
within the past 24 months, up from 10% in 2005. g
Cost of Goods Sold and Gross Profit. Our gross profit as a percentage of net sales has improved over the last
several years due in part to increased sales in the United States where our MHV average selling prices. are much
higher than in international markets. Our 2006 gross profit benefited in particular from sales ‘of lower cost valves
which are now manufactured entirely in our own facilities. By the end of the first quarter of 2006, we had
substantially depleted our high-priced, but paid-for, inventories of carbon components purchased from
CarboMedics, and had moved into lower-cost, internally-produced carbon material cost layers. This transition to
full in-house manufacture of heart valves favorably impacted our 2006 full-year gross profit by approximately $5.3
million and improved our 2006 gross profit percentage of net sales by approximately 13 percentage points: "

Our gross profit as a percentage of net sales was also favorably impacted by our new business initiatives and
partnerships discussed above. ‘Revenue and gross profits from our new business initiatives also caused 2006 and
2005 full-year gross profit percentages to be higher by approximately 2.7 and 4.0 percentage points, respectively, as
compared to the prior year. . ' '

Our 2006 gross profit as a percentage of net sales was negatively impacted by 1) lower international ASPs, as
discussed above, 2) 3F manufacturing variances incurred during the transition and integration into ATS, and 3)
year-end foreign currency translation adjustments. These three factors combined to lower our 2006 full-year gross
margin as a percentage of net sales by approximately, 2.7 percentage points, . ey o

1

During 2005 and 2004, we developed and implemented a plan to ramp-up our manufacturing facility for pyrolytic
carbon. By the end of 2005, this process was substantially complete. Ramp-up costs totaled approximately $1.8
million and $1.9 million, lowering our full-year gross margin as a percentage of net sales by 5.1 and 6.7 percentage
points for 2005 and 2004, respectively. ) o

We made write-downs to our inventories from 2001 through 2005 due to future selling prices being lower than
manufacturing costs in select international markets. These write-downs resulted in LCM inventory reserves, which
were used as high-cost pyrolytic carbon components purchased from CarboMedics were sold into low selling-price
international markets. We recorded LCM write-downs of $0.7 million in 2005 and $0.8 million in 2004, which
lowered our full-year gross profit percentage of net sales by 2.0 and 2.9 percentage points, respectively. During the
first quarter of 2006, the remaining LCM reserves were fully utilized in connection with the depletion of our high-
priced but paidfor inventories of ‘carbon components discussed above. - Conseqiiently, there were- no LCM
inventory write-downs récorded in 2006. o ’ et

The ATS mechanical heart valve is made of materials that do not deteriorate. Othe$r than the need to resterilize the
valves periodically, there is no risk of perishability. Pyfolytic carbon, which is the substrate used in manufacturing
our valves, has'been the’only material used to manufacture mechanical heart valves for humans for rany years and
remains the most advériced raw materia! for our products. The other sources of prosthetic heart'valves for humans
are cadaver and animal tissues. For our miechanical heart valves, obsolescence issues aré“rerrwmtg due to certain
advantages offered by mechanical heart valves, including superior durability. Similarly, we believe that, given the
lead time that would be required, there is no material risk that there would be the introduction arid FDA approval of
another substrate that would replace pyrolytic carbon prior to the end of the period over which we expect to sell our

inventory of valves. L ‘
. . - ot i N B P R
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Sales and Marketing. 1n the United States, our sales and marketing costs rose approximately 6% in both 2006 and
2005 over the prior year, to $14.4 million-and $13.6 million, respectively. The 2006 increase is due primarily to
$0.6 million of stock compensation expense recognized in 2006 as-we implemented Statement 123(R) effective
January I, 2006. Sales and marketing costs in the United States have increased in both 2006 and 20035 as a result of
the development of marketing programs to support new products and services and to increase the U.S. market share
of our mechanical heart valve. During the past four years, our domestic sales and marketing organization has
steadily grown to more than 25 sales territories in the United States and now includes a marketing department with
15 employees. -
[n'temationa]ly, our sales and marketing costs increased over the prior year approximately 23% in 2006 and 46% in
2005, to $6.6 million and $5.4 million; respectively. The increases in 2006 reflect our continued investment in
international markets, including the early 2005 set up of direct sales operations in Germany, the ‘establishment of a
European support office in the third quarter of 2006 to support the expansion of our direct operations in Europe and
higher sales and marketing expenses in Eastern Europe, Asia and China. The cost increases in 2005 also reflect
separation costs in France and increased sales managemem. During the last four years we have established sales
and/or distribution operations ia France (2003}, China (2004), Germany (2005) and Austria (2006) ;

.
Research and Development. Research and development (“R & D”) increased 95% in 2006 and 71% in 2005 over
the prior year due to costs to develop and improve current and future products and the costs for reguolatory and
clinical activities for these products. The 2006 increase in R & D reflects the addition, in the fourth quarter of 2006,
of approximately $1.3 million of research, clinical and regulatory costs for 3F. The increases in R & D spending fnr
both 2006 and 2005 also reflect staff additions, as well as an increase in the number of R & D programs.

In-Process R & D. In connection with our acquisition of 3F, we recorded a non-recurring in-process R & D charge
of $14.4 million in the third quarter of 2006. See Note 2 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in this
report- for additional information disclosing:the acqulsmon mcludmg the purchase price and the preliminary
allocation of the purehase price. - Co -
- P - - b

The in-process R & D relates to the Enable sutureless tissue valve product line. We used the income approach to
determine the fair value of IPR&D, applying a risk adjusted discount rate of 37% to the dévelopment project’s
projected cash flows. Enable clinical trials have begun in Europe. European market approval is anticipated in 2009
or 2010 with United States approval to follow approximately 1 year later. The development effort is subject to risks
associated with the ultimate clinical efficacy of the Enable product line as well as the results and ‘high costs of the
clinical trials. . ‘ K .

Distributor Termination Expense. In December 2006, we executed agreements with an international distributor in
Europe providing for the termination of the distributer, the conversion of the distributor to a commissioned.sales
representative effective January 1, 2007, and the buy-back of the distributor’s remaining inventory stock. At
. December 31, 2006, we accrued termination payments to be made to the distributor totaling approximately $0.7
million, payable in two equal installments in the fourth quarter of 2007 and the first quarter of 2008. The value of
the inventory to be bought back in 2007 totals approximately $0.7 million. .2

‘General and Administrative. During 2006, major cost increases in general and administrative (“G & A”) expenses
over 2005 were incurred for outside consulting, legal and professional services of $0.8 million, bad debt expense of
$0.5 million ($0¢.3 million of which related to the termination of an international distributor); $0.3 million for
bonuses and incentive compensation, and $0.1 million for amortization of intangible assets acquired in connection
with our acquisition of 3F. These increases were partially offset by the allocation of 401(k) company match
expense from G & A to individual operating. departments begmmng in 2006, -

During 2005, major cost increases in G & A-expenses were for employee salary and beneﬁts ‘of $0.3 million, non-
cash stock compensation and bonus expense of $0.6 million, legal fees of $0.3 million in support of business
development, corporate insurance costs of $0.1 million and outside consulting services of $0.1 mllllon relating
primarily to Board of Directors fees. o '

We recognized total stock compensation expense in 2006 of $1.1 million, of which $0.5 million was included in G
& A expenses and $0.6 million in sales and marketing expenses. Of the $1.1 miltion total stock compensation
expense for 2006, approximately $0.5 million was attributable to the implementation of Statement 123(R). Stock
compensation expense for 2005 totaled $0.6 million, all of which was charged to G & A.

‘

33




In December 2005, we authorized the acceleration of vesting of all otherwise unvested stock options held by our
employees with an exercise price of $3.00 or greater that had been granted under the Stock Incentive Plan or as a
free standing option not under any plan. Options to purchase 1,294,232 shares of common stock (affecting 86
employees) were subject to this acceleration. The decision to accelerate vesting of these options was made
primarily to minimize future compensation expense that we would otherwise recognize in our consolidated
statement of operations with respect to these options pursuant to Statement 123(R).

3

Net Interest Income (Expense). [n 2006 and 2005, net interest expense was attributable primarily to the October
2005 sale of $22.4 million aggregate principal amount of 6% Convertible Senior Notes, discussed further below.
Interest expense on these Notes in 2006 and 2005 was $2.1 million and $0.4 million, respectively, which also
includes amortization of (1) financing costs, (2) the discount related to the implied value of common stock warrants
sold with the Notes, and (3) the discounts related to the bifurcated Convertible Senior Notes derivatives. Sec Note 7
of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Report for more information regarding the Convertible
Senior Notes conversion feature. Interest expense in 2004 through 2006 was also attributable to the credit facility
and bank notes with Silicon Valley Bank, as well as the amortization of the financing costs to set up the credit
facility. Interest income was $0.7 million, $0.3 million, and $0.2 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and
is attributable to the investment of our cash balances.

Change in Value of Derivative Liability Bifurcated from Convertible Senior Notes. During 2006 and 2005, we
recorded non-operating favorable adjustments totaling $1.5 million and $2.1 million, respectively, for the change in
the Convertible Senior Notes derivative liability to fair value. See Note 7 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” in this Report for more information regarding the Convertible Senior Notes derivative liability and our
accounting for the related derivative financial instruments under SFAS No.133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities. -

Income Taxes. We have accumulated approximately $135 million of net operating loss (*NOL") carryforwards for
U.S. tax purposes. We believe that our ability to fully utilize the existing NOL carryforwards could be restricted on
a portion of the NOL for changes in control that may have occurred or may occur in the future and our ability to
generate net income. We have not conducted a formal study of whether a change in control of ATS has occurred in
the past that impairs our NOL carryforwards because we are unable to utilize such NOL carryforwards until we
achieve profitability and because this study would be very expensive to complete. When we attain profitability, we
will conduct a formal study of any restrictions on our carryforwards. We have not recorded any deferred tax asset
related to our NOL carryforwards and other deferred items as we currently cannot determine that it is more likely
than not that this asset will be realized and we, therefore, have provided a valuation allowance for the entire asset.

Net Loss. Our net losses in. 2006, 2005 and 2004 were $27.7 million, $14.4 million and $16.6 million. The
decrease in our net loss from 2004 to 2005 was due primarily to net sales increasing more than operating expenses.
In 2006, the increase in net sales was offset by the $14.4 million non-recurring, in-process R & D charge discussed

above. ; -

Tk

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash, cash equivalents; and short-term investments totaled $10.7 million and $21.7 million at December 31, 2006
and December 31, 2005, respectively. Co

Operating Activities. During 2006, we received cash payments from customers of approximately $41.5 million and
made payments to employees and suppliers of approximately $49.4 million. During 2005, we received cash
payments from customers of approximately $32.1 million and made payments to employees and suppliers of
approximately $42.5 million. Our operating losses during 2004, 2005 and 2006 were significantly funded through
the depletion -of inventories. Since 2002, we have incurred significant expenses, o commercialize the ATS heart
valve in the United States. 'As we build sales in future periods and our cost of inventories decrease, we believe our
operating losses will decrease and we will move steadily towards a cash flow breakeven on sales and eventuaily to
profitability. :
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Investing Activities. 1In 2006, we incurred $3.3 million of transaction costs related to the acquisition of 3F,
including professional, investment banking, attorneys and accounting fees, offset by $2.6 million in cash acqu1red in
the transaction. -~ - T : oo : I

In c_onnecti_on with our global partnership agreements with CryoCath, we have made license fee payments totaling
$0.2 million in 2006 and $1:6 million in 2005. These. payments are refundable. to us upon cancellation of the
agreements. In connection with our exclusive development and licensing agreement with ErySave, we have made
milestone payments totaling $0.3 million in 2006, $0.3 million in 2005 and $0.2 million in 2004. Future payments
under the ErySave agreement, based upon the attainment of developmental milestones, could total an additional
$0.7 million. These payments are expected to occur during 2007 and 2008. . o :

We purchased propelty and equipment of $1 2 million, $2 3 mllllon and 529 mllllon durmg 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively. Capital purchases-during 2005 and 2004 were mainly in support,of-increasing production in our
pyrolytic carbon facility, During-2006, our spending on property and equipment declined as a significant portion of
our pyrolytic carbon facility was completed by the end of 2005. . —

Financing Activities. ,‘We received net proceeds of $0.1 million, $0.5 million and $0.8 million during 2006 and
2005 and 2004, respectively, from the issuance of common stock through exercises of stock options and purchases
under our employee stock purchase plan. In 2004, we raised $12.4 miilion through a private placement equity
offering, net of offering costs.

Also in 2004 we entered into a secured credit facility consisting of a $2.5 million term note and a $6.0 million line
of credit. We, fully drew down the $2.5 million term note, which was used to fund equipment purchases for our
pyrolytic carbon facility, The term note calls for.equal installment payments over 36 months, which commenced in
2003. Accordingly, we made repayments on the note totaling $0.8 million in both 2006 and 2005.

In March 2006, we entered into an amendment to the secured credit facility whereby the bank agreed to waive the
prohibition set forth in the credit facility agreement with respect to our acquisition of 3F, and the bank consented to
such acquisition. In addition, the bank agreed to provide for advances of up to $1.5 million that we could use to
finance or refinance eligible equipment purchased on or after June 1, 2005 and on or before May 31, 2006. We
fully drew down the $1.5 million advance amount. Such equipment advances will be amortized over a 60 month
period and carry an interest rate of prime plus 1. 75%. Repayments on this note in 2006 totaled $0.1 million.

We were subject to certain financial covenants under the secured credit facility agreement, as amended, to maintain
a liquidity ratio of not less than 2.0 to 1.0 and a ret tangible net worth of at least $40 million. At December 31,
2006, the Company was not in compliance with the liquidity ratio covenant. On February 20, 2007, the Company
entered into an amendment to the agreement whereby the liquidity ratioc was decreased to be equal to or greater than
1.6 to 1.0 and the tangible net worth requirement was eliminated, bringing the Company into compliance with the
liquidity ratio covenant at December 31, 2006. The February 2007 amendment also terminated the line of credit
under which we had no outstanding balance at December 31, 2006.

In October 2005, we sold a combined $22.4 million aggregate principal amount of 6% Convertible Senior Notes
(“Notes”) due in 2025, warrants to purchase 1,344,000 shares of our common stock (“Warrants”) and certain
embedded derivatives. ' The Warrants are exercnsable at $4.40 per share and expire in 2010, We are using the
proceeds from the Notes for general’ corporate purposes working capital, capital expendltures and to fund business
development opportunities. The first two interest payments on these Notes were paid in April and October 2006.

The Notes are convertible into common stock at any time at a fixed conversion price of $4.20 per share, subject to
certain adjustments. If fully converted, the Notes would convert into approximately 5,333,334 shares of our
common stock. ' If the Notes are converted under certain circumstances on or prior to October 15, 2008, we will pay
the investors.the interest.they would have received on the Notes through that date. ‘We have the right to redeem the
Notes at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest at any time on or after Octobér 20, 2008, and the
investors have the right to require us to repurchase the Notes at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued interest
on October 15 in 2010, 2015 and 2020. See Note 7 of “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Form
10-K for a full descrlptlon of the terms and provisions of the Notes. ‘
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Cash Management

We estimate that operating costs will remain high in comparison to sales during 2007 and will require the use of
cash to fund operations. We will draw down cash balances to fund operations during 2007. Based upon the current
forecast of sales and operating expenses, we anticipate having cash to fund our operations through 2007. We may
raise additional cash in 2007 to provide operating plan leverage, to fund our strategic investments and accelerate the
development platforms for our 3F tissue technologies and PARSUS, or to opportunistically add accretive products
to our distribution rietwork. As idéntified in Item 1A of this Form 10-K, any adverse change that affects our
revenue, access o the capital markets or future demand for our products will' affect our long-term viability.
Maintaining adequate tevels of working capital depends in part upon the success of our products in the marketplace,
the relative profitability of thase products and our ability to control operating and capital expenses.

SR .

Funding of our operations in future periods may require additional investments in ATS in the form of equity or debt.
Any sale of additional equity or issuance of debt securities may result in dilution'to our stockholders, and we cannot
be certain that additional public or private financing will be available in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, or at
all. 1f we are unable to obtain this additional financing when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce the scope
of, or eliminate one or more aspects of our business development activities, which could harm the growth of our
business. : ' S : o '
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements e

We do not have any “off-balance sheet arrangements” (as such term is defined in Item 303 of Regulation §-K) that
are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues of expenses, operating results, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources. o

‘. ’

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our future payment obligations:

“ Payments Due 8y Period

! Less - One to Three to More than

o ' Than - Three - Five »Five -« ' 4 -
{in thousands) Total One year Years Years Years
Convertible notes payable (1) $£47.936 $1,344 $4,032° $4,032 $38,528
Bank notes payable (1) , 2,674 + 1,308 1,366 - ' .-
Qperating leases 2,7t1 g2 . 1,85 43 -
Purchase obligations (2) 21,750, . 5,000 15,000 1,750 -
Total $75,071 $8,464 -$22,254 . $5,825 . $38,528 -

(1), Includes interest payments. ~ * ' It S . _ ,

. .1 T e T -
(2) [ncludes MHV. component purchases under our supply agreement with CarboMedics. CarboMedics has filed a complaint against us
alleging that we breached certain obligations including an afleged obligation to purchase these components. We believe that the

L

complaint is without merit, that CarboMedics has repudiated and breached the supply agreement, and that we have affirmative claims
against CarboMedics. See ltem 3 “Legal Proceedings — CarboMedics Litigation,” .t -

Cautionary Statements ‘ . PRI

This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of federal securities laws that may.include
statements regarding intent, belief or current expectations of ATS and our management. The, Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a “safe harbor” for forward-looking statements to encourage companies to
provide ‘prospective information without fear of litigation so long as those statements are identified as forward-
looking and are accompanied by meaningful cautionary statements identifying important factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those projected in the statement, We desire to take advantage of these “safe
harbor” provisions. Accordingly, we have identified in Item 1A of this Form 10-K important risk factors which
could cause our actual results to differ materially from any such results which may be projected, forecast, estimated
or budgeted by us in forward-looking statements made by us from time to time in reports, proxy statements,
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registration statements and other written communications, or in oral forward-looking statements made from time-to
time by our officers and agents. We do not intend to update any of these forward lookmg statements afier the date
of thlS Form 10:K to conform them to actual results - . : :

L} ' R

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT

. MARKET RISK, L R
The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal while at the same time maximiizing the
income we receive from our investments without significantly increasing risk. Some of the securities that we
invest in may have market risk. This means that a change in prevallmg interest rates may cause the fair market
value of the principal amount of the invesiment to fluctuate.  For example, if we hold a securlty that was issued
with a fixed interest rate at ‘the then prevailing rate and the prevallmg interest rate later rises, the fair value of the
principal amount of our investment will probably dec]me To minimize this risk, our portfolro of cash
equivalents and short-term investments may be mvested ina vanety of securities, mcludmg commercral paper,
money miarket funds, and both government and non-government debt securities. The average duration of all our
investments has generally been less than one year. Due to the short-term nature of these investments, we beheve
we have no material exposure to interest rate risk arising from our lnvestments .

In the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, France and Germany, we sell our products directly to
hospitals. In other mtematmnal markets, we sell our products to independent distributors who, in turn, sell to
medical hospitals. Léss, termmatlon or ineffectiveness of distributors to effectively promote our product would
have a material adverse effect on our ﬁnancrai condmon and resuits of operatlons ’ |

Transactions with U.S. and non-U.S. customers and distributors, other than in France, Gemtany and the United
Kingdom, are entered into in U.S, dollars, precludmg the need for foreign currency hedges on such sales. Sales
through our French and German subsidiaries are in Euros and sales to the United ngdom through our
European export company are denominated in pounds, so we are subJect to profi tablhty risk arising from
exchange rate movements. We have not used forelgn exchange coritract or similar devices to reduce this risk.
We'will evaluate the need to use foreign exchange contracts or srmr]ar dev1ces rf sales in France and Germany
increase substantially.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Our Consolidated Financial Statements and the reports of our registered public accounting firm are included in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K beginning on page F-1. The index to this report and the financial statements
is included in Item 15 below,

ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not Applicable.

ITEM9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Conatrols and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that information required 1o be
disclosed in the reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer, or CEQ, and acting chief financial officer,
or acting CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEQ and acting CFO, we
evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule
13a-15(¢) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. Based on that
evaluation, our management, including the CEQ and acting CFQ, concluded that our dtsclosure controls and
procedures were effective as of December 31, 2006.
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Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting - .-

‘ ) .
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting,
as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal contro! system was designed to provide
reasonable assurance to our management and Board of Directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of
our published financial statements. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent
limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with

respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and acting CFO, we
conducted an evaluation of the effectivenéss of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework
in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COSO”). During 2006, we acquired 3F. As permitted by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC™), we excluded the 3F operations from our assessment of internal controls over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006. 3F constituted approximately 17 percent of total assets as of December 31,
2006 and less than one percent of net sales for the year then ended. Based on our evaluation under the framework
in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework,” our management concluded that our internal control over financial
reporting was effective as of December 31,2006, ‘ '

Management's assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006,
has been audited by Grant Thomton LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who also has audited
our consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, included in this Form 10-K.
Grant Thornton's attestation teport on management's assessment of our internal control over financial reporting
appears on page F-2 of this Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the

Exchange Act) during the fiscal quarter ended December 31,2006 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting,. '
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE ST
GOVERNANCE

43 . T e
See Part I of this Report for certain information regardmg our executive officers. Pursuant o General Instructlon
G (3), reference is made to information contained under 'the headings “Proposal..l - Electlon .of ‘Directors”,
“Comrmttees of the Board of Directors”, “Nominations”, “Code - of Conduct”, and “SCCtIOI’l 16(a) Beneficial
Ownershlp Repomng Compliance” in our definitive-proxy statement for our 2007 Annual Meetmg of Shareholders
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or before April 30, 2007, which mformatlon is
1ncorpora1ed herein. O R Y T T ST R
Lo . ! . [
ITEM 11. = EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION " v 4 e Db o f20ghe 0 0 o
Pursuant 10 General Instruction G (3), reference.is made to information contained‘under-the headings “Executive
Compensatlon“ and “Compensation of Directors” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2007.Annual Meeting of
Shareholders to be filed with the Secuntles and Exchange Commission on or before Apr11 30 2007 whlch
information is incorporated herein. - - et S P ST IR R A A
\¥4 . "‘

[ . e - oehe ,r T A IR

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS e

]
Pursuant to General Instruction G (3), reference is made to information contained under the heading “Security
Ownershlp of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" ‘and “Equity Compensatlon Pla’ns”’m our definitive
proxy statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the SecUtities and Exchange
Comm1ss:0n on or before April 30, 2007, which information is incorporated herein. b

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND
DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to General Instruction G (3), reference is made to information contained under the headings “Director
[ndependence” and “Related Person Transaction Policy” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2007 Annual
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on or before April 30, 2007,
which information is incorporated herem

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Reference is made to information contained under the heading “Independent Registered Pub-lic‘Aceounting Firm
Fees” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2007 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on or before April 30, 2007, which information is incorporated herein.

"
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‘PART IV

ITEM 15. . EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT. SCHEDULES~ -

)" L \

Financial Statements

_';!',. a, . - N . S AR RS P N L] DR R BT PR S

Our Consolidated' Financial Statements and the Independent Reglstered e .
Public Accountmg Firm’s Reports thereon are included herein (pagé fumbérs '~ - ~.:. i -

referito Pages followmg thé" slgnature page of thlS Annual - Report on Form ’ S T
10:K):- : 1 . B e RS R x
Reports of Independent Reglstered Public Accounting Firms -Page F-1 through
. F-4
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,2006 and 2005 .~ -, .57 Yz - -+ " PageF-5.
Consolidated Staternents of Operations, fot.' the*years. ended December,31,*‘ . SRR B .
"2006,2005,and 2004 o7 o cle - o G L et . s t-1v. sam~ . PageF-6
e G A T S LA B S LR NSRS Lo -
Consolldated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equ1ty for the years - ' .- -k S
ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004 Page F-7
A FURN L e e .. R ) W
Consolldated Statements of Cash‘F lows for the yyears ended December 3],: S A
2006, 2005, and 2004 ) . Page F-8
‘Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended December 31 " o “' :.. Page F-9 through
2006, 2005 and 2004 ‘ Ve L . h F 27
. b ‘s Wt --" LIt T TR "‘.“‘ -
! 1 3 ”-“ )‘;r h :J " 4 £ Y - t ‘
:J-‘ e T e
' PPN 2 ' ' - i . '
o 1 v, T >F . £ . !
! ' A » v N .
LS i
‘ - .!) v 3 L ; " DA | " r: ' -
' ..
LR 4 w1 it ! [
saiwtor Yo . R A LS F S A '
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Financial Statement Schedules ‘ : B -

y , ' : L

1 i ] L "{ .
ATS MEDICAL, INC
SRS SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUAL[FYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
o oot aw by e (in thousands) SRR el
' . ) TN i -f DI TN . + Ve ot .J' ! ' L l .
Additions - ) .
st el ST . R
. Charged m ) v
* ' Balance at Cherged to Other 1 ) ! \ o Balance at
Beginning  Costs and Accounts - * Déductions - . End of
Description - of Period Expenses Describe Describe Period
) ; W ENE . - BN Ty -
Valuation Accounts: B R . L

Deducted from asset accounts: .

Year efided December 31,2006 -~ 0t Co S S L
Allowance for doubtful accounts < oY wg360 $493 $11° (#) Ga2n! W $537
Allowance for obsolete inventories $215 $50- ‘$436 (3 (393 (2) $608

Year Ended December 31, 2005: ' L .

Alléwance for doubtful accounts * _ 0 $38E $0 ro80 * ($28) () $360
Alldwance for obsolete inventories - - $200 T 850 . -$0 - (8350 (@) $215

Yearel;lded December 31,2004; & - h - A

Allowance for doubtful accounts $270 g150 $0 ($32) (1) $388
. Alléwance for obsolete inventories ..« - S $200 . %0 : . $0 ' $q $200
(1} Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries. PR et ' e o

{2) Changes in estimate recovered through a ‘reduction in expenses.
(3) Obsolescence reserve for inventories recorded in connectlon with the purchase accounting for the 3F acqu1sntmn
4 Allowan ce for doubtful accounts recorded in conriection with the purchase accouriting for the 3F acquisition. -

v :. e - ) . L ] P . '

[ R

All other schedules have been omitted because of absence of conditions under which they are required or because
the requirad mformanon is 1ncluded in the ﬁnanelal statements ot notes thereto. ' '

v

TP ']' P ERE . ™ o . et ol

Exhibits ) - ' . o
Exhibit B RV TR P LB TAT I S e b
Number -  Description =+ =+ * 007 b R
R i

2. 1%+ Agreement and Plan’of Merger dated as of January 23, 2006, by and among ATS Medical, Inc.,
" ... v Seabiscuit Acquisition Corp +"3F ' Theérapeutics, Inc.; and Boyd D. Cox, as Stockholder
Representative (Incorporated by’ reference: to Exhibit 10. Iof the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on January 26, 2006). M

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 13; 2006, by and among
ATS Medical, Inc., Seabiscuit Acquisition Corp., 3F Therapeutics, Inc. and Boyd D. Cox, as
" * stockholder representative {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current

- Report on Form 8- K fi Ied'on June 19 2006, . 5

, i “
. . P | o “

23 Amendment No. 2 to Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 10, 2006 by and among
- + i ~the Company, Seabiscuit Acquisition Corp., 3F Therapeutics, Inc.. ‘and! Boyd D. Cox, as
<"« 7 stockholder representative (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the'r Company’s Current
Repon on Form 8-K filed on August 15, 2006) .
‘ o T TR P *
24 Escrow- Agreement effectivé as of September 29, 2006 by and-among the’ Company, Boyd D.
Cox, as stockholder representatlve and Wells Fargo Bank, N A ﬁled herewith.

. *
: R : . . Dok v
. L R oy . . f . . - i,

PR . i — f

41 i




2.5%%%

26

31

3.2

4.1
4.2
43
4.4

4.5

10.1%*
10.2%*

10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6

10.7

Option and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 31, 2005, by and among ATS Medical,
Inc., em Vascular, Inc., Keith L. March, M.D., John Havek, Walter L. Sembrowich and James E.
Shapland I1, filed herewith.

Letter Amendment, dated as of November 29, 2006, to the Option and Asset Purchase Agreement,
dated as of May 31, 2005, by and among ATS Medical, Inc., em Vascular, Inc., Keith L. March,

M.D., John Havek, Walter L. Sembrowich and James E. Shapland 11, filed herewith.

Second Restated Articles of In‘c‘orporation of ATS Medical, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2006 (the “September 2006 Form 10-Q™)). . .

Bylaws of the Company, as amended February 13; 2007 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 20, 2007).

Specimen certificate for shares of common stock of the Company {incorporated oy reference 10

" Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,

1997 (the “1997 Form 10-K™)). .
Indenture, dated as of October 7, 2005, between ATS Medical, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank,
National Association, as Trustee (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 12, 2005 (the “October 12, 2005 Form.8-K”)).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated October 13, 2005, to the Indenture dated as of October 7,
2005, by and between ATS Medical, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Trustee
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Company’s October 18, 2005 Form 8-K).

Form of 6% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (lncorporéted by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 18, 2005 (the “October 18, 2005 Form
8-K7). - : e :

Form of Warrant (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 4.2 of the Company s October 18, 20065
Form 8-K).

-

1987 Stock Option and Stock Award Plan, as restated and amended to date (Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

June 30, 1997)
¥ bﬂ ro

“ATS Medlca] Inc. 2000 Stock lncentweJ Plan as amended through September 25, 2006

(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit.10.2 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 29, 2006). A NIRRT .

Reserved. , Coa
. 6 . VI I .o P

Lease Agreement between the Company-and Crow Plymouth Land Limited Partnership dated

December 22, 1987 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10{d) to the Company’s Reglstratlon

Statement on Form S-18, File No. 33-34785-C (the “Form S-18)).

JAm-endment No. 1 to_Lease Agreement between the Company and,Crow Plymouth Land Limited

Partnership, dated January 5, 1989 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to the Form S-18).

Amendment No. 2 to Lease Agreement between the Company and Crow Plymouth Land Limited
Partnership, dated January 1989 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit:10(f) to the Form S-18).

Amendment No. 3 to Lease Agreement between the Company and Crow Plymouth Land Limited
Partnership, dated June 14, 1989 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(g) to the Form S-18).
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10.9*
10.10% -

10.11%*

10.12
10.13*
10.14*
10.15%

10.16 -

1017 ¢ -~ -

1018

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22 |

10.23 .

10.24*

10.25* ‘

Amendment No. 4 to Lease Agreement between the Company and Plymouth Business Center

~ Limited Partnership, dated February 10, 1992 (Incorporated by reference to .Exhibit 10.8 to the

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996 (the “1996 Form
10-K™)).

OEM Supply Contract dated September 24 1990, with CarboMedlcs Inc. {Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the 1996 Form 10-K).

License Agreement dated September 24, 1990, with CarboMedics, Inc. (Incorporated by reference

- to Exhibit 10.11 to the 1996 Form 10-K).

Employment Agreement between the Company and Mlchae] D. Dalc dated September 18, 2002
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended 2002

(e %2002 Form 10- K"). . - _ D

Helix BioCore, Inc. Self-Insurance Trust Agreement dated February 28, 1991 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the 1996 Form 10-K).

Amendment 1 to Ltcense Agreement dated December 16, 1993, with CarboMedtcs Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

Amendment 4 to O E. M Supply Contract dated December 16, 1993, w1th CarboMedics, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the 1993 Form 10-K).

oyt N T *

Amendment 5 10 O E.M. ‘Supply Contract dated September 1, 1994, w1th CarboMedics, Inc
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the 1994 Form 10-K}. - |

Letter Agreement, between the Company and Sulzer CarboMedics, Inc., dated June 27, 2002
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 20, 2002). ;

. Form of Internationa! Distributor Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 10.22 to the

1994 Form 10-K).

‘Reserved. ao - N . "

Amendment No. 5 to Lease Agreement benyeen the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc., dated
May 30, 1996 (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 10.22 to the 1996 Farm 10-K}. "

Reserved.

L

 Amendment No. 6 to Lease Agreement between the Company and St.,Paul Properties, Inc., dated

November 25, 1997 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the 1997 Form 10-K)}.

1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended through September 25, 2006 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1, to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 29,
2006). . " P : t

Reserved. . . ’ o - R
Carbon Agreement by and between Su]zer CarboMedlcs Inc: and ATS Medlcal Inc., dated
December 29, 1999 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on January 13, 2000 (the “January 2000 Form 8-K”). b

AN T

Amendment 7 to OEM Supply Contract by and between Sulzer CarboMedlcs Inc. and ATS

Medical, Inc., dated December 29, 1999 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to the January
2000 Form 8-K).
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10.38

10.26*

10.27
10.28
1‘6.29
10300
10.31 .

10.32

10.33**

1034+ '
10.35**

10.36*

10.37

T
I

10.39*

Amendment 2 to License Agreement by and between Sulzer CarboMedics, Inc. and ATS Medical,

‘Inc., dated December 29, 1999 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99, 3 to the January 2000

Form 8-K).

Amendment No. 7 1o Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc., dated
May 18, 2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000). .

‘Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc., dated April 29, 2000

(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended June 30, 2000).
Amendment No. 8 to Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul VPr'operties, Inc., dated
December 14, 2000.(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000 (the “2000 Form 10-K™)).

Amendment 8 to OEM Supply Contract by and between Sulzer CarboMedics, Inc. and ATS

Medical, Inc., dated,November 3, 2000 (Incorporated by reference to Exhlbrt 10.33 to the 2000
Form 10-K). ‘. -t
ot { ‘ can -

Form of U.S, Distribution Agreement (lncorporated by reference to Exhlblt 10.34 to the 2002
Form 10-K}. o N
Amendment No. 9 to Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc., dated
September 8, 2003 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003),

Bl
Form of Employee Stock Option Agreement under the company’s 2000 Stock Incentive.Plan
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report: of Form 10-Q for.
the quarter ended September 30, 2004 (the “September 2004 Forrn 10-Q"})).-

30

: Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Company’s 2000 Stock Incentive Plan

(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s September 2004 Form 10-Q).

Form of Non-Plan Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.4 10 the Company s September 2004 Form 10 Q)

Development and Llcense Agreement dated as of ‘April, 26, 2004 between the Company and
ErySave AB (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s September 2004 Form

10-Q).

- Credit Agreement between Silicon Valley. Bank and the Company, dated July 28, 2004

(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Séptember 2004 Form 10-Q}.

* Amendment No. 10 to Lease Agreement between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc. dated

as of October |, 2004 ‘(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 (the “2004 Form 10-K”)).

Agent Agreement dated November 9, 2004 between the Company and CryoCath Technologies,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 10 i to the Company s Current Report on Form 8 K

- 'filed on May 10, 2005). .

Dlstnbunon Agreement dated November 9, 2004 between the Company and CryoCath
Technologies, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt lO 2 to the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on May 10, 2005) 4
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1041 ' - Letter Agreement between the Company and Centerpulse USA Holding Co. dated July 9, 2003
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 26 2003) .

. . . ' \ « ot

1042 ' " “ Amendmient dated June 22, 2005, to Development and'License’ Agreement between the Company
and ErySave AB (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q) for the quarter June 30, 2005 (the “June 2005 Form 10-Q)).

. . [ ' [

10.43* + ‘Marketing Services Agreement.wrth'AIabama Tissue Center; Inc. (also known as Regeneration
Technologies, Inc. — Cardiovascular), a subsidiary of Regeneration Technologies, Inc., effective
as of July 21, 2005 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the Company’s Annuai Report

o + on Form 10-K for the' year ended December 31 2005 (the “2005 Form' 10 K”))

10.44* ExcluSWe Development, Supply and Drstrlbutron Agreement” with Genesee BioMedical, Inc.,
dated June 23, 2005 (lncorporated by reference to Exhrbrt 10.44 of the 2005 Form 10-K). )

. . VI | PR (L L)

1045 ¢ Amendment Agreement dated March 24, 2005, to the Credit Agreement between Silicon Valley
Bank and the Company, 'dated July 28, 2004 (Incorporatéd by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on March 30, 2005).

T 1 I N . ' A

10.46%* + - 2005 ATS Medical Management Incentive Compensation™Plan (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

2005)
ST . - : ' L : ; T
10.47 ' Securities Purchase’ Agreement dated as’ of October 6, 2005, by and among ATS Medical, Inc.

and the Buyers listed on the Schedule of Buyers attached thereto as Exhibit A (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company s October 12 2005 Form 8- K)

. .
- . '

10.48- - - Amendment No. L, dated October 12, 2005 to the Securttles Purchase Agreement by and among
ATS Medical, Inc. and the Buyers listed therein; dated as:of October 6, 2005 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhlbrt 10 l of the Company’s October 18, 2005 Form 8-K).
- . . J.! ., 1
10.49 Reglstratron Rrghts Agreement dated as of October 7, 2005, by and among ATS Medical, Inc.
-and the Buyers listed on the Schedule of Buyers attached thereto as Exhibit A (Incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s October 12, 2005 Form 8- K) i

1]
" [

o .
10.50 Amendment No. 1, dated October 13, 2005, to the Registration nghts Agreement by and among
ATS Medical, Inc. and the Buyers listed therein, dated as of October: 7, 2005 (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s October 18 2005 Form 8-K).
10.51 . Warrant Agent Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2003, between ATS Medical, Inc. and Wells
- Fargo Bank, National Association, as Warrant Agent (]ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
the Company’s October 12, 2005 Form 8-K}. A

10.52%*.. Form ‘of Lock-Up Agreéinent with Executive Officers (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1
: of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 29, 2005). *'j‘

10.53%* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Company $-2000 Stock Incentive Plan
{Incorporated by reference to.Exhibit 10.53 of the 2005 Form 10-K).

10.54 + . Amendment, dated March 29,12006, to the Loan and Secunty Agreement between Silicon Valley
" Bank and the-Company, dated’ July 28, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 3, 2006). . .

10.55%* 2006 ATS Medical Management Incentive Compensation Plan (Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006 (the “June 2006 Form 10-Q™)). L :
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10.56**

10.57*
o

10.58
10.59
10.60
10.61*
10.62%*

10.63**

L

10.64

21
23.1 -
232

311
31.2; .
32.1

322 -

Form of Change in Control Agreement executed by executive officers of the Company
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s June 2006 Form 10-Q).

Exclusive Distribution Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2006 by and t>etween the Company
and Novare Surgical Systems, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.to the Company’s
September 2006 Form 10-Q). . . ) L

Amendment No. 2 dated September 1, 2006, to Original Lease Agreement dated April 29, 2000,

. .by and-between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to the Company’ s September 2006 Form 10-Q).

I
f

Amendment.No. 11 dated September [, 2006, to Ongmal Lease Agreement dated December 22,
1987, by and between the Company and St. Paul Properties, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to

- Exhibit 10.3 to the Company s September 2006 Form 10-Q).

f . r’
Arnendment, dated August 15, 2006, to the Loan and Security Agreement between Silicon Valley

«. Bank and the Company, dated July 28, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,1 to the

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 17, 2006).

. _ : A
Amendment, effective as of January 1, 2007, to Marketing Services Agreement with Alabama
Tissue Center, Inc., (also known as Regeneratlon Technologies, Inc. — Cardiovascular), filed
herewith.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2006, between the Company
and Richard A. Curtis (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit. 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 13, 2006).
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for awards to Non-Employee Directors under
2000 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit.10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form.8-K filed on February 20, 2007). .
Amendment Agreement, dated February 15, 2007, to the Loan and Security Agreement between
.Silicon Valley Bank and the Company, dated July 28, 2004 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to,the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 23, 2007).
e . T T

List of Subsidiaries.

e R S B Y g

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP - )
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

Cemf' catlon of Chief Executwe Of’ﬁcer pursuant to Rule 133-14(3) and Rule 15d—l4(a) of' the
Securities Exchange Act, filed herewrth . L

yCertification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule l3a-l4(a) and Rule |5d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act, filed herewith, Ca

» Certification of the.Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18-U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted

pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith,

Certification of the Chief.Financial Officer pursuant to 18- U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted

. pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, filed herewith.

[ .. - ]
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*Pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,"as amended, confidential portions of these exhibits
have been deleted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for
confidential treatment. :

**Represents a management contract or ‘compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit
pursuant to Item 15 of Form 10-K.

*++ Exhibits and Schedules to the Merger Agreement have been omitted but will be provided supplementally to the
Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
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SIGNATURES .

o " .t it ¥, !

3 B ¥

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the reglstram has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, . Vi .

Dated: March 15, 2007 : ATS MEDICAL, INC.
By /s/ Michael D. Dale
Michael D. Dale
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 15, 2007,

Signature Title

Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board
/s/ Michael D. Dale (principal executive officer)

Michael D. Dale

a1
Acting Chief Financial Officer
/s/ Michael R. Kramer {principal financial and accounting officer)

Michael R. Kramer

hrﬁ
/s/ Steven M. Anderson Diyé;:tor
Steven M. Anderson , Ae
/s/ Theodore C Skokos Djrg;:tor
Theodore C. Skokos .
/s/ Robert E. Munzenrider Digz;z:ctor
Robert E. Munzenrider B
/s/ Eric W. Sivertson Director

Eric W. Sivertson
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Shareholders
ATS Medical, Inc. ‘ ) i

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of ATS Medical, Inc. (the “Company”) as of
December 21,.2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and
cash flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s man-
agement. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. -
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining; on a test basis,
evidence su'pporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. , An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2006, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended, in.conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. . . 4 : o o

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2006, the Company changed
its method of accounting for: share-based payments to adopt Statement of :Finincial Accounting Standards No.
123(R), Share-Based Payment. . ' oo ' ‘

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements taken as a
whole. The accompanying Schedule II is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part
of the basic financial statements. This schedule has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit
of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic
financial siaternents taken as a whole. ' ' 5 '
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on criteria established in fnternal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated March 13, 2007 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of ‘the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. o

/s/ Grrant Thornton LLP 0"

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 13, 2007




Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders LN ) -,
ATS Medical, Inc. . s

‘We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of ATS Medical, Inc. (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2005 and the related consolidated. statements of operations, changes in shareholders' equity and
cash flows for each of the two vears in the period ended December 31, 2005. Qur audits also included the
financial statement schedule presented at-Item 15. These financial statements and schedule are the-responsibility
of the Company's management. Our respons:blllty is to express an opinion on these financial statements and
schedule based on our audits. < . . . . .
e - L .
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan.and perform the audit to obtain.reasenable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and-disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We'believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
LA SR . T

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2005, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when consideréd in relation to the basic consolidated ﬁnan(:lal statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. o .

1

' '

g . /s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

g - . , . B4 o .‘! . ' ¢
Minneapolis, Minnesota oo . ‘ Lo,
March 6, 2006, except for Note 7, : o
as to which the date is July 13, 2006~
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Flrm ,

|
3

Board of Directors and Shareholders . ‘ ' ' .
ATS Medical, [nc _ i B o ‘ ‘

. i P ' . .. vy Lo A
We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting, that ATS Medical, Inc. {(the “Company”) maintained effective internal control
over finarcial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framewoik issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). The
Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility. is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s 1ntemal ‘control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s
assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinions. lil :
A company’s inigmal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of ﬁnanmal statements for external purposes in
accordancé with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s 1ntemal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1} pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. i
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness of the internal
control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
* deteriorate,

As indicated in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,”
managemnent’s assessment of and conclusien on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of 3F Therapeutics, Inc. (“3F”), which is inciuded in the December 31, 2006
consolidated financial statements of ATS Medical, Inc. and constituted approximately 17 percent of total assets
as of December 31, 2006, and less than one percent of net sales for the year then ended. Management did not
assess the =ffectiveness of interna! control over financial reporting at 3F as permitted by the Securities and
Exchange Commission for entities acquired within the latest fiscal year. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of ATS Medical, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial
reporting of 3F.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in fnternal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.




We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public:éémpany' Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of the Company as of and
for the year ended December 31, 2006, and our report dated March 13, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on
those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph related to the
Company’s change, effective January 1, 2006, in its method of accounting for share-based payments.

fs/ GRANT TILIORNTON‘_LLP

i

Minneapolis, Minnesota - o

March 13, 2007 | o
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ATS Medical, Inc.

,Consolidated Balance Sheets .

« (In Thousands, Except Share Data)

Assets
Current assets: o
Cash and cash equivalents
" Short-term investments: .o,

Accounts receivable, less allowance of $537 in 2006
and $360 in 2005 o
Inventories
Prepaid expenses -
Total currént dssets .
oL * " {.

) Leasehdld—imbrovg;menfs, ﬁlr;l’ipl‘lre,_ éng eﬁuiprﬁegt, net

Goodwill
Other intangible assets_:

Other assets

~ Total assets ' a

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity -~ '
Current liabilities:

Current maturities of note payable

Accounts payable , o

Accrued compensation

Accrued distributor liabilities

Other accrued liabilities : -
Total current liabilities

Convertible senior notes payable, net of unamortized discounts
and bifurcated derivatives of $5,006 in 2006 and $3,624 in 2005

Bank notes payable

Shareholders’ equity: -
Common stock, $0.01 par value:
Authorized shares — 100,000,000

Issued and outstanding shares ~ 40,320,487 in 2006 and

31,114,131 in 2005
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Unearned compensation
Total sharcholders’ equity
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.

'

December 31 |

2006 2005
$ 4,612 $16,620 - .
6,092 . 5,089 .
10,704 21,709
. .., o “‘
11,677 10453 - .-
18,782 - 20286 - »
1,175 .-, . 1204 .
42,338 . v 54652
[
8,213 ! 8;330 LA
5,002 s
29,263 22,015,
4,934 L 446 -
$ 85,840 . §85.443
$ 1,133 $ 1833, -
3,183 ) 3,598
2,589 2,394
..o 1,024 S - 152 .
1,433 658
9,362 "8,.235
Sy e
17,394 18,776
1,194 903
403 311
166,411 139,743
(109,569) (81,895)
645 (64)
- (566)
57.890 57,529
$ 85,840 $ 85,443




ATS Medical, Inc.

Consolidated Statements:of Operations
(In Thousands, Except Per-Share Amotnts)

NG S -
Net sales
Cost of goods'sold:

Gross profit " : TRy
toy ¥4

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development :
In-process research and devélopment
Distributor termination expense
General and administrative

Total operatin’g expenses 2

Operating loss

Interest income - Lo

Interest expense

Change in value of derivative liability bifurcated from
convertible senior notes <5 . .7

Net loss

Net loss per share:
Basic and diluted

Weighted zive'lrage number of shares outstanding:
Basic and diluted - :

See accompanying nofes.

i

Year Ended December 31

2006 2005 2004
$40,449 $ 34,636 $28,015°
19,568 22,828 . 21,227
20,881 11,808 6,788
21,008 18,948 - ¢ 16,520
3,381 1,733 T o101

14,400 : - SR
733 - -
8,892 7,314 5,954

48414 - 27,995 . .+ 23485

(27,533) (16,187) (16,697)
725 .323- .. 156

(2,394) o (661) (102)
1,528 2,131 -

$(27,674) $(14,394) $(16,643)
$ (0.83) $ (046) .. $ (0.58)
33,537 31,009 - 28.856




ATS Medical, Inc.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(In Thousands}

Balance at December 31, 2003

Stock issued under the Employee -
Stock Purchase Plan

Stock options exercised

Stock issued in private placement, -
net of offering costs :

Unearned compensation related to
stock options

Amortization of unearned
compensation .

Comprehensive loss:
Change in foreign currency
translation
Net loss for the year

Comprehensive loss

1
Balance at December 31, 2004
Stock issued under the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock options exercised

Warrants issuéd in connection with
sale of conyénibl:l: debt securities
Unearned compensation related to
stock options and ‘awards
Amortization of unearned
compensation
Comprehensive loss:
Change in foreign currency
translation
Net loss for the year
Comprehensive loss

Batance at December 31, 2005
Stock issued under the Employee
Stock Purchase Plan

Stock options exercised -

Stock issued in connection with the
acquisition of 3F Therapeutics
Stock compensation expense
Stock issuance costs
Reclassification of unearned
compensation in accordance with
the adoption of SFAS 123R
Restricted stock units issued
Comprehensive loss:
Change in foreign currency
translation
Net loss for the year
Comprehensive loss

Balance at December 31, 2006

See accompanying notes.

Accumulated ' : .
Other
_ Additional Compre-
Common Stock Paid-In  Accumulated hensive Unearned ‘
Shares Amotnt Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Compensation- : Total
S : ' - PR ;"_‘-!'..'-'!'u‘:'."
26,779 $ 268 $123,412  $(50,858) $ 5l $.(70) - ¢$+72,803
. Lo ]
9 - 1 297 - - B T 1
334 3 438 - - - - 461
1 e e
3,687 k¥ 12,381 - x Lt - ‘ - 12418
. Lo * -1"
- - 14 - L= N TR
- ' L,y
- - - - - 60 ... 60
[ U
_ - _ - 44 L. 44
- - - (16,643) ... - — o et (16,643)
. (16,599)
* ! t He .
30,890 309 136,562 (67,501) 95 . (24) 69,441
A RS AL A
120 1 347 - - - -2 348.
104 1 185 - - . - 186
| : : ' -
- - 1,522 - - R k-
- - 1,127 - b2 B
- - - - - 585, + .. 585
T | - " ’ "
- - - - (159) S (159)
- - - (14,394) - ) - (14,394)
. . ' " o " {14,553)
31,114 3N 139,743 (81,895) (64) . (566) 57,529
104 1 217 - - = 218
48 - _ 44 - - - . 44
9,000 90 26,010 - - .. - 26,100
- - " 1,103 - o= - 1,103
- 7 - (45) - - B : @5
1 . ) { . NSRS
- - (566) - . - 566 -
54 1 95) - - . - . (99
I Tes vy
- - - - 709 .- 709
- - - (27,674) - - (27,674)
(26,965)
40,320 $ 403 $ 166,411 S (109,569) $ 645 $ - $ 57,890
F-7




- . ATS Medical, Inc. ) -

| . N Consolldated Statements of Cash Flows .
' {In Thousands)

Year Ended December 31

. See accomparnying notes.

-

. o 2006 2005 2004
Ope;‘ati_ng‘activities, . R . i L. i
Net loss $(27.674) 5(14,394) 5(16,643)
- Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
‘" operating activities: oo :
Depreciation and amortization 1,924 1,563 ..-1,088
*{. Loss on disposal of equipment 26 35 17 .
Non-cash interest expense 463 138 12
Stock based compensation 1,103 585 60
* . Change in value of derivative liability bifurcated from :
‘convertible senior notes {1,528) (2,131) -
‘In- -process research and development charge related to 3F e
acquisition 14,400 - -
¢ - Lower of cost or market adjustment - 700 819
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisition: !
Accounts receivable 1,010 (2,560) (2,954)
4 - Inventories ' 2,845 5,317 9,255
. -1 Accounts payable and accrued expenses * 2,075) 292 3779 . . .
o ‘j Other ; (324); (163) (543) ;
. Net cash used in operating activities 2 (9,830) (10,618) (5,110)
AT . “ry - .
Investing activities i -

- Purchases of short-term investments (10,326) (5,503) . {8,688), ,
Maturities of short-term investments 9,336 v 8,106 £ 2,999 - -
Payments for acquisition, net of cash acqu:red (717 - .
Payments for other intangibles (521) (1,817) (232) )
Purchases of leasehold improvements, fumlture and equipment (1,208) (2,278) (2 860)'

Net cash used in mvestmg activities ! {3,436) (1,492} (8,781}

‘ Financing activities

Proceeds from sale of convertible senior notes, warrants and
embedded derivatives, net of financing costs - 20,817 -

. Advances on bank notes payable ! 1,500 - 2,500
Payments on bank notes payable R 909 (764) -
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock ' 123 534 13,177
Net cash provided by financing activities 714 20,587 15,677
Effect of exchange rate changes 544 (159} 44
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (12,008) - 8,318 1,830

" Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of vear- 16,620 8,302 6,472
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year § 4,612 $ 16,620 $ 8302 °
Supplemental cash flow information
Net'cash paid during the year for interest $ 1,642 “§ 201 $ 8

' Significant non-cash transactions:

Reclassification of unearned compensation to additional paid-in
capital in accordance with the adoption of SFAS 123R $ 566 - -
Reclassification of convertible note derivative liability against

' ‘related discount (1,627) - =

Stock issued for acquisition 26,100 - -




ATS Medical, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Busiq‘:s.s Activity

ATS Medical, Inc. (the “Company”) develops, manufactures, and markets medical devices. The Company
“operates in one business segment and its interest lies with devices used by cardiovascular surgeons in the
cardiac surgery operating theater. Currently, the Company participates ‘in the markets for mechanical
bileaflet and live tissue replacement heart valves, allograft tissues, the surgical treatment of atrial
ﬁbnllanon and other cardlac surgery devices, tools and accessories. ‘

The-Company has recognized net losses of approximately $16.6 mllhon in 2004, $14.4 million in 20035,
and $27.7 million in 2006 and has an accumulated deficit of $109.6 million at December 31, 2006. The
Company believes it has sufficient cash resources to meet its cash needs through 2007, but it may need to
" raise additional funds for 2008 and beyond.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and wholly owned sales and
distribution subsidiaries in the U.S., France, Germany (since its inception in February 2005) and Austria
(since its inception in July 2006), after elimination of intercompany accounts and transactigns. Effective
January 1, 2006, the U.S. sales and distribution subsidiary was merged into ATS Medical, Inc.

Cash Fquivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of
purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are carried at cost which approximates market value, and’
include $0.9 million and $0.4 million in Euro-denominated foreign banks at December 31 2006 and 2005
respectwely

Short—'l‘erm Investments : ' S

: . ;
Short term investments are comprised of debt securities and are classified as available-for-sale. Avallable-
for-sale securmes are carried at cost which approximates fair value

| r . -

Accounts‘ Receivable

Credit is extended based on evaluation of a customer’s financial condition and, generally, collateral is not
required. Accounts receivable are generally due within 30-180 days and are stated at amounts due from
customers net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable outstanding longer than the
contractual payment terms are considered past due. The Company determines its allowance by considering
a number of factors, including the length of time trade accounts receivable are past due, the Company’s
previous loss history, the customer’s current ability to pay its obligation to the Company, and the condition
of the general economy and the industry as a whole. The Company writes off accounts receivable when
they become uncollectible, and payments subsequently received on such receivables are credlted to the
allowance for doubtful accounts.

Inventories

The Company carries and relieves inventories at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out basis) or'market. Prior
to 2006, write-downs were recorded on a portion of its inventories to provide for the lower of cost or
market value expected to be realized on future sales in lesser-developed countries. The write-downs were
$0.7 million and $0.8 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively. These write-downs were included in cost of
goods sold in the statements of operations.

F-9
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-

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, inventories consisted of the.following (in thousands):

' . - . 2006 2005
Raw materials v $ 4,615 $ 5,047
Work-in-process ' 2,948 ., 4462
Finished goods 11,219 “ 1,777

-

518,782 $21,286

. . & T, L . ! v T
Other Assets Lo .
o L o o : e £l .
Prior to obtaining directors’ and officers’ liabitity insurance, the Company had placed monies into a self-
insurance trust to provide coverage for potential losses. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the deposits
within the trust amounted to, $0.5 million and $0.4 million, respectively, and are included in other assets.

Leasehold -Improvements, Furniture, and Equ'ipment o . : ' .
L]
Leaschold improvements, furniture, and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided using the

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:
irl

-

Furniture and fixtures - " . . ) 7 years
. Equipment , e Sto 17 years
Computers . o - - , ' . . 2 years

.
'

¢ - o : . : b L
Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining related lease term or estimated useful life,
whichever is shorter. " :
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets . _ ' o N
Indefinite-lived intangible assets include technology licenses and agreements and goodwill (see Note 6)
and are carried at cost. The Company applies Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No.
142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” to its intangible assets, which prohibits the amortization of
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and requires that these assets be reviewed for impairment at
least annually. Management reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually as of the
last day of the second quarter, or more frequently if a change in c1rcumstances or occurrence of events
suggests the remaining value may not be recoverable. The test for impairment requires management to
make estimates about fair-value which are based either on the expected undiscounted future cash flows or
on other measures of value such as the market capitalization of the Company. If the carrying amount of the
assets is greater than the measures of fair value, impairment is considered to have occurred and a write-
down of the asset is recorded. Management completed the annual impairment tests in the second quarter of
2006 and determined that the Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets were not impaired.

Revenue Recognition ) oo .

A significant portion of the Company’s revenue in the United States Canada, France, Germany and the
United ngdom is generated from consigned inventory maintained at hospitals or , with field
representatives. In these situations, revenue is recognized at the time that the product has been implanted or
used. In all other instances, revenue is recogmzed at the time product is shipped. Certain independent
distributors in select international markets receive rebates against invoiced sales amounts. In these
situations, the Company accrues for these rebales at the time of the original sale. The total of these acerued
rebates was $0.05 million and $0.10 million as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These
rebates are treated as a reduction of revenue. . . .
The Company mcludes sh1pp1ng and handlmg costs net of shipping charges invoiced to customers, in cost
of goods sold.

4
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions jthat affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates. ) .o -

}\dvertising and Proniotional Costs o

[
"

Advertising and promotlonal costs are charged to operations in the year incurred. Advertising and
promotional costs charged to operations during 2006, 2005, and 2004 were 30.2 mllllon $0.1 million and
$0.1 million, respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation

H . - .
The financial statements for the Company’s European operations are maintained in Euros. 'All assets and
liabilities of the Company’s international subsidiaries are translated to U.S. dollars at year-end exchange
rates, while the statement of operations is translated at average exchange rates in effect during the year.
Translation adjustments arising from the use of differing exchange rates are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions
were not significant durmg 2006, 2003, or 2004. Intercompany recewables/payables are deemed to be of a
long-term nature and any transaction gains/losses are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss).

Income Taxes !
The Company accounts for income taxes under SFAS No 109 “Accountmg for Income Taxes.” Deferred
taxes are. prov1ded on an asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized for
deductible temporary differences and operating loss and. tax credlt carry forwards and deferred tax
liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences
between the amounts of assets and liabilities recorded for income tax and financial reporting purposes.
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more
likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date.of enactment.

Warranties o
The Company adheres to Fmancnal Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretat:on No. 45,
Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Indebtedness to
Others (*FIN. 45™). FIN 45 requires disclosures concerning the Company’s obllgatlons under certain
guarantees. , o

The Company has indemnified a supplier of its valve components against claims made,_ or damages
assessed as the result of the supplier’s manufacture of the valve components. The Company has determined
that given its history of no reports of product failures or liability claims, the likelihood of claims and
subsequent payments is remote, and accordingly, no liabilities in conjunction with this indemnification
have _bet n accrued.

u '

Stock-B;sed Compensation o

l

The Company has stock-based employee compensation plans, Wthh are descnbed more fully i in Notc 9.
The Company accounts for its stock-based employee compensation plans under the recognmon and
measurement principles of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (“Statement 123(R)"),
which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, supersedes Accounting
Principles Board (“*APB™) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS
No. 95, Statement of Cash Flows. Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) is similar to the approach
de§cr1bed in SFAS No. 123. However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to be
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recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Pro forma disclosure is no longer an
alternative. :

Statement* 123(R) was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2006. The Company adopted Statement
123(R) using the modified prospective transition method. In accordancc with the modified prospective
transition method, the Company has not restated its consolidated financial statements for prior periods.
Under this transition method, stock-based compensation expense for 2006 includes stock-based
compensation expense related to the Company’s stock-based compensation awards granted in 2006 and
those awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, January 1, 2006, based on thé grant-date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provision of SFAS No. 123. Stock based compensation expense for alt
stock-based compensation awards granted on or after January 1, 2006 will be based on the grant-date fair
value estimated in accordance with the provisions of Statement 123(R)

Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average shares outstanding and
excludes any dilutive effects of restricted stock units, options, warrants, and convertible securities. For all
periods presented, diluted net loss per share is equal to basic net loss per share because the effect of
including potential common shares for stock options outstanding would have been anti-dilutive. Had net
income been achieved, dpproximately 860,000, 1,214,000 and 1,838,000 shares of common stock
equivalents would have been included in the computation of dituted net mcome per share for the years
ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Convertible Debt and Derivative Instruments

The Company accounts for embedded derivatives refated to its convertible senior notes under SFAS No.
133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and related Emerging Issues Task
Force (“EITF”) and Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) rules, which require certain embedded
derivative financial instruments-to be bifurcated from the debt agreement and accounted for as a liability.
The Company determines the vali¢ ‘of these derivatives by making judgments and estimates of the
probability that future conditions glvmg rise to such derivatives may occur.

2. Acquisition of 3F Therapeutics, Inc. '

ey "
On September 29, 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of ali the voting and non-voting stock of
3F Therapeutics, Inc. (“3F”), a privately-held medical device company specializing in manufacturing heart
tissue valve replacement components. The Company views the acquisition of 3F as a significant step in

executing its vision of obtaining a leadership position in all segments of the cardiac surgery market.
r - . f B

The acquisition was consummated pursuant to an agreement and plan of merger dated January 23, 2006, as
amended (the “Merger Agreement”). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, upon closing, the
Company paid each 3F stockholder its pro-rata portion of an initial payment of 9 million shares of the
Company’s common stock, subject to certain adjustments. The Company deposited 1,425,000 shares of
the closing payment in escrow {0 be held for at least 18 months (“escrow period”) after closing of the
merger to cover potential indemnification claims and certain contingencies. At the conclusion of the
escrow period, the balance of the escrow account will be distributed pro-rata to the former holders of 3F
capital stock. 'In addition to the initial closing payment, the Company is obligated to make additional
contingent payments to 3F stockholders of up to 1¢ million shares of the Company’s common stock with 5
million shares issuable upon obtaining each of the CE mark and FDA approval of certain key products on
or prior to December 31, 2013. Milestone share payments may be accelerated upon completion of cértain
transactions involving these key products. These contingent payments are subject to certam rights of offset
for mdemmﬁcatlon clalms and certam other events.

Lo . -
Purchase Price

The Company has accounted for the’ acquisition of 3F as a purchase under U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Under the purchase method of accounting, the assets and liabilities of 3F were
recorded as of the acquisition date, at their respective fair values, and consolidated with those of the
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Company. The purchase.price aflocation is based upon preliminary estimates of the*fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company is in the process of gathering information to finalize its
valuation of certain assets, primarily the valuation of acquired intangible assets. The purchase price
allocatlon will be finalized once the Company-has all the necessary information'to complete its estimate,
but no later than one year from the acquisition date. The valuation requires the use of significant
assumptions and estimates. Critical estimates included, but were not limited to, future expected cash flows
and the applicable discount rates. These estimates were based on assumptions that the Company believes
to be reasonable However, actual results may differ from these estlmates

o t . oGt . LT n

The pre hmmary purchase pnce is as follows as of December 31, 2006 (amounts in thousands)

o . . .
! i | e . 1 .1 . a

Fair value of ATS common stock - ' et $26,100
Other estimated acquisition-related costs e C o - 3,316 T
A 1. ‘ . . PR 529,416 -0
\ . " i . . N [RTIN I='; oy M Te
Pi'elim::'narjr'Pz}rchalse Pﬁc'c"A‘Iloc:'at'Il'on L e ! ‘ "' ' N ' "

The following table summarizes the preliminary purchase price allocation for the 3F acquisition as of
December 31, 2006 (amou’nt‘s‘ in thousands): '

M “_ : "'}' P

Cash . : . : e '$ 2,599 - v
Other current assets - S 2,530 )
Intangible assets subject to amomzatlon _ e 7150
Goodwill . 5,092 -
Other long-term assets U b 519
Acquired in-process research and development 1 14,400 -
Current liabilities ' o P (2,874) , .
Total preliminary purchase price allocation ) l $29416 ;

1} ' '
PR i g . al t

The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible assets acquired was allocated to specific
intangible asset categories and in-process research and development as follows: N Co

: LT A A Weighted Averageig. .+ -+t

e e .. . «%,  Amount . Amortization + .+ -
(in_thousands) . . b, .~ Assigned "y . Period ©
Definite-lived intangible assets: R Coe

Technology — core $ 5,200 20 years

Technology — developed 700 9 years

Tradenames and trademarks 1,200 - 15 years

Other *~ ~ o %0 a0 ' 50 - e Jyears e or A

Totat definite-lived intangible assets ~ ' -'$ 7,150 © 18 years
.Goodwill S e $ 5,092
Acquired in-process research ‘ ;;t' o
and development _ $14,400 RPT )

The Company believes that the estimated intangible assets so determined represent the fair.value at the date
of acquisition. The Company used the income approach to determine the fair value of the amortizable
intangible assets.” -

The $14.4 million acquired in-process research and development (IPR&D) associated with the acquisition
relates to the Enable sutureless tissue valve product line and has been recorded as a non-recurring charge to
operations for the year ended December 31, 2006. The Company used the income approach to determine
the fair value of IPR&D, applying a risk adjusted discount rate of 37% to the development project’s
projected cash flows. Enable clinical trials have begun in Europe. European market approval is
anticipated in 2009 or 2010 with United States approval to follow approximately |-2 years later. The
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development effort is subject to risks associated with the. ultimate clinical eﬂ'lcacy of the Enable product
line as well as the' results and high costs of the clinical trials. . -

The -results of 3E’s operatlons since the acqulsmon have been- mcluded in the consolldated ﬁnanmal
statemnents. : .

Pro Forma Results of Operarions
The following unaudited pro forma mformanon presents a summary of consolldated results of operatlons
of the Company as if:the acquisition of:3F had-occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented:
The historical consolidated financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that
are directly attributable to the merger and are factually supportable. The unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated financial information is presented for informational purposes- only. The pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of what the financial position or results of operations actually
would have been had the acquisition been completed at the dates indicated. In addition, the unaudited pro
forma condensed consolidated financial information does not purport to project the future financial
position or operating results of the Company after completion of the acquiisition. '

1 . . 4 '
o . M . .ol

Year Ended December 3 l.,

{in thousands, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004
Net sales $ 40,535 $ 34,962 $28.249
License revenue 11,031 8,618 -

Total revenue $51,566 $ 43,580 $ 28,249
Netloss ' $(13,877) $(19,042) $(28,451)
- Net loss per share — basic and diluted £ (0.34) £ (048) 5 (071

License revenue relates to license, supply and training agreements that 3F had with Edwards Lifesciences
(“Edwards™). . The Edwards agreements were termmated in .the fourth quarter of 2006 and no additional
license revenue will be recognized. . .

The pro forma net losses for each year include $0.5 million for the amortization of purchased intangible
assets and the increase in depreciation expense of 3F reltated to the step-up of fixed assets to fair value.
The unaudited pro forma: financial information for all years excludes the $l44 million non-recurring
charge for acqu1red in-process research and development -

3. Short-Term Investments . o

At December 31, 2006 and 2005, the cost'of short-term investments held by the Cor;lpany of $6.1 million
and $5.1 million, respectively, had maturity datés of approximately one year or less, approximated their
fair value and consisted of the following (in thousands):

o 2006 2005
Corporate bonds '$1,879 $2,008
Certificates of deposit ' - 1,367
U.S. agency . 2,273 1,008
Commerc1a1fpaper Co o R 1,940 -0 706
S N " o ©$6,092 $5,089 -
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4: Leasehold Improvements, Furniture, and Equipment, net
: ‘.-'-ll 2 a ‘;
At December 31, 2006 and 2005, leasehold lmprovements furniture, and equipment consisted of the

following (in thousands):

TR e e - 2006 - - 2005
Farniture and fixtures - -8 5% $ 625
" Equipment - - oo ‘ 10,967 9,674
! Leasehold improvements o o 3,473 3,346
Constructlon in progress- - - ¢ ¢ ' 542 810
B ’ ~ 15,538 14,455
" Le'ss accumulated depreciation - : 7,325 ' 6,125
© $8,213 '$8330 -

AS Prlvate Placement of Common Stock

In June 2004 the Company completed a private placement of common stock selling 3.7 million shares at
$3. 55 a share for gross proceeds of $13.1 million. The proceeds were used for general working capital
purpose,'

v ‘ . 4 L

6. Ggp'dvifi!l and cher Intangible_Assets

(_joddwi}l arild'ir}.tangi'bl‘le assets a‘ctivity"is .*-;.umma;'ized as follows (in jt_ho_{lsands): o ,
’ 1 ’ . - . ‘ -+
t . .* . Assets Subject to Amortization Assets Not Sub]ect to Amortlzatmn
ErySave 3F CryoCath 7
- Deferred  Development Technology Agency & Carbon
' Financing & Licensing & Distribution Technology
. Costs Agreement  Trademarks | Agreements License Goodwill Total
Balance at December'31, 2004 $ 32 $ 188 - - £18,500 - $18,720
Payments ‘ 1,583 262 - | s1,555 - - 3,400
Amottization | " (105) - - - s - (105)
Balance at December 31, 2005 - 1,510, 450 - 1,555 . 18,500 - 22,015
Acquisition of 3F $ 7,150 - § 5,092 12,242
Payments 7 7 304 210 - ‘ - 521
Amortization G17) ; (106) - A . (423)
Balance at December 31 2006 $ 1,200 $ 754 ) $ 7,044 $1,765 $18,500 $ 5,092 $34,355

Aggregate Amortization Expense -
Next five years

81,200 $2,125

The deferred financing costs at December 31, 2006 are in connection with the 6% Convertible Senior
Notes -disclosed inAthe 7 below and are being amortized over five years. ~ Amortization of deferred
financing costs’ is"estimated at $0.3 million per year for 2007 through 2010 and amertization of 3F
technology and trademarks is estimated at $0.4 million per year for 2007 through 2010.

: vl . 4o

In April 2004, the Company signed an excluswe development and llcensmg agreement with ErySave AB
(“ErySave”) and made an initial milestone licensing fee payment of approximately $0.2 million. The
agreement grants the Company worldwide rights for ErySave’s filtration technology for cardiac surgery
procedures. - In both 2006 and 2005 the Company made additional licensing fee payments of $0.3 million
to ErySave. Future payments under this agreement, based upon the attainment of developmental
milestones; could total an additional $0.7 million. Upon payment of all milestones, an evaluatlon of the

life of the technology will be made and an amortization period will be set. O we e,

In November 2004, the Company signed an excluswe agency agreement and a distribution agreement with
Canadian-based CryoCath Technologies, Inc. (“CryoCath”). The agreements grant the Company co-
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promotion rights in the United States as well as exclusive distribution rights in the rest of,the world
including Europe and Asia for CryoCath’s cryotherapy products for the ablation of cardiac arrhythmias,
The Company made $0.2 million and $1.6 million in licensing fee payments to CryoCath during 2006 and
2005, respectively. These payments are refundable upon cancellation of the agreements. - .

The Company holds an exclusive, worldwide right and license to use CarboMedics, Inc.’s
(“CarboMedics™) pyrolytic carbon technology. The license was originally obtained in 1999. License fee
milestone payments were made or accrued from 1999 through 2002, totaling $29 million. An lmpalrment

charge of $8.1 million and imputed interest of $2.4 million were charged against the carrying value of the

license in 2002. Based on the Company’s year-end review of its indefinite-lived mtanglbles .the Company
has ‘determined that the carbon technology license has a finite life and, pending a final analysis in the first
quarter of 2007, the Company will begin amortizing this asset. The Company expects the amortization to
be app‘roximalely $1.2 million per year.

As disclosed in Note 2, the Company acquired certain intangible assets in connectlon w1th the, September
2006 acquisition of 3F.

SFAS No. ]42 Goodw:H and Other Imang:ble Assets, guides the accountmg treatmient for thé Company 5
intangible assets. Under 'SFAS 142, the CarboMedics license and the exclusive distribution’ and * agency
agreements with CryoCath are considered indefinite-lived assets and are therefore not subject’to
amortization. These intangible assets are considered indefinite-lived due, in the case, of the CarboMedxcs
license, to the broad scope and general nature of the technology licensed and, in the case of the CryoCath
agreements, to unique contract provisions that encourage renewal of the agreements and provndes for
agreement cancellation payments which would likely exceed the original license payments made by ‘the
Company. Under SFAS 142, the goodwill acquired in the 3F acquisition is not subject to amortization, but
must be analyzed for impairment on.an annual basis. The goodwill recognized in connection with the
acquisition is not tax deductible. -, o

7. Long-Term Deht - : 4 . g

_ Convertible Notes Payable ’ . ,.‘_;‘ T

I

On October 7, 2005 and October 12, 2005, the Company sold a combined $22.4 million aggregate
principal amount of 6% .Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 (*Notes”), warrants to purchase 1,344,000
shares of the Company’s common stock (“Warrants”), and embedded derivatives. Interest is payable under
the Notes each April and October. '

The Warrants are exercisable at $4.40 per share and expire in 2010. The Company has reserved 105% of
the shares necessary for the exercise of the warrants. The Warrants were valued at $1.13 per share using

the Black-Scholes valuation model. The total value of the Warrants on the date of issuance was $1.5 -

million and was recorded as a discount on the Notes and is being amortized to interest expense over.the 20
year life of the Notes using the effective interest method. '
it
The Notes are convertible into common stock at any time at a fixed conversion price of $4.20.per share,
subject to: adjustment under certain circumstances including, but not limited to, the payment of cash
dividends on common stock. If fully converied, the Notes would convert into 5,333,334 shares of the
Company’s common stock. At the date of issuance of the Notes, the Company had only 19,222 authorized
shares of its common stock available for the Note holders if conversion was elected. This shortfall in
authorized shares resulted in the Company having to recognize an embedded derivative as; explained
further in this note. : . L ot
- L . ) : . L e e

The Note holders have the right to require the Company to repurchase the Notes at 100% of the principal
amount plus accrued and unpaid interest on October 15-in 2010, 2015 and 2020 or in connection with
certain corporate change of control transactions. If the Note holders elect to convert-the Notes:prior to

October 15, 2010 in connection with certain,corporate change of control, transactions, the Company will

increase the conversion rate for the Notes surrendered for conversion by a number of additional shares
based on the stock price of the Company on the date of the change of control. . it ‘

T Pt r ¢ : ' ' . : oy
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The Company has the right to redeem-the Notes at 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid
interest at any time on or after October 20, 2008. At any time prior to maturity, the Company may also
elect to automatically convert some or all of the Notes inte shares of its common stock if the closing price
of the common stock exceeds $6.40 for a period as specified in the indenture. If an automatic conversion

of the Notes occurs prior to October 15, 2008, the Company will make an additional payment to the Note -

holders equal to three full years of interest, less any interest actually paid or provided for prior to the

conversion date. This payment can be made, at the option of the Company, in either cash or common |

stock. : . ,

ot . UL e e
The Company apreed to file a Registration Statement on Form S-3 covering the resale of all of the, shares
of the Company’s common stock issuable upon conversion of the Notes and exercise of the Warrants using
its best efforts to have the Registration Statement declared effective within 120 days of the closing.
Depending on the length of time after this 120 day period for the Registration Statement to be declared
effective, the penalty could have ranged from 8% to 1.2% of the principal amount of the Notes and
Warranis. The maximum penalty that could have been incurred was approximately $0.6 million. At
December 31, 2006, the Company had accrued $0.3 million in Registration Statement penalties. The

Registration Statement on Form S-3 was declared effective by the SEC on February 13, 2007.

The Company analyzed all of the above provisions in the Notes and related agreements for embedded
derivatives under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and
related 2ITF interpretations and SEC rules. The Company has determined that four such provisions in the
convertible debt agreement are considered derivatives under SFAS No. 133:

:

s The embedded written option relating to the common stock that may be potentlally lssuable )

t _. upon conversion (‘{conversion feature derivative™) . 5
.. »The option for Note holders to.put back debi to the Company in connectlon with certain

.+ .. corporate change of control transactions : Voa - . o
>, . .+ ® The.provision relatmg to an additional payment in connection with the automatic conversion
(% A of the Notes prior to October 15, 2008 . . .

IR R “The provision to increase the conversion rate in the event of a change in control transaction ..
3 s
The Company prepared valuations of each of the above derivatives and recorded a $5.5 million ]iability on
the date of issuance of the Notes, with an offsetting.discount on the Notes. The discount is being
amortized to interest expense over the 20 year life of the Notes, using the effectlve interest method
At its annual shareholder meeting held on September 25, 2006, the Company received appmval from its
shareholders to increase its authorized shares to 100,000,000, eliminating the previous deficiency in
authorized shares. Since the Company then had sufficient authorized shares to settle the Notes if
converted, the conversion feature derivative no longer was required to be accounted for.as an embedded
derivative under SFAS No. 133. The remaining balance of $1.4 million was reclassified agamst the
discount on-the Notes.
et ) v

The derivative, hablilty is adjusted to fatr value on a quarterly basis. The derivative llablhty was adjusted
to fair. value at each quarter end during 2006, with the resulting $1.5 million change in valuation for the
year credited to other-income. The remaining liability was $0.2 million at December 31, 2006. The
derivative liability is presented in the balance sheet within the same line as the Convertlble Senior Notes
payable. : .. ‘ - . e

Bank Notes Payable + . . "

L : ot .. [ Y | f B -
In-2004, the Company entered into‘a secured credit facility with a bank, consisting of a $2.5 million term
note and a $6.0 million line of credit. The Company fully drew down the $2.5 million term note, which
calls for equal installment payments over 36 months, which. commenced in February 2005. In March 2006,
the Company, entered into an amendment to the secured credit facility whereby the bank: agreed to waive
the prohibition,set forth in the credit facility agreement with respect to the Company’s acquisition of 3F,
and the bank consented to such acquisition. In addition, the bank agreed to provide for advances of up to
$1.5 million, which the Company could use to finance or refinance eligible equipment purchased on or
after June 1, 2005 and on or before May 31, 2006. Such equipment advances are being amortized over a
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60-month period and carry an interest rate of prime plus 1.75%. The Company fully drew down the $1.5
million -advance amount, of which $1.4;million was outstanding at December 31, 2006. All Company
assets are pledged as collateral on the credit facility.

P
" .

The - Company was subject to certain financial covenants under the secured credit facility agreement, as
amended, to maintain a liquidity ratio of not less than 2.0 to 1.0 and a net tangible net worth of at least $40
million." At December 31, 2006, the Company was not in compliance with the liquidity ratio covenant. On
February 20, 2007, the Company entered into an amendment to the agreement whereby, effective
December 31, 2006, the liquidity ratio was decreased to be equal to or greater than 1.6 to 1.0 and the
tangible:net worth requirement was eliminated, bringing the Company into compliance with the covenants
as amended.” The February 2007 amendment also terminated the line of credit. The Company had not
drawn any advances and had no outstanding balance on the line of credit at December 31, 2006,

Future matuntles of bank notes payable are as follows: - - i Cr

1

2007 $ 1, 133 Ck
2008 - 369 ' . © S
2009 300
“ 2010 - 300 : ‘ _ 1
L : <2011 . 225 o

5 2327 : . s
. 8. Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In May 1998, the Company implemented the 1998 ATS Medical, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Under the ‘terms of the plan, employees are eligible to purchase.common stock of the Company on a
quarterly basis. Employees can purchase common stock at 85% of the lesser of the market price of the
common stock on the first day of the quarter or the last day of the quarter. The Employee Stock Purchase
Plan is deemed to be a compensatory plan under Statement No. 123(R) and the related expense is included
in stock compensation expense. The following table summarizes the shares issued-and issuance prices
under the Plan:

. .. "Fiscal Year Number of Shares S . Price Range
2006 . 103,947 $1.95-$ 238
2005 - ‘ 120,465 : $2.54-% 3.14 ’
2004 . 90,203 . ' $293-% 434 .. e

9, Common Stock and Stock Options LR

The Company accounts for its stock-based employee compensation plans under the recognition and
measurement principles of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment, Statement 123(R), which
revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to~Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement. of Cash Flows,
Generally, the.approach in Statement 123(R) is similar to the approach described in SFAS No. 123.
However, Statement 123(R) requires all share-based payments to be recognized in the income statement
based on their fair values. Pro foﬁna disclosure is no longer an alternative. -

The Company adopted Statement 123(R) on January 1, 2006, using the modified prospective ‘transition
method. In accordance with the modified prospective transition method, the Company has not restated its
consolidated financial statements for prior periods. Under this transition method, stock-based
compensation expense for 2006 includes stock-based compensation expense related to the Company’s
stock-based compensation awards granted in 2006 and those awards granted prior to, but not yet vested as
of, January: 1, 2006, based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with-the provision of SFAS
No. '123. Stock-based compensation expense for all stock-based ‘compensation awards granted on or after
January 1, 2006 will be based on the grant-date fair. value estlmated in accordance with the provisions of
Statement 123(R)." - . S ;

| o, o
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The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes™) option pricing model as its method for
deterrmnmg fair value of stock option grants, which was also used by the. Company for its pro forma
lnformatlon disclosures of stock-based compensation expense as required under SFAS No. 123, pnor to the
adoption. of Statement 123(R). The weighted average per share fair value of these option grants is shown
below and was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model with the followmg weighted

average assumptions: - .
Assumptions used: 2006 2005 2004
Expécted volatility 083 - 087 089 I
Risk-free interest rate 4.8% 3.8% 4.0%
Expected life 5 years 7 years 7 years
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighted average per share $2.03 $2.73 $3.32

fair value of options granted

The expected volatility is a measure of the amount by which the Company’s stock price is, expected to
fluctuate during the expected term of options granted. The Company determines the expected volatility
solely based upon the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock over a period commensurate
with the option’s expected life. The Company does not believe that the future volatility of its common
stock over an option’s-expected life is likely to differ significantly from the past. The risk-free interest rate :
is the implied yield available on U.S. Treasury issues with a remaining term equal to the option’s expected
life on the grant date. The expected life of options granted represents the period of time for which optlons
are expected to be outstanding and is derived from the Company’s historical stock option exercise
experience and option expiration data. For purposes of estimating the expected life, the Company has
aggregated all individual option awards into one group as the Company does not expect substantial
differences in exercise behavior among its employees. The dividend yield is zero since the Company has
never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common stock and does hot expect to do so in.the
foreseeable future. T . o G .

The fair value of restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs") is determined based on the closing market price on
the award date. ' T “

The Company uses the single option (i.e. straight-line) method of attributing the value of stock-based
compensation expense for all stock option grants. Upon ddoption‘ of Statement 123(R), the Company
changed its method of attributing the value of stock-based ‘compénsation expense on RSUs from the
multiple-option (i.e. accelerated) approach to'the single option method. Compensation expense for RSUs
awarded prior to January 1, 2006 will continue to be subject to the accelerated multiple option method
specified in FASB Interpretation No. 28 (“FIN 287), Accoummg Sfor Smck Appreciation Rzghts and Other
Variable Stock Option or Award Plans, while compensation expense for RSUs awarded on or after
January 1, 2006 will be recognized using the single optlon method. Stock compensation expense for all
stock- based grants and awards is recogmzed over the servree or vestmg penod of each grant or award
Statement 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates in order to derive the Company s best
estimate of awards ultimately expected to vest. Forfeitures represent only the unvested portlon of a
surrendered option and are typically estimated based on historical experience. Based on an analysis of the
Company’s historical data, the Company applied forfeiture rates of 9. 90%, 9.57%, 10.14% and-11.85% to
stock options outstanding in determining its Statement 123(R) stock compensation expense for the quarters
ended December 31, 2006, September 30, 2006, June 30, 2006 and Mareh 31, 2006, respectively, which it
believes is a reasonable forfeiture estimate for these periods. In the Company’s pro forma information
required under SFAS No. 123 for the per:ods prior to 2006, the Company accounted for forfeitures as they
occurred. . : o

The Company has a Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) under which stock options to purchase common
stock of the Company may be granted or RSUs may be awarded to employees and non-employees of the
Company, Stock options may be granted under the Plan as incentive stock options (*ISO”) or as non-
qualified stock options (“non-1SO”). The Company also has stock options outstanding from a previous
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equity. compensation plan as well as free-standing options not under any plan. In addition, the Company
has an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”’} under which employees are eligible to purchase common
stock of the Company on a quarterly basis at 85% of the lesser of the market price of the common stock on
the first day of the quarter or the last day of the quarter. All stock issued under options exercised, RSUs
awarded or ESPP shares purchased are new shares of the Company’s common stock. Option grants
generally carry contractual terms of up to ten years. RSU awards generally carry contractual terms of up to
five years.

The following table summarizes the changes in stock options outstanding under the Company’s stock-
based compensation plans:

Stock Options Outstanding _ K ' Weighted

Under the Plans Average Option
. Non-Plan Exercise Price
1SO Non-1SO Options ' Total Per Share
Balance at December 31, 2003 1,295,296 - 888,500 2,725,000 4,908,796 ., §3.32
Options granted 25,000 50,000 916,000 991,000 4.30
Options exercised (45,750) (120,000) (167,944) (333,694)y 1.38
Options canceled (34,596) (358,000) {487,500} (880,096) +5.43
Baldnce at Decembet 31,-2004 1,239,950 460,500 2,985,556 . 4,686,006 3.27
Options granted - 750 15,000 293,000 308,750 + 349
Options exercised (52,125) (2,500) (49,404) (104,029) 1.82
Options canceled © (181,875) (123,000) (331,250) (636,125) 4.78
Balance at December 31, 2005 1,006,700 . 350,000 2,897,902 4254602 « .-3.09
Options granted - 5,000 - * 5,000 ©298
Options exercised (7,625) Y (40,202) (47,827} 0.92
Options canceled -« (81,450} (56,000} (325,000) - (462,450)' ' 4.57
Balance at December 31, 2006 917,625 299,000 2,532,700 3,749,325 ©  $2.94

The following table summarizés the ranges of exercise prices for outstanding and exercisable stock opuons
as of December 31, 2006:

. ‘Options Outstanding at , Options Exercisable at N
' December 31, 2006: , December 31, 2006:
' Weighted Weighted .,
" . Average Average . Weighted
* Range of Number Remaining Exercise Number Average Exercise

Exercise Prices Outstandlng Contractual Life Price . Exercisable Price
$0.37-% 0.52 766,000 5.89 years 30.44, 716,000 . $0.44
0.79- 2.35 642,000 6.26 years 1.44 459,500 1.46

251- 336 695,200 6.30 years 2.97 608,200 -.- - 3.02 .
346 3.80 911,750 7.01 years 3.70 904,250, 3.0

399 850 679,375 5.65 years 5.51 . 679,375 551 .
0.88— 12.44 .- 55,000 . 3.51 years 10.57 55000 . - 10.57
$0.37-%12.44 3,749,325 6.23 years $2.94 - 3,422,325 $3.07

As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and exercisable was $1.7
million and $1.5 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised for the year
ended December 31, 2006 was approximately $0.1 million. The aggregate intrinsic value represents the
total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the closing price of the Company’s common stock on
December 31, 2006 of $2.07 per share and the exercise price of each-in-the-money option) that would have
been received by the option holders had all option holders exercised their options on December.31, 2006.
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The following table summarizes restricted stock awards activity: ;.- .

St

- . . T
v . . - ~Weighted ...  Weighted
. «o . Average | Average
Award Date Remaining
' , Number of Shares . FairValue  ...,Contractual Term
Unvested at December 31, 2004 - - ) ;-
Awards granted 351,000 $3.37" " -
Awards forfeited (3,000) 366 -
Unvested at December 31, 2005 348,000 325 1.53 years
Awards granted e T 967212 “2.73 7
Awards vested SR (87,000) ©338°
Awards forfeited : R B (58,750) 311 e .
Unvested at December 31, 2006 1,169,522 $2.83 ! 2.03 years

As of December 31, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of RSU awards outstanding was $2.4 million. The
aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax value of common stock RSU holders- would have
received (based on the closing price of the Company’s common stock on December 31, 2006 of $2.07 per
share) had all RSUs vested and eommon stock been issued to the RSU holders on December 31, 2006.

The Company had,a total 0f 5,956,325 shares of common stock reserved for stock option grants.and RSU
awards at December 31, 2006 .of which 1,037, 478 shares were avallable for future grants or awards under
the Plan \ -

1

For the year ended December 3l 2006 the Company recogmzed $0.5. mrlhon of stock compensatron
expense in connectlon w1th the adoptlon of 'Statement 123(R) Total stock compensation  expense
recogmzed durmg the year ended December 31, 2006 totaled $1.1 million (or $0. 03 .per share), of which
$0.5 miilion was included in general and administrative expenses and $0.6 million was mcluded in sales
and marketmg expenses.

Because the Company maintained a full valuation allowance on its U.S. deferred tax assets, the Compan)'r
did not recognize any net tax bencfit related to its stock-based compensation expense for the year ended
December 31, 2006 i}
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As of December 31, 2006, the Company had $0.1 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, net
of estimated forfeitures, related to stock options that will be recognized over a weighted average. period of
less than one year, and $1.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense, net of estimated
forfeitures, related to RSU awards that will be recognized over a weighted average period of appror‘c'im'ately
two years. : S

C i
Prior to the adoption of Statement §23(R), the Company accounted for its stock-based employee
compensation plans under the recogmtron and measurement principles of APB Opinion No: 25 and related
interpretations. The exercise price of the Company’s employee stock opnons generally equaled the market
price of the underlying stock on the date of grant for all options grantéd,- -and thus, under APB‘Opinion No'
25, no compensation expense was recognized. Pro forma information regarding net loss and net loss per
share is'required by SFAS No. 123 and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its
employee stock optlons under the fair value method of SFAS No 123.
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The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net loss and net loss per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock-based employee compensation.
Since stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31, 2006, was calculated and
" recorded under the provisions of Statement 123(R), no pro forma disclosure for 2006 is presented. '

(in thousands, except per share data) ~ -~ 2005 2004

Net loss, as reported‘ ' , ($14,394) ($16,643)

Less: Total stock-based employee c.ompensation o ' .
expense determined under fair value based ‘ y
method for all awards (5,301) { 2,350)

Pro forma net loss * : ($19,695) ($18,993)

Net loss per share: _

As reported e ' ‘ B
Basic and diluted o ' ($0 46)* A ($0.58) : ' oo

Pro fortia . - . R
- Basic’and diluted ¢ ($0 64) ($0.66) ‘ e

In December 2005, the Company authorized the acceleration of vestmg of all otherwise unvested stock
options held by its employees with an exercise price of $3.00 or greater granted under its Stock Incentive
Plan or as a free- standing option not under any plan. Options to purchase 1,294,232 shares of common
stock (affecting 86 employees) were subject to this acceleration. The decnslon to accelerate vesting of
these Optlons was made primarily to’'minimize future compensatlon expense that the Company would
otherwise recognize in its consolidated statement of operations’ with respect to these options pursuant to
Statement 123(R). The aggregate future expense eliminated as a result of the acceleratlon of the vestmg of
these options was approximately $3.3 million.

C ke -
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10. Leases

iy ¢ - LR I I

The Company has operating leases for its facilities. These leases expire at various dates through November

.2011. Future minimum lease payments under these agreements are as follows (in thousands): '~ ¢ ’

" Year endmg December 31 - t
© 2007 ' ‘ "$812
2008 ! - R R T B
2009 v ' St L ! 726 )
2010 354
2011 _ : _ 43
.. - t _b N " - N N .

A

$2,711 |

o T . - . o . "
Rent expense.was $0.7 r_ni.llion, $0.6 million, and $0.4 million for 200@, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

* [ IR - . i
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11.IncomeTaxes L T T

At December 31, 2006, the Company had net operating loss canyforwards of approximately $136 mllllon
($47 millien related to 3F) and credits for i increasing research and development costs of approximately $0.9
million ($0.7 million related to 3F), which are available to offset future taxable income or reduce taxes
payable through 2026. These loss carryforwards will begin expiring in 2007. The credits continue to expire
in 2007 through 2025. e

Included as part of the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards are approximately $3.4 million in tax
deductions that resulted from the exercise of stock options. When these loss carryforwards are realized, the
corresponding change in valuation allowance will be recorded as additional paid-in capital.




The Company’s ability to utilize its net operating loss carryforwards to offset future taxable income are
subject to certain limitations under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code due to changes in the equity
ownership of the Company.
Components of deferred ta‘x assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousandé):
ti * . oy )
. December 31
t . 2006 2005

Current deferred tax assets o $ 493 $ 250
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Net operating loss carryforwards 50,153 . 29,886

- Foreign net operating loss carryforwards e LTI . 832
- Research and development credits ' ' 897 T 285
" Alternative minimum tax credits ' S <31 oo 31

[nventory reserves ., .o . . 64 SR 80

Depreciation 854 847

Compensation accruals and reserves . L e o 495 v 210

Deferred financing costs 108

Convertible senior notes derivatives + =~ .. - . © (1,305) « (779)

" Technology license amortization A (L3 (456)

Other intangible assets and- goodw1ll ‘ . " ' - » (2,606) ;

Other - : Co . 409 . 259
Net long-term deferred tax assets 48,500 31,195
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allowance 48,993 131,445
Less valuation allowance (48,993) (31,445)

Net deferred tax assets 7 $ — $

The valuation allowance above includes 3F net deferred tax assets (primarily net operating loss
carryforwards) of $15.5 million." If realized, 3F tax assets will-be recorded first as reductions to goodwill
and intangible assets ($12.1 million at December 31, 2006), and then as income tax benefits ($3.4 million
at December 31, 2006) :

I
S '
Reconm]]atlon of the' statutory federal mcome tax rate to the Company s effectlve tax rate is as follows ‘
! .. A t

2006 2005 - - 2004

Tax at statutory rate (34.0)% (34.0)% T (34.0)%
State income taXes {4.0) (4.0) * (4.0)
Acquired in-process research and development - 17.7 - Y -
Impact of changes in valuation allowance 20.3 38.0 '38.0

12, Commitments

In 2002 the Company amended long-term supply and technology transfer. agreements with CarboMedics, a
wholly owned subsidiary of Sorin, a European company based in Ita]y The amendment to the supply
agreement suspended component set purchases until January 2007. This postponed component purchases
totaling approximately $21.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 to 2006. The 2002 through
2006 purchase obligations were to-resume, beginning in 2007. In January 2007, CarboMedics served a
complaint on the Company, alleging breach of contract with respect to the long-term supply agreement,

discussed more fully in Note 18. The Company believes that the complaint filed by CarboMedics is
without merit, that CarboMedics has repudiated and breached the supply agreement, and that the Company
has afﬁrmatlve clalms against CarboMedics. :

r ' . A




13. Distributor Termination ‘ S :

In December 2006, the Company and an international distributor in Europe executed agreements providing
for the termination of the distributor, the conversion of the distributor to a commissioned sales
representative effective January 1, 2007 and the buy-back by the Company of the distributor’s remaining
inventory stock. The value of the inventory to be bought back totaled approximately $0.7 million at
December 31, 2006. In addition, termination payments will be made by the Company to the distributor
totaling approximately $0.7 million, payable in two equal installments in the fourth quarter of 2007 and the
first quarter of 2008. The 2008 installment carries interest at 6%.

14, Benefit Plan L . ) -

The 'COmpaﬁy has a defined contribution salary deferral plan covering substantially all employees under
Section 401(k) of the Intérnal Revenue Code. Under the plan, the Company contributes an amount equal to
25% of the first 12% of each employee’s contribution. The Company recognized expense for contributions
to the plan of $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.1million for 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. -

15. Significant Customers and Concentration of Credit Risk P

T

Since its inception, the Company has operated in a single industry segment: developing, manufacturing,
and marketing medical devices. As a result, the information disclosed herein materially represents all of
the financial information related to the Company’s principal operating segment. The Company derived the

following percentages of its net sales from the following geographic regions: i
"o ' :
. I ) 2006 2005 2004
United States ©39% - 38% o 33%
Europe © | . R 28% 28 - 28
Asia Pacific . 25% 26 33

Other Markets 8% 8 6
. L . © : RIS : o
Sales to one customer, Century Medical-Japan, represented 11%, .13% and 16% of the Company’s net sales
for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005, and 2004, respectively. . K "

oL :

The Company had balances owing from three customers that aggregated 19% of its accounts receivable
balances at December 31, 2006, The Company, had balances owing from five.customers that represented
37% of its accounts receivable balances at December 31, 2005 and balances owing from two customers
that represented 24% of its accounts receivable at December 31, 2004.

16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) . "

Quarterly data for 2006 and 2005 was as follows (in thousands, except loss per share): o

T Quarter

First Second Third . Fourth

Year ended December 31, 2006 ..

-Net sales . . . . , ~ . %9,730 . . $10,857 59,122 $10,740
Gross profit . =~ .. - . . 4,732 . 5,447 5,228 5,474

. Net lossy; : . 1,579 . . (2,764) (17,255)  , (6,080) ..
Net basic and dlluted loss per share 5 (0.05) $ (0.09) $ (0.55 $ (0.15) .

.. Year ended December 31, 2005 : A » : .
Netsales . . $7,063 . $ 9307 | $8333 £9933

" Gross profit 2,762 . 3,833 . 2,619 2,594
Net loss (3,959) (3,133) (4,078) (3,224)
Net basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.13) $ (0.10) $ (0.13) $(0.10)

" F-24




The Company recorded a $0.7 million charge related to the termination of a European distributor in the

fourth quarter of 2006, as disclosed in Note 13 above. o

In connection with the acquisition of 3F disclosed in Note 2 above, the Company acquired $14.4 million of
in-process research and development, recorded as a non-recurring charge to operations in the third quarter
of 2006. .

The conversion feature liability related to of the Company’s Senior Convertible Notes, disclosed in Note 7
above, was adjusted to fair value at each quarter end throughout 2006 and 2003, resulting in 4 $1.2 million
change -in valuation credit to other income in the first quarter of 2006 and a $2. l mllllon credit to- othér
mcome in the fourth quarter of 2005 - R

o ’ . i

The Company charged $1.8 million of production variances and ramp-up costs related to its pyrolytlc
carbon manufacturing activities to cost of goods sold in the fourth quarter of 2005. . o

17, Recmtly Issued Accountmg Pronouncements ‘ ‘ v

. o
. +

In Deceinber 2004, the FASB issued’ SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004) Share—Based Payment, Statement
123(R), which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, supérsedes APB
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of Cash
Flows. Statement 123(R) was adopted by the Company on January 1, 2006. The m‘lpact of adoptmg this
Standard is discussed above in Note 9, “Common Stock and Stock Optxons ™ .
I - .. W y ! R

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No: 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections (“Statement
154”), which-replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and' SFAS No. 3, Reporting Accounting

s

Changes in Interim Financial Staterents. Statement 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for

and reparting of a change in accounting principle, and applies to all voluntary ‘changes in accounting
principles, as well as changes required by an accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance it does not
include specific transition provisions. Specifically, this Statement requires retrospective application to
prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the
cumulative effect of the change. When it is impracticable to determine the effects of the change, the new
accountmg principle must be applied to the balances of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of the
earliest period for which retrospective application is practicable and a corresponding adjustment must be
made to the opening.balance of retained-eamings for that period rather than being reported in an income
statement. When it is impracticable to determine the cumulative effect of the change, the new principle
must be applied as if it were adopted prospectively from the earliest date practicable. The. adoptlon of
SFAS No. 154 did not have an 1mpact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

_, »

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB interpretation (“FIN™) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes-an interpretation of SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 prescribes a comprehensive-model for '?ecognizing,
measuring, presenting and disclosing in the financial statements tax positions taken-or expected to be taken
on a tax return, including the decision whether to file or not to file in a particular jurisdiction. FIN 48 is
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. If there are changes in net assets as a result
of the application of FIN 48, these will be accounted for as an adjustment to retained earnings. The
Company does not expect the adoption of FIN 48 to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
position and results of operations. ' :

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157,  Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157
establishés a common definition-for fair value to be applied to U.S. GAAP guidance requiring use of fair
value, ‘establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about such fair value
measurements. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15,"2007. The
Company is currently assessing the impact of SFAS No. 157 on its consolidated financial position and
results'of operations. -

.

In September 2006, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) 108, Considering the Effects
of Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year Financial Statements. SAB
108 requires that public companies utilize a “dual-approach” to assessing the quantitative effects of
financial misstatements. This dual-approach includes both an income statement focuséd assessment and a

~F-25




balance sheet focused assessment. The guidance in SAB 108 must be-applied to annual financial
statements for fiscal years ending after November 15, 2006. The adoption of SAB 108 did not have an
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

18.Litigation - ‘ . ‘ ' . : C

Abbey Litigation

K - | SR o
On January 23, 2006, following execution of the Merger Agreement between the Company and 3F,-3F was
informed of a summons and complaint dated January 19,2006, which was filed in the U.S. District Court
in the Southern District of New York by Arthur N. Abbey (“Abbey”).against 3F Partners Limited
Partnership II (a major stockholder.of 3F, “3F Partners II"”), Theodore C. Skokos (the then chairman of the
board and a stockholder of 3F), 3F Management I1, LLC (the general partner of 3F Partners II), and 3F
(collectively, the “Defendants™) (the “Abbey.I Litigation”). The summons and complaint alleges that the
Defendants committed fraud under federal securities laws, common law fraud and negligemt
misrepresentation in connection with the purchase by Abbey of certain securities of -3F Partners 11, In
particular, Abbey claims that the Defendants induced Abbey to invest $4 million in 3F Partners II, which,
in turn, invested $6 million in certain preferred stock of 3F, by allegedly causing Abbey to believe, among
other things, that such investment would be short-term. Pursuant to the complaint, Abbey .is seeking
rescission of his purchase of his limited partnership interest in 3F Partners II and return of the amount paid
therefore (together with pre-and post-judgment interest), compensatory damages for the alleged lost
principal of his investment (together with interest thereon and additional general, consequential and
incidental damages), general damages for all alleged injuries resulting from the alleged fraud in an amount
to be determined at trial and such other legal and equitable relief as the court may deem just and proper.
Abbey did not purchase any securities directly from 3F and is not a stockholder of 3F. On March 23, 2006,
3F filed a motion to dismiss the complaint.. Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, no
discovery will be permitted until the judge rules upon the motion to dismiss. On May 15, 2006, 3F filed
and served a reply memorandum of law in further support of its motion to dismiss Abbey’s complaint with
prejudice. . . o
On or about June 14,2006, Abbey,commenced a second civil action in the Court of Chancery in the State
of Delaware by serving 3F with a-complaint naming both 3F and Mr. Skokos as defendants (the “Abbey 11
Litigation™)., The complaint alleges, among other things, fraud and breach of fiduciary duties in connection
with the purchase by Abbey of his partnership interest in 3F Partners 1I. The Delaware action seeks: (1) a
declaration that (a) for purposes of the merger, Abbey was a record stockholder of 3F and was thus entitled
to withhold his consent to the merger and seek appraisal rights after the merger was consummated and (b)
the irrevocable stockholder consent submitted by 3F Partners II to approve the merger be voided as
unenforceable; and (2) damages based upon allegations that 3F aided and abetted Mr. Skokos in breaching
Mr. Skokos’s fiduciary duties of loyalty and faith to Abbey. On July 17, 2006, 3F filed a motion.to dismiss
the complaint in the Abbey 11 Litigation, or, alternatively, to stay the action pending adjudication of the
Abbey I Litigation. On October: 10, 2006,.the Delaware Chancery Court entered an’order staying-the
Delaware action pending the outcome of the Abbey I litigation.

i}l.

3F has been notified by its director and officer insurance carrier that such carrier will defend and cover all
defense costs as to 3F and Mr. Skokos in the Abbey I Litigation and Abbey II'Litigation, subject to policy
terms and full reservation of rights. In addition, under the merger agreement, 3F and the 3F stockholder
representative have agreed that the Abbey I Litigation and Abbey Il Litigation are matters for which
express indemnification is provided. As a result, the escrow shares and milestone shares, if any, may be
used by ‘ATS to satisfy, in part, ATS’s set-off rights and indemnification claims for-damages and losses
incurred by 3F or ATS, and their directors, officers and affiliates, that are not otherwise covered by
applicable insurance arising from the Abbey I Litigation and Abbey II Litigation. See Note 2 of “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements” in this Report for a description of the escrow and milestone shares.
The Company believes that the Abbey [ Litigation and Abbey IT Litigation will not result in a'material
impact on the Company’s financial position or operating results,




CarboMedics Litigation

On January 26, 2007, the Company was served with a complaint filed by CarboMedics against ATS in
United States District Court in the District of Minnesota on November 22, 2006. The complaint alleges that
the Cormipany has breached certain contractual obligations, including an alleged obligation to purchase $22
miilion of MHV carbon components under a long-term supply agreement with CarboMedics which
obligation CarboMedics contends had been scheduled to re-commence in 2007.

The complaint seeks specific enforcement of the supply agreement, revocation of certain intellectual
property rights purchased by ATS from CarboMedics, and monetary damages in excess of $75,000. The
Company believes that the complaint filed by CarboMedics is without merit, that CarboMedics has
repudiated and breached the long-term supply agreement, and that the Company has affirmative claims
against CarboMedics. On February 16; 2007, the Company filed its answer and counterclaim to the
complaint, including counterclaims for breach of contract, anticipatory repudiation, deceptive trade
practice and business disparagement, and a request for monetary damages. On March 14, 2007 the
Company also filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings regarding CarboMedics request for specific
performance of the supply agreement.

19. Subsequent Events

On January 26, 2007, the Company issued 224,416 shares of its common stock pursuant to the exercise of
its option to purchase certain assets of EM Vascular, Inc., (“EM Vascular”), under a May 2005 Option and
Asset Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”). The payment in shares was at the option of the Company and
was in lieu of a $0.5 million cash payment. The most significant asset acquired as part of this purchase is
technology that may potentially allow for a non-invasive, non-pharma therapy for the treatment of such
disorders as atherosclerotic plaque and blood hyper-cholesterolemia. Under the terms of the Agreement,
the Company will also be obligated to make additional contingent payments to EM Vascular of $1.0
million in the form of ATS common stock upon obtaining FDA approval to market a product that is
covered by EM Vascular patents or patent applications ("EM Vascular Products™), of quarterly cash
payments equal to 4% of the revenue from the sale-of Products for a period of ten years from the date of
the first commercial sale of an EM Vascular Product, and of $1.2 million in the form of ATS common
stock following the end of the first quarter in which the Company recognizes cumulative revenues of $10
million from the sale of EM Vascular Products in a quarter. These contingent payments are subject to
certain rights of set-off for indemnification claims and certain other evenits.

Also on January 26, 2007, the Company and Regeneration Technologies, Inc. (“RTI-CV”) entered into an
Amendment to a 2005 Marketing Services Agreement (the “Amendment”) effective as of January 1, 2007,

Under the terms of the 2005 agreement, RTI-CV appointed the Company as it’s exclusive marketing
services representative to promote, market and solicit orders for RTI-CV’s processed cardiovascular
allograft tissue from doctors, hospitals, clinics and patients throughout North America. The Amendment
was entered into as a result of RTI-CV’s sale of its cardiovascular business to CryoLife, Inc. and
discontinuation of its cardiovascular tissue processing operations. Under the terms of the Amendment, the
Company will be compensated for soliciting orders for RTI-CV’s remaining inventory of processed tissue
based on a percentage of the fee paid by customers for the processed tissue, net of transportation charges
and discounts. The Company will be entitled to a minimum level 'of compensation of $175,000 per

calendar quarter. The Agreement, as amended, will terminate on December 31, 2007,
o) ;
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